

Drosophila CG4572 protein and the spread of the RNAi antiviral immune signal

Margot Karlikow

► To cite this version:

Margot Karlikow. Drosophila CG4572 protein and the spread of the RNAi antiviral immune signal. Cellular Biology. Université Pierre et Marie Curie - Paris VI, 2015. English. NNT: 2015PA066713 . tel-01403098

HAL Id: tel-01403098 https://theses.hal.science/tel-01403098

Submitted on 25 Nov 2016

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



THÈSE DE DOCTORAT DE L'UNIVERSITÉ PIERRE ET MARIE CURIE Doctoral School: Life Science Complexity

Drosophila CG4572 protein and the spread of the RNAi antiviral immune signal

by Margot Karlikow

Defended on September 23, 2015

Under the scientific supervision of Dr. Bertsy Goic & Dr. Maria-Carla Saleh

Dr. Stephane Le CromExaminerPr. Jean-Luc ImlerExaminerDr. Francois SchweisguthExaminerDr. Guillaume Van-NielReviewerDr. Fernando Martin BelmonteReviewerDr. Maria-Carla SalehPhD Supervisor

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First I would like to thank Carla who gave me the opportunity to join her team and perform my PhD in the best conditions. Thank you for your trust, advice and help. Thank you also for the careful correction of this manuscript.

Bertsy, thank you for accepting to supervise my work during this PhD. You taught me a lot about science and independency.

To the members of my jury, I would like to thank you for the time you spent on reading, commenting and judging my work.

To the entire lab, I would like to say thanks for the everyday help. I asked you so many questions and you have been so patient with me... thank you all very much for that.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to Vanesa, first for her friendship in and out of the lab, then for her support, help, and advice all along this PhD.

Juan you have been very helpful and patient with me. I will miss you and your crazy animal's noise.

Lorena, thank you for your advice, for your smile and your courage that is exemplary.

For the three of you, thank you also for the introduction to the South American mate preparation! I really enjoyed sharing those moments with you.

Marine you allowed me to not be the youngest one in the lab anymore. Thank you for the support and shared time. I am with the «mamies» now.

Valerie thank you for the way you are managing the lab.

Hervé you are truly the calmest person in the world. Thank you for the help.

Lionel thank you for your precious help and comments.

To the three of you, thanks for the daily help and your support.

Brigitte, thank you for all the administrative help and for taking such good care of us.

Guys, thanks for the help, the lunches, the beers, and the discussions. After all this time that we spent together, it is hard to believe that it is almost over. I am going to miss you all very much.

I also would like to thank all the people that have been of great help during those 4 years. I would like to thanks PVP lab for their support and for being so friendly. During the ESPCI collaboration, Yann, Iman and Joelle, you made the time I spent in your lab very pleasant. Thanks to the entire Imagopole, especially Audrey, Pascal and Jean-Yves. At the Ultrapole, I would like to thank Gérard for his work and Jacomina for her precious commentaries on the electron microscopy work. I would like also to thank Helene Quach (for her cakes and help) and Nora, Mariano Dellarole for his advice, and Siham Yennek for her support and friendship along our respective PhD.

I learned a lot with you all.

Les pépites, thank you so much for all the fun, the holidays, the party, the laugh... it helped me a lot.

Mam, Dad, Zou and Bro-coli, thank you for being so supportive and present every time I needed it.

Guillaume thank you for your love, presence, your support day and night and your olympian calm.

Without all of you, this PhD would have been so much harder.

What is now proved was once only imagined. William Blake

ABSTRACT

During a viral infection, cell survival will depend on adequately giving, receiving and processing information to establish an efficient antiviral immune response. Cell-to-cell communication is therefore essential to allow the propagation of immune signals that will confer protection to the entire organism. That is true for unicellular organisms as much as for specialized cells in multicellular organisms.

The major antiviral defense in insects is the RNA interference (RNAi) mechanism that is activated by detection of viral double-stranded RNA (dsRNA). The antiviral RNAi mechanism can be divided into cell-autonomous and non-cell autonomous. In cell-autonomous RNAi, the silencing process is limited to the cell in which the viral dsRNA is produced. In non-cell-autonomous RNAi, or systemic RNAi, the interfering effect occurs in cells different from where the viral dsRNA was produced. However, whereas cell-autonomous RNAi in insects is well described, the systemic RNAi response remains poorly characterized.

My PhD research explores the role of the *Drosophila* CG4572/DORA protein in the establishment of systemic antiviral RNAi. It also investigates the nature of the immune signals that will trigger the antiviral response in *Drosophila melanogaster*. I provide evidence for the existence of two different (but compatible) mechanisms of cell-cell communication that allow the spread of the immune signal: extracellular vesicles and tunneling nanotubes. I describe for the first time that DORA-positive extracellular vesicles in *Drosophila* carry fragments of viral RNAs that can spread and confer specific antiviral protection in flies. I also present the first characterization of tunneling nanotubes (TNTs) containing components of the RNAi machinery, DORA and dsRNA and I hypothesize on the use of TNTs in the spread of the immune signal.

Both mechanisms of cell-to-cell communication are coupled for the first time to the antiviral response in *Drosophila melanogaster*.

RÉSUMÉ

Au cours d'une infection virale, la survie des cellules dépend d'informations adéquatement distribuées, reçues et traitées, permettant l'établissement d'une réponse antivirale performante. La communication cellulaire est donc essentielle pour permettre la propagation de signaux immuns protecteurs à tout l'organisme. Cela s'avère vrai tant pour un organisme unicellulaire que pour les cellules spécialisées d'organismes multicellulaires.

Chez les insectes, la principale réponse antivirale est l'ARN interférent (ARNi), activé lors de la détection d'ARN double brin (ARNdb) d'origine virale. Le mécanisme antiviral de l'ARNi peut être divisé en deux catégories : l'ARNi cellulaire et l'ARNi systémique. Dans la première catégorie, la régulation de l'expression génique est limitée à la cellule dans laquelle l'ARNdb est produit, alors que dans la seconde, cette même régulation s'effectue dans des cellules distinctes de celles produisant l'ARNdb. Et bien que l'ARNi cellulaire chez les insectes soit maintenant bien caractérisé, l'ARNi systémique reste très peu décrit.

Mon travail de thèse explore le rôle de la protéine de drosophile CG4572, que j'ai nommé DORA, dans les mécanismes permettant l'établissement de l'ARNi systémique. J'ai également recherché la nature des signaux immuns déclencheurs de cette réponse antivirale. Dans ce manuscrit, nous démontrons l'existence de deux mécanismes différents (bien que compatibles) de communication cellulaire permettant la propagation de signaux antiviraux: des vésicules extracellulaires ainsi que des nanotubes membranaires. Nous mettons en évidence pour la première fois chez la drosophile que des vésicules contenant DORA et des fragments d'ARN viraux peuvent se propager dans les mouches en leur conférant une protection antivirale spécifique. Nous montrons également pour la première fois la présence de nanotubes membranaires qui contiennent des protéines de la machinerie ARNi ainsi que DORA et de l'ARNdb. Cette découverte nous permet de proposer un mécanisme par lequel la propagation du signal antiviral se ferait par l'intermédiaire de ces nanotubes.

Les deux mécanismes de communication cellulaire que nous proposons sont pour la première fois associés à la réponse antivirale chez *Drosophila melanogaster*.

Table of Contents

	2
ACKNOWLEDOMENTS	Δ
ABSTRACT	4
RÉSUMÉ	5
Table of Contents	7
List of Figures & Boxes	9

<u>CHAPTER 1</u>

GENERAL INTRODUCTION	10
1. THE FRUIT FLY AS INSECT MODEL	12
2. GENERALITIES ABOUT DEFENSE MECHANISMS	13
2.1. Antimicrobial immune response in insects	14
2.2. Antiviral immune response in insects	16
3. RNA INTERFERENCE	16
4. THE SIRNA PATHWAY: THE INSECTS ANTIVIRAL DEFENSE	17
5. SYSTEMIC ANTIVIRAL RNAI	19
5.1. Systemic RNAi in arthropods	20
5.2. RNAi-mediated antiviral immunity in other organisms	21
5.2.1. In plants: <i>Arabidopsis thaliana</i>	21
5.2.2. In worms: <i>C. elegans</i>	22
5.2.3. In mammals: the mouse case	23
6. SETTING-UP A SYSTEMIC ANTIVIRAL RNAI IN DROSOPHILA MELANOGASTER	24
6.1. Uptake of the immune signal	24
6.1.1. Clathrin-mediated endocytosis	25
6.2. Sorting of the immune signal	26
6.3. Spread of the immune signal	27
6.3.1. Extracellular vesicles	27
6.3.2. Tunneling nanotubes	30
6.3.3. Free ribonucleoprotein-complexes	30
6.3.4. Cell junctions	31
7. DROSOPHILA CG4572 PROTEIN	32
AIM OF THE STUDY	34

CHAPTER 2

RESULTS	35
Part 1 <i>Drosophila</i> DORA protein is essential for systemic spread of antiviral RNAi immunity through extracellular vesicles containing viral RNAs	36
Part 2	
EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES AND THEIR RNA CONTENT: HIGH THROUGHPUT SEQUENCING ANALYSIS	5 74
8. SMALL RNA CONTENT OF EVS	75
8.1. EVs purified from cells that soaked on dsSin	75
8.2. EVs purified from cells infected with Sindbis virus	76
9. LONG RNA CONTENT OF EVs	77
9.1. EVs purified from cells that soaked on dsSin	78
9.2. EVs purified from cells infected with Sindbis virus	79
10. QUANTIFICATION OF THE RNA CONTENT OF EVS	80
PART 3 Description of the subset incompany to the second to SPNA and PNA image income	
BETWEEN CELLS	83

CHAPTER 3

DISCUSSION & PERSPECTIVES	103

127
116
115
114
111
110
107
106
106
105
105
104

List of Figures & Boxes

Box 1.	13
Box 2.	15
Figure 1. Cell autonomous siRNA antiviral response.	18
Figure 2. Model for systemic RNAi antiviral immunity in Drosophila melanogaser.	21
Figure 3. Clathrin mediated endocytosis.	26
Figure 4. Hypothetical model for internalization, sorting and transmission of the RNAi-immune	
signal during viral infection.	28
Figure 5. Tight junctions with two major roles: barrier and fence function.	32
Figure 6. CG4572 is involved in RNAi transport.	33
Figure 7. Deep-sequencing analysis of EVs purified after soaking of dsRNA into S2R+ cells.	76
Figure 8. Deep sequencing analysis of EVs purified after acute infection with Sindbis.	77
Figure 9. EVs purified from cells that soaked on dsSindbis contain fragments of viral RNA.	78
Figure 10. EVs purified after Sindbis acute infection contain fragment of viral RNA.	79
Figure 11. RNA composition of extracellular vesicles.	81
Figure 12. Viral RNA composition of extracellular vesicles.	82
Figure 13. Stream of Ago-2 dots between cells.	84
Figure 14. Different alternatives for the role of DORA.	109
Figure 15. Model for the systemic spread of the antiviral immune signal.	114

CHAPTER 1

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Adapted from:

RNAi and antiviral defense in *Drosophila*: Setting up a systemic immune response

Margot Karlikow, Bertsy Goic and Maria-Carla Saleh

Developmental and Comparative Immunology 42 (2014) 85-92

The striking evidence that organelles, such as mitochondria and chloroplasts, are of bacterial origin illustrates that host-microbe interactions have existed for as long as these organisms have been in close physical contact. That such extreme case of co-evolution have occurred in nature, attest to the ongoing push and pull that hosts and microorganisms exert on one another^{1,2}.

The outcome of host–microorganism interactions can be either beneficial or detrimental to the microorganism, to the host (in this case the microorganism is know as pathogen), or to both the microorganism and the host³. Host–pathogen interactions can be pictured as an arms race between two adversaries. On one hand, the pathogen deploys virulence factors to exploit the resources of the host. On the other hand, the host fights back with immune responses to clear the pathogen or at least minimize its deleterious effects.

Over the course of their lifetime, insects interact with a wide variety of microbes. As a consequence, they have developed a fine-tuned immune system shaped over these complex host-microbe interactions. As any other organism, insects are subjected to infection by viruses. Among these viruses, some of them are solely insects viruses, some are transmitted from insect to plants, with strong impact in agronomy, for example by affecting crop production⁴. Some others, called arthropod-borne viruses (arboviruses) have the particularity of alternating between hematophagic invertebrate and vertebrate hosts. Several insects are

responsible for arbovirus transmission to human or cattle, including the mosquitoes *Aedes spp*. (e.g. Rift Valley fever virus, chikungunya virus, dengue virus, yellow fever virus), and *Culex spp*. (e.g. Rift Valley fever virus, Japanese encephalitis virus, West Nile virus). Importantly, arboviral infections are asymptomatic in insects but responsible for severe incapacitating diseases in mammalian hosts, suggesting a co-evolutionary process between insects and viruses.

One of the key factor that modulates whether an insect is competent or not to transmit a given pathogen is its immune response. Therefore, in view of the reemerging and extending threat of arboviruses worldwide, understanding how the infection is controlled within the insect before crossover to the human host becomes essential to generate new strategies to disrupt pathogen transmission.

1. THE FRUIT FLY AS INSECT MODEL

At first due to the short generation time, the cost-effectiveness and the ease of rearing, and later due to the availability of genetic tools, the safety of use compared to hematophagous insects, and more recently, the availability of the complete genome sequence, the fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster* has been the most extensively used insect model since the beginning of the 20th century⁵⁻⁷. As a result, *Drosophila* has become a powerful tool to work in several fields, including genetics, development, neuroscience and immunity. Impressively, two third of all human disease genes have homologues in *Drosophila*⁸, which makes of the fruit fly an appropriate alternative to vertebrate models when characterizing biological processes.

The major breakthrough in immunology that can be attributed to *Drosophila* is the identification of the Toll pathway⁹⁻¹¹. This pioneered the discovery of the Toll-like receptors (TLR) in mammals¹² and the subsequent understanding of the mechanisms that govern innate immunity.

Regarding insect-virus interactions, it is estimated that 40% of all fruit fly are infected with viruses¹³. Moreover, *Drosophila* can be the natural or experimental

host for a wide variety of viral pathogens (Box 1 and Box 2) and, as a consequence, a very powerful insect model to explore insect-virus interactions. Much of what is currently known about defense mechanisms in insects result from work with fruit flies.



(source: viralzone.expasy.org)

Box 1.

2. GENERALITIES ABOUT DEFENSE MECHANISMS

The defense of higher eukaryotes against pathogens is organized into different layers. First, there is a non-specific host defense: a physical barrier, which is the skin in mammals and the cuticle for insects. The epithelium of the intestinal tract is also lined by a chitinous membrane that prevents direct contact between cells and microbes. In the gut, which constitutes the main route of infection, the secretion of digestive enzymes, a low pH and the production of reactive oxygen species maintain a hostile environment to microbial survival¹³⁻¹⁵.

Second, there is innate immunity, which acts coordinately at the cellular and systemic level (like antimicrobial peptides that are secreted in the hemolymph of the fly)^{13,16}.

The third layer is the adaptive immune response, which is present only in jawed vertebrates. Some of the most interesting characteristics of this adaptive immunity are the boosting or amplification of the immune response, as well as the immune memory, which enhances the ability of the organism to respond to future related infections¹⁷⁻¹⁹. However, insects lack an adaptive immune system and rely almost entirely on the innate immune response for defense. For instance, flies are able to trigger various defense pathways depending on the type of infecting pathogen, and most of these pathways are inter-connected.

2.1. Antimicrobial immune response in insects

Once the physical barriers are breached, the immunity relies on cellular and humoral response. The cellular immune response involves plasmatocytes (macrophages cells) that will engulf microbes by phagocytosis²⁰.

On the other hand, the humoral immune response relies on the production of inducible antimicrobial peptides (AMPs)¹³. This production is regulated by two NF-kB-like pathways that are differentially activated. The Toll pathway is activated upon yeast, fungal and Gram-positive infections and induces the production of specific AMPs such as Drosomycin^{10,21}. The Imd pathway is activated upon Gram-negative bacteria infection and induces the production of AMPs such as Dyptericin^{22,23}.

Box 2

Models of infection: non-natural viral pathogens of Drosophila

FHV

SinV

Sindbis virus (SinV) is an arbovirus that belongs to the togaviridae family of the

genus alphavirus. The viral particle is envel-

oped, with a size of approximately 70 nm

and contains a positive ssRNA genome of

11.7 kb. The virus enters the cell through

the endocytic clathrin dependent pathway²⁹,

and when fusing with endosomes, release viral RNA in the cytoplasm. Togaviridae

viruses replicate at the surface of endo-

somes in viral factories. After transcription

and replication, new viral particles will

assemble and exit the cells through the cell

secretory pathway.

Flock House Virus (FHV) belongs to the Nodaviridae family, with a non-enveloped viral particle which size is around 30 nm. The genome is composed of two segment of positive ssRNA of approximately 3,100and 1,400- nts. After penetrating the host cell, nodaviridae viruses release their RNA genome into the cytoplasm. RNA1 codes for the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase, as well as a subgenomic RNA (RNA3) that codes for a viral suppressor of RNAi, the protein B2²⁶. This protein binds dsRNA as well as small interfering RNAs (siRNAs)27, and during infection can represent up to 5% of the total cellular protein content. Viral replication takes place into cytoplasmic viral factories²⁸. After assembly, new viral particles are release, potentially by cell lysis.

CrPV

Cricket Paralysis Virus (CrPV) is a Dicistrovirdae virus of 27 nm with a positive ssRNA genome. This non-enveloped virus encodes for a viral suppressor of RNAi, the protein 1A³⁰. CrPV 1A binds Ago-2 protein and prevents its slicing activity. As described for DCV, the replication occurs in viral factories and new virions are released by cell lysis.

vsv

Vesicular Stomatitis Virus (VSV) is an arbovirus that belongs to the Rhabdoviridae family. The viral particle is enveloped, with a size of about 70 nm and the genome is a negative ssRNA of 11.5 kb. Rhabdoviridae viruses are believed to enter cells via the endocytic clathrin dependent pathway. When the envelop of the virus fuse with the endosome membrane, the ribonucleocapsid is released in the cytoplasm. After transcription and replication, new virions will bud at the plasma membrane.

(source: viralzone.expasy.org)

Box 2.

2.2. Antiviral immune response in insects

The core antiviral response of *Drosophila* is distinct from its antimicrobial counterpart. It involves different components that can be divided into two classes depending on the mechanisms by which they are elicited: RNA interference pathway (see below, section 3) and JAK/STAT pathway. Originally studied for its involvement in development, the JAK/STAT pathway is composed of the receptor Domeless, the Janus Kinase (JAK) Hopscotch, and the STAT transcription factor, and was originally thought to be involved in antimicrobial response and response to cell damages²⁴⁻²⁶. However JAK/STAT deficient flies are not sensitive to fungi or bacterial infection, but are sensitive to DCV infection²⁵. Together with Toll and Imd, the JAK/STAT pathway plays a role in viral infections, but their antiviral function seems to be virus-specific rather than being a general antiviral response (for examples see^{25,27,28}).

Antiviral defense in insects relies mostly on another pathway of innate immunity: the RNA interference (RNAi) response²⁹⁻³².

3. RNA INTERFERENCE

RNAi is a conserved sequence-specific, gene-silencing mechanism that is induced by double-stranded RNA (dsRNA). Several RNAi-related pathways^{30,33-38} have been described in many organisms and they have diverse functions, including the modulation of mRNA translation³⁹, establishment of chromosomal architecture⁴⁰, regulation of stem cell renewal⁴¹ and defense against viruses and mobile genetic elements⁴².

In general terms, RNAi pathways involve the production of small non-coding RNAs, and their biogenesis and function is based on two proteins: Dicer (Dcr) and Argonaute (Ago). The *Dicer* and *Ago* genes are strongly conserved in wide-ranging species including plants, invertebrates and mammals. Nevertheless, as a result of evolutionary and immune adaptation processes, there are several

paralogues of both proteins⁴³. As of today, four main RNAi-related pathways have been described and they can be classified into two major groups on the basis of the origin of the small noncoding RNAs: the "endogenous" group, which involves small RNAs encoded within the cell and the "exogenous" group, which involves small RNAs not encoded by the cell.

The "endogenous" RNA group gathers (1) micro-RNAs (miRNAs) that actively regulate cellular gene expression⁴⁴; (2) endogenous small interfering RNAs (endo-siRNAs) that regulate transposable elements^{34,45}; and (3) PIWI-interacting RNAs (piRNAs) that are involved in epigenetic and post-transcriptional silencing of transposons⁴⁶⁻⁴⁸.

The "exogenous" RNA group is only composed of small-interfering RNAs (siRNA) that are produced from virus-derived dsRNAs or non-cellular RNAs that generates dsRNA structures. The siRNA pathway was first identified as an antiviral mechanism in plants⁴⁹ and in the nematode *C. elegans*^{50,51}. The link between RNAi and antiviral defense in *Drosophila* was established when Ago-2 depletion led to the accumulation of FHV⁵². Since then, several studies confirmed that the siRNA pathway was indeed the major antiviral response pathway in insects: flies deficient for Dcr-2 or Ago-2 are unable to control virus replication and as a consequence are hypersensitive to infection^{29-32,53,54}.

4. THE siRNA PATHWAY: THE INSECTS ANTIVIRAL DEFENSE

Long viral dsRNA molecules trigger the antiviral siRNA pathway⁵⁵. Those viral dsRNA molecules are produced in cells that are infected with diverse types of virus (see Box 1 and Box 2): *(i)* viruses with dsRNA genomes, such as Drosophila X virus (DXV)⁵⁶; *(ii)* viruses with DNA genomes that contain convergent transcript units, for example Invertebrate Iridescent virus (IIV6)^{27,53}; and *(iii)* viruses with single-stranded RNA genomes that produce dsRNA as the result of the formation of secondary structures, such as Sindbis virus^{57,58} or vesicular stomatitis virus⁵⁹; and/or replication intermediates as for Drosophila C virus (DCV) or Semliki Forest virus⁶⁰ (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Cell autonomous siRNA antiviral response. Long viral dsRNA, produced during viral infection is diced by Dcr-2 with its cofactor Loqs into viral siRNAs. These siRNAs are loaded in the RISC complex where the passenger strand is removed. The guide strand in Ago-2/RISC acts as a template for RISC to recognize complementary RNA (viral genome or viral transcripts). Once found, Ago-2 cleaves the target RNA downregulating viral replication.

Viral dsRNA molecules are cleaved (or 'diced') by a ribonuclease III enzyme, Dcr-2⁶¹ in association with its cofactor R2D2⁶², into viral siRNAs of 21 nt long⁶³. These viral siRNAs are loaded into the RISC (RNA-induced silencing complex) complex, where the siRNA duplex is unwound and the strand with the less stable 3'-terminus, the passenger strand, is removed. The remaining viral siRNA strand, the guide strand, is retained in Ago-2, which is the catalytic effector of RISC^{64,65}. The loaded viral siRNA can bind a viral RNA (genome or transcript) by sequence complementarity leading to specific degradation of the targeted RNA mediated by Ago-2 slicing activity⁶⁶ (Fig. 1). The complementarity of the siRNA and its target is thus the basis of the specificity of the RNAi machinery.

Recently, some reports suggested the involvement of other RNAi pathway in the control of viral infections. Indeed, piRNAs from viral origin have been detected by deep-sequencing during infections of mosquitoes with arboviruses, including dengue⁶⁷, Sindbis⁶⁸, chikungunya⁶⁹ and LaCrosse virus⁷⁰. Hess and colleagues⁶⁷ described an in vivo assay using mosquitoes and dengue virus, and detected a peak in the accumulation of piRNAs at 2 days post infection. The amounts of these piRNAs then decreased during the infection, whereas siRNA production increased. This suggests that the RNAi-Dcr-2-dependent pathway is active during viral infection, but is preceded by the piRNA response. These observations lead to the notion that the piRNA pathway may initiate the antiviral process during a viral infection in mosquitoes. Schnettler and colleagues⁷¹ provided the first functional demonstration that viral piRNAs do indeed contribute to antiviral defenses in mosquito cells infected with Semliki Forest virus, and very recently, Miesen and colleagues⁷² described the production of viral piRNAs in Aedes aegypti mosquito cells. It is important to note that, in Drosophila, siRNAs accumulate during viral infection independently from piRNA production.

5. SYSTEMIC ANTIVIRAL RNAi

An important characteristic of immune systems is their ability to act both at the immediate site of infection, as well as at distal uninfected locations. Accordingly, the antiviral RNAi mechanism can be divided into cell-autonomous (at the cellular level) and non-cell autonomous (at the systemic level). In cellautonomous RNAi, the silencing process is limited to the cell in which the dsRNA is introduced or expressed. In non-cell-autonomous RNAi, the interfering effect occurs in cells different from where the dsRNA was produced. However, whereas cell-autonomous RNAi in insects is well described, the systemic RNAi response remains poorly characterized.

5.1. Systemic RNAi in arthropods

Several lines of evidence implied the existence of a systemic component to the siRNA pathway in arthropods. Early in 2002 it was shown that dsRNA injection into the haemocoel of adult Tribolium castaneum (floor beetle) resulted in knockdown of zygotic genes, which was also manifested in offspring embryos, implying transfer across cell membranes⁷³. In 2005, Robalino and colleagues showed that the injection of viral sequence-specific dsRNA confers potent antiviral immunity in vivo in the shrimp Litopenaeus vannamei⁷⁴. Accordingly, endogenous shrimp genes could be silenced in a systemic fashion by the administration of cognate long dsRNA. A systemic component to antiviral RNAi was shown in mosquito cells infected with Semliki Forest virus⁷⁵. Even if the exact mechanism is not known, the authors showed cell-to-cell spread of viral-derived siRNA, and possible long dsRNA, with concomitant inhibition of replication of the incoming viruses in cells neighboring infected cells. Also, we were able to show that in Drosophila, intra-thoracic injection of viral sequence-specific long dsRNA into uninfected flies conferred immunity against subsequent infection with the corresponding virus. Furthermore, infection with Sindbis virus expressing the green fluorescent protein (GFP) suppressed expression of host-encoded GFP at a distal site of infection⁷⁶. The laboratory therefore proposed a model (Fig. 2) where cells that are lysed due to the cytopathic effect of viruses, release viral dsRNA. Through the hemolymph, the dsRNA may be distributed throughout the body and at proximal locations may be taken up into non-infected cells via specialized mechanisms. There, the dsRNA is processed into siRNAs that are loaded into RISC, programming this machinery to rapidly cleave incoming genomic viral RNA. Thus the systemic RNAi may set up a specific antiviral state that control spread of a viral infection.

In the next section I will briefly discuss general aspects of the antiviral RNAi response in organisms other than arthropods.



Figure 2. Model for systemic RNAi antiviral immunity in *Drosophila melanogaser*. Upon viral infection, virus-specific dsRNAs (for example, replication intermediates) are generated during the initial rounds of virus replication. After cell death or lysis, dsRNAs are taken up and processed by uninfected cells to protect them from subsequent infection, thereby preventing virus spread. From MC Saleh *et al. Nature* 2009.

5.2. RNAi-mediated antiviral immunity in other organisms

5.2.1. In plants: Arabidopsis thaliana

In higher plants, the antiviral mechanism is based on the siRNA pathway, and involves the same factors than in *Drosophila*. Therefore, a deep look at the antiviral response in the plant model is of great help to do parallels in *Drosophila*. The *Dicer* gene family in *A. thaliana* has four members⁷⁷, the Dicer-like (DCL) proteins. DCL2-4 process long dsRNA into siRNA of 22, 24 and 21 nt respectively⁷⁸. A functional redundancy in antiviral immunity capability of the four DCL proteins was shown as individual mutations of the proteins did not generated a change in viral susceptibility⁷⁸. From the 10 AGO proteins that are encoded by *A. thaliana*, Ago-1 immunoprecipitates with viral siRNAs in infected tissues⁷⁹.

Beyond the difference on the number of Dicer and Ago proteins for plants and flies, plants are also able to mount a systemic antiviral response^{80,81}. Indeed, most of the cells are connected through plasmodesmata⁸², a structure composed of desmotubules that allow a highly regulated transport in between cells with a size exclusion limit of 1,000 Da^{82,83}. Most plants viruses code for movement protein and manipulate plasmodesmata to allow large viral particle to pass between cells⁸⁴ and infect the entire plant through cell-to-cell spreading. However plasmodesmata also allow cell-to-cell spreading of the antiviral signal conferring systemic protection. For short-range movement (10-15 cells) the signal moving is siRNA produced from dsRNA in the infected cell. It involves DCL4 as well as SMD1-3 (silencing movement deficient) proteins⁸⁵. The long-range movement is a succession of the short-range, with an additional step, the amplification of the signal.

In plants, an amplification mechanism of the immune signal (also called transitivity) occurs. This mechanism involves an enzyme called RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRP)⁸⁶⁻⁸⁸. For the six RdRp identified in *A. thaliana*, RDR-1, 2 and 6 have confirmed roles in RNA silencing pathways. RDR6 produces *de novo* dsRNA synthesis from siRNAs, which are diced by DCL4 in secondary siRNAs. Those secondary siRNAs will therefore spread 10-15 cells around⁸⁹ limiting the infection as it spreads.

5.2.2. In worms: C. elegans

RNAi as an antiviral mechanism in the nematode was shown in 2005 by two papers using non-natural models of infection: the mammalian pathogen Vesicular Stomatitis virus⁵¹ and the insect virus Flock House virus⁵⁰ (see box 1 and box 2). In both cases, virus infection was potentiated in RNAi-defective worms and inhibited in worms with an enhanced RNAi response.

A systemic component of RNAi is also present in *C. elegans*. It involves three elements: (*i*) SID proteins: SID-1, a transmembrane channel allowing dsRNA uptake^{90,91} and SID-2 that allows active transport of environmental dsRNA from the intestinal lumen into cells⁹²; (*ii*) Fed (feeding defective for RNAi) genes

products that are involved in dissemination of the RNA silencing signals; and *(iii)* Rsd (RNAi spreading defective) protein which mutant are defective for systemic RNAi^{93,94}. Amplification (or transitivity) is also a characteristic of the RNAi response in *C. elegans*. It involves Ego-1 protein that acts as a RdRp^{95,96}. It has been shown that worms were able to transmit the immune signal to their progeny, with the help of the RNAi defective 4 protein (rde-4)⁹⁷.

5.2.3. In mammals: the mouse case

In 2001, it was demonstrated that RNAi was functional in mammalian cells⁶³ but it was assumed that it has little or no role in vertebrate antiviral immunity⁹⁸ mostly due to the very potent interferon (IFN) response. However in 2013, two studies demonstrated the antiviral role of RNAi in mammals. Studies were performed in mice stem cells that do not produce IFN, infected with encephalomyocarditis virus (EMCV) or with Nodamura virus (NoV)⁹⁹, in hamster cells and in 7-days-old mice infected with NoV¹⁰⁰. By high throughput sequencing, and in absence of the viral suppressor of RNAi B2, the authors identified viral siRNAs with a characteristic 2-nt 3' overhangs and a phasing of 22 nts, signature of Dicer processing. Furthermore, when Dicer was depleted in the stem cells, the viral small RNAs were lost. However, as none of these studies showed increased viral titers on cells deficient on RNAi or the product of virus genome cleavage by the RNAi machinery, the existence of antiviral RNAi in mammals remains highly controversial in the RNAi community^{101,102}.

After this brief overview of RNAi-mediated systemic antiviral immunity in other organisms, a common characteristic arose: the control of viral infections requires signaling molecules to elicit an effective response and to establish systemic immunity at the organism level. These signals must be amplified and disseminated throughout the organism to avoid pathogen propagation and establishment of the infection. Sometimes, the progeny inherits the immune signal. In *Drosophila*, although it has been postulated that there is a systemic antiviral response, neither the signal, nor the amplification mechanism or the mechanism of its dissemination, have been described.

6. SETTING-UP A SYSTEMIC ANTIVIRAL RNAI IN DROSOPHILA MELANOGASTER

It is known that *Drosophila* cells are able to take up viral dsRNA that will trigger a specific RNA silencing response¹⁰³. Presumably, following dsRNA uptake, an immune signal is sent by infected cells to prevent viral infection in distant non-infected cells^{75,76}. Non-infected cells have to be able to "catch" or to "sense" this signal and to internalize it in order to be primed.

6.1. Uptake of the immune signal

Viral dsRNA and naked siRNA are large and charged molecules, and therefore there must be appropriate receptors if they have to enter into the cells. In *C. elegans* as already described, there are two receptors for dsRNA molecules, SID-1 and SID-2. These receptors participate in the internalization of dsRNA, which can then lead to the spread of the RNAi. Other SID proteins that participate in dsRNA transport have been described, like SID-5, which promotes the transport of the silencing signal between cells¹⁰⁴, or SID-3, which is needed for an efficient import of dsRNA into cells¹⁰⁵. Interestingly, the extent to which RNAi spreads is coupled to the amount of dsRNA produced within cells or imported from the environment¹⁰⁶. However, although dsRNA is able to enter cells in flies, it is not clear how. No receptors with a dsRNA-binding domain have been found in *Drosophila*. It appears that two Scavenger receptors, called SR-CI and Eater, are associated with dsRNA uptake¹⁰⁷ but further studies addressing the role of these receptors are needed.

It is also possible that dsRNA is not the signal that triggers systemic immunity, in which case, there must be another molecule. Studies in cell culture using *Drosophila* S2 cells found that free siRNAs added to the extracellular media were not taken up by the cells, and did not result in silencing of a reporter gene^{107,108}. These results are consistent with the notion that the signal of

systemic immunity may be a long dsRNA, a ribonucleoprotein (RNP), or another RNA complex.

It has been shown that the endocytic clathrin dependent mechanism is involved in the uptake of dsRNA and the trigger of the antiviral RNAi response in *Drosophila*^{107,108}. Below, I will briefly revisit the clathrin-mediated endocytosis pathway.

6.1.1. Clathrin-mediated endocytosis

Eukaryotic cells can take up extracellular material by a variety of different mechanisms such as phagocytosis, macropinocytosis, clathrin-dependent endocytosis, caveolin dependent endocytosis, and clathrin- and caveolinindependent pathways. Those mechanisms respond to necessary functions from maintenance of cell polarity to uptake of extracellular nutrients¹⁰⁹. Endocytosis mediated by clathrin (Fig. 3) corresponds to the internalization of cargos in vesicles coated with clathrin¹¹⁰. In this pathway, when cargos have been taken up, they are sorted in early endosomes, and either sent back to the plasma membrane in recycling endosomes or targeted to more mature endosomes such as lysosomes and/or multivesicular bodies (MVBs). In this manuscript, we will further refer to MVBs as an intermediate between late endosomes and lysosomes.

The fusion of the outer membrane of MVBs with the lysosomal membrane results in delivery of the luminal MVBs vesicles to the lysosome where they are degraded together with their content¹¹¹. The sorting of cargos into MVBs has been linked to ubiquitin¹¹², however not all MVBs cargos are ubiquitylated¹¹³. The outer membrane of MVBs can also fuse with the plasma membrane and release vesicles in the extracellular space^{114,115}. Those vesicles are mainly named exosomes but also microvesicles¹¹⁶. In this manuscript I will further referred to both type of vesicles under the term "extracellular vesicles" (EVs).



Figure 3. Clathrin mediated endocytosis. Markers for each vesicle are indicated in between brackets.

6.2. Sorting of the immune signal

Assuming the RNA nature of the signal, insights into the transport of other RNA species, for example miRNA or mRNA, may be informative about the sorting of the immune signal in flies. In murine and human cells, naked mRNA has been shown to associate with early endosomes (Rab5-positive vesicles) after endocytosis probably mediated by a Scavenger receptor. However, this entry route is not exclusive for mRNA and other negatively charged molecules, including all small RNAs and dsRNA, could potentially use it. After internalization, the mRNA was found to traffic into lysosomes where it accumulated and was then degraded by ribonucleases; however, an important proportion of the RNA could escape to the cytoplasm where they can be expressed¹¹⁷ (Fig. 4).

Many RNAs are addressed to specific subcellular compartments by *(i)* a signal that they carry in their sequence or by structural motifs (cis-acting elements or localizer signals) and/or by *(ii)* associated proteins (trans-acting factors)¹¹⁸. The

cis-acting elements provide binding sites for the trans-acting factors. However, small RNAs, which may be no more than a few dozen of nucleotides long, are unlikely to encode such localizer sequences.

Therefore, the effectiveness of the silencing process not only depends on internalization of the signal; the signal must also be delivered to the appropriate site to allow the production of siRNA based sequence-specific protection.

6.3. Spread of the immune signal

During a viral infection, the immune signal needs to be shared throughout the organism to elicit a systemic antiviral response. As such, it should be possible to find dsRNA or siRNA at locations distant from the infection site. One plausible explanation for systemic spread in *Drosophila* is the lysis of the infected cells. However, this would not explain the protection observed in organisms infected with viruses that do not produce a cytopathic effect. Therefore, there must be an active process to share and alert the neighboring and distant non-infected cells to allow a specific antiviral protection mediated by RNAi.

Unlike plants, fruit flies lack plasmodesmata connecting the cells, but uses cell-to-cell communication through a plethora of structures and mechanisms. Below I will review four of them: *(i)* extracellular vesicles, *(ii)* tunneling nanotubes, *(iii)* free-protein complexes, and *(iv)* cell junctions.

6.3.1. Extracellular vesicles

As mentioned in section 6.1.1, MVBs cargos are either sorted for degradation into lysosomes or secreted as extracellular vesicles into fluids. Interestingly, MVBs have been found to be closely involved with the miRNA and the siRNA pathways¹¹⁹. In mammals, for example, Epstein-Barr virus encodes its own miRNAs that are released within exosomes with immunomodulatory properties¹²⁰.



Hypothetical Figure 4. model for internalization, sorting and transmission of the **RNAi-immune** signal during viral infection. At the site of infection (A), the presence of dsRNA activates the antiviral response at the cellular level and sets up the immune signal for a systemic response. This signal could spread through the organism (B) by exosomes containing siRNAs or an RNP or long dsRNA viral from replication. At distant sites of infection (C) the immune signal is potentially endocytosed, followed by release from lysosomes. Long viral dsRNAs are diced and siRNAs loaded into RISC or in free RNP. Alternatively, some naked dsRNA can be diced and siRNAs directed to the RNAi machinery where active silencing control future infections (D). Adapted from Karlikow et al. 2013.

General Introduction

Several pathways for targeting proteins into MVBs have been described in flies. Monoubiquitinated proteins are sorted from the endosomes to the outer membranes of MVBs bound to the ESCRT complex (Endosomal Sorting Complex Required for Transport)¹²¹. It is therefore possible that dsRNA and/or siRNA could be addressed towards MVBs following their inclusion in RNPs subject to ubiquitination (Fig. 4A-B).

Exosomes can also carry mRNA and miRNA^{122,123} and both endogenous and exogenous proteins, including toxins¹²⁴. Therefore, it has been suggested that exosomes may be responsible for exchange of material between cells. Exosomes are found in many different fluids, including blood, breast milk, amniotic fluid and malignant ascites¹²⁵⁻¹²⁷. It is tempting to speculate that in *Drosophila* extracellular vesicles may travel through the hemolymph carrying and propagating the immune signal (Fig. 4B). There is increasing evidence that exosomes in mammals can be taken up by other cells following recognition by receptors on the plasma $\mathsf{membrane}^{128,129}$ and that they are carriers for many and diverse cargos depending on their cell origin. The uptake of free exosomes is currently the subject of lively debate. It has been suggested that after release from a cell, exosomes are endocytosed and targeted, along the cytoskeleton, to lysosomes¹³⁰. Other authors suggest that exosomes can be imported into cells by phagocytosis¹³¹ or by fusion¹³². It is possible that exosomes fuse with the endocytic compartment after endocytosis and during acidification they release their content in lysosomes. However, a large part of their contents escape and these escaped contents can include proteins, such as Ago-2¹³³, and molecules such as siRNA and dsRNA. Silencing by small RNA is linked to endosomal trafficking¹¹⁹ and it has been demonstrated that exosomes are involved in the immune system¹³⁴⁻¹³⁸. In mammals, for example, exosomes act as immunological mediators associated with tumor growth by exosome-mediated miRNA transfer^{139,140} or by exosome-mediated antigen presentation¹⁴¹. In flies, exosome vesicles, first called argosomes, are responsible for a graded distribution of morphogens, such as Wingless¹⁴². Several studies show the presence of extracellular vesicles in *Drosophila* involved in development^{143,144} (Fig. 4C-D).

6.3.2. Tunneling nanotubes

Tunneling nanotubes (TNTs) were first described in rat neuro-derived cells¹⁴⁵. They are tubular structures, made of actin filaments that are not attached to the substratum (and therefore are not filipodia¹⁴⁶ or cytonemes¹⁴⁷) and allow direct communication between cells *via* cytoplasmic connection. Conversely, filopodia and cytonemes are thin structures acting as bridges to connect cells (mechanism of adhesion without cytoplasmic connections) and therefore, cargos move along the structure and not inside¹⁴⁸.

Since their first discovery, TNTs have been found in a wide variety of mammalian cells where they act for example as route for transport of cytosolic and membrane-bound molecules, organelles, and pathogens such as HIV^{149,150}; in bacteria cells where they serve for exchange of molecules¹⁵¹; and in *Drosophila* where they participate in developmental processes^{147,152-155}.

6.3.3. Free ribonucleoprotein-complexes

EVs and TNTs are not the only way that RNA uses to circulate. For example, small RNAs, like miRNAs have been described in body fluids as free ribonucleoprotein (RNP) complexes¹⁵⁶⁻¹⁵⁸. Moreover, Arroyo and colleagues¹⁵⁹, and Turchinovich and colleagues¹⁶⁰ showed that in mammals, miRNA contained in exosomes constitutes only a minority of the circulating miRNA and the bulk of miRNA is found in the plasma as RNP complexes associated with Ago protein. In addition to those finding, a very recent quantitative and stoichiometric analysis of the miRNA content of exosomes by Chevillet and colleagues¹⁶¹ suggested that it was unlikely that exosomes act as vehicles for miRNA based cell-cell communication due to the very low amount of miRNA *per* exosomes.

Embedding small RNA in an RNP has several advantages as mechanism of dissemination: it may improve RNA stability and resistance to environmental damage or degradation such as extracellular RNases and it is in a "ready-state" to regulate gene expression in recipient cells. Additionally, proteins of the RNP could allow the entry into a specific cell. A question under consideration is whether the level of extracellular small RNAs are a mirror of their intracellular

abundances, in other words does secretion occurs in a non-selective manner, or is secretion an active process¹⁶².

6.3.4. Cell junctions

Adherens and tight junctions were first described by Farquhar and colleague in 1963¹⁶³ and provide important adhesive contacts between cells. Tight junctions have two vital functions, the barrier function and the fence function (Fig. 5). The barrier function regulates the movement of ions and solutes in-between cells through intercellular spaces¹⁶⁴. Therefore, molecules have to enter the cells by diffusion or by active transport in order to pass through the tissue. The fence function maintains cell polarity by allowing the specific functions of each cell surface in such a way that prevents molecules at one side of the cells to migrate to another side¹⁶⁵. For example, the apical surface of cells is involved in receptor-mediated endocytosis and the basolateral surface is involved in exocytosis. Both surfaces have specific function, and the fence prevents the loss of this cellular polarity. Interestingly, some pathogenic bacteria and some viruses target tight junctions, leading to diseases (review in¹⁶⁵). Tight junctions have also been involved in other functions, as the regulation of signal transduction¹⁶⁶ and the immune system¹⁶⁷⁻¹⁶⁹.

Gap junctions are another type of junction that link cells together and allow direct communication of neighboring cells^{170,171} *via* proteins channels that connect both cytoplasms (review¹⁷²). They are reminiscent of plasmodesmata in plants. It has been described that viruses can interact with those structures to transmit toxic signals through them or to disrupt them^{173,174}. Valiunas *et al.*¹⁷⁵ described the transfer of siRNAs through gap junctions in mammals.

Each type of cell-cell communication, besides their known physiological role, could therefore be potentially involved in the systemic antiviral immune responses, by the transfer of the immune signal and/or the pathogen.



BARRIER FUNCTION FENCE FUNCTION

Figure 5. Tight junctions with two major roles: barrier and fence function. Cells on the left use the barrier function (black solid line between cells), which regulates the movement of ions and solutes through intercellular spaces. The cell on the right uses the fence function (black solid line between cells), to keep cellular polarity by impeding molecules (blue or red) to migrate to a different location.

Adapted from Sawada et al.

7. DROSOPHILA CG4572 PROTEIN

A genome-wide screen performed by Saleh and colleagues¹⁰⁸ for components of the dsRNA-transport machinery, indicated that dsRNA is taken up by an active process involving clathrin-mediated endocytosis and relies on the integrity of vesicle trafficking and protein sorting to elicit an efficient RNAi response. In this same screen, genes with unknown functions were also identified. One of these genes was CG4572.

CG4572 is a putative serine-carboxypeptidase with a catalytic triad specific to those proteins: S217, D403 and H460¹⁷⁶. This domain is well evolutionary conserved and present in several proteins in species ranging from plants¹⁷⁷, yeast (carboxypeptidase Y), mosquitos¹⁷⁶, to humans (cathepsin A, also known as protective protein). Moreover, this protein carries a signal peptide (amino acids VEG-ER, where – corresponds to the cleavage site) for translocation into the

endoplasmic reticulum, where it may be subjected to several N-glycosylations. Interestingly, carboxypeptidase S in yeast is delivered from Golgi to endosomes and to MVBs¹¹². In plants, several serine carboxypeptidases are predicted to be secreted¹⁷⁸. In human, the vitelogenic-like protein, also a serine carboxypeptidase, localizes to exosomes¹⁷⁹.

Further studies from Saleh *et al*⁷⁶ demonstrated that cells depleted for CG4572 failed at silencing a reporter gene following exogenous dsRNA soaking (Fig 6). However, when the natural entry pathway (soaking) was bypassed by transfection of dsRNA, cells depleted for CG4572 were fully able to perform silencing. In addition, flies deficient for CG4572 were hypersensitive to DCV infection and died even more rapidly than Ago-2 mutant flies, suggesting a role of CG4572 in the RNAi-mediated antiviral response.



Figure 6. CG4572 is involved in RNAi transport. Silencing of luciferase expression in *Drosophila* S2 cells depleted in dsRNA uptake genes (*egh*, *NinaC* and *CG4572*) after exposure to luciferase dsRNA by either transfection (filled bars) or by soaking dsRNA in the culture supernatant (empty bars). dsGFP: dsRNA directed against GFP, used as a negative control. dsAgo2: Ago2 dsRNA control for the core RNAi machinery depletion. Ctrl (-): untreated control. MC Saleh *et al*, *Nature* 2009.

AIM OF THE STUDY

In the context of the study of the antiviral RNAi mechanism and the establishment of a systemic RNAi response in *Drosophila melanogaster*, my PhD focused on answering a central question:

How is CG4572 protein involved in the Drosophila antiviral response?

Starting from the previous observation on CG4572, this protein could be involved in: *(i)* the uptake of exogenous dsRNA into the cell, *(ii)* the intracellular transport of dsRNA to the RNAi core machinery, *(iii)* the spread of the antiviral signal. As CG4572 does not present a transmembrane domain or a dsRNA binding domain, we discard a role as potential dsRNA receptor and favour a role in the transport of dsRNA or the RNAi signal.

Through a combination of cell biology, biochemistry, high-resolution imaging, mass spectrometry and high throughput sequencing approaches I tackled the characterization of this protein and its role.

Fours years into the adventure, I demonstrated that CG4572 is essential for the spread of the RNAi antiviral immune signal through extracellular vesicles. In the first part of the results, I describe how extracellular vesicles carrying CG4572 and fragments of viral RNAs can spread and confer protection against further viral infection in flies. In the second part, I dig further on the analyses of high throughput sequencing of small RNAs in extracellular vesicles. In the third and last part of the results, I identify tunneling nanotubes containing CG4572 and core components of the RNAi machinery, and hypothesized on the use of those TNT in the spread of the immune signal. Both different but compatible mechanisms of cell-cell communication are coupled, for the first time, to the establishment of systemic antiviral immunity in *Drosophila*.

CHAPTER 2

RESULTS
CHAPTER 2

PART 1

Drosophila DORA protein is essential for systemic spread of antiviral RNAi immunity through extracellular vesicles containing viral RNAs

Drosophila DORA protein is essential for systemic spread of antiviral RNAi immunity through extracellular vesicles containing viral RNAs.

Margot Karlikow^{1,6}, Bertsy Goic¹, Lionel Frangeul¹, Yann Verdier², Koen W.R. van Cleef³, Hervé Blanc¹, Christine Laurent⁴, Pascal Lenormand⁴, Gérard Pehau-Arnaudet⁵, Ronald P. van Rij³, Joelle Vihn², Maria-Carla Saleh¹

- Institut Pasteur, Viruses and RNA interference, CNRS URM 3569, 75724
 Paris Cedex 15, France.
- 2- ESPCI ParisTech, Spectrometrie de Masse Biologique et Protéomique (SMBP), CNRS URS 3149, F-75231, France
- 3- Department of Medical Microbiology, Radboud University Medical Center, Radboud Institute for Molecular Life Sciences, P.O. Box 9101, 6500 HB Nijmegen, The Netherlands.
- 4- Institut Pasteur, Proteomics Platform, 75724 Paris Cedex 15, France.
- Institut Pasteur, Platform of Ultra-structural microscopy, 75724 Paris Cedex 15, France.
- 6- Sorbonne Universités, UPMC Université Paris VI, IFD, 4 Place Jussieu 75252 Paris Cedex 05, France.

Key words

systemic immunity, RNAi spread, extracellular vesicles, viral RNA, Drosophila.

Abstract

An important feature of immune responses is their ability to act both at the site of infection and at distal uninfected sites. In insects, RNA interference (RNAi) mediates the antiviral immune response *via* a cell-autonomous and a systemic response. The latter remains poorly characterized. In this study we show that DORA- a *Drosophila* protein identified in a genome-wide screen for components of the dsRNA-transport machinery- interacts with core components of the RNAi machinery and is involved in systemic RNAi. Flies deficient for DORA are hypersensitive to viral infection and fail to co-suppress endogenous GFP when infecting GFP-deficient flies with a Sindbis-GFP virus. Furthermore, we demonstrate that the systemic RNAi response is mediated by extracellular vesicles carrying fragments of viral RNA, in a DORA-dependent manner. We therefore propose *Drosophila* DORA protein as the first required component for the establishment of a systemic antiviral response in invertebrates.

Introduction

Following the discovery of the RNA interference (RNAi) pathway¹ and its role in antiviral defense in plants² and invertebrates³⁻⁸, it was demonstrated that the antiviral RNAi response was not only cell-autonomous, acting locally at the site of infection, but also systemic, conferring immunity at distal sites⁹. Indeed, the spread of a specific silencing signal plays a critical role in antiviral defense by initiating a systemic RNAi response in the entire organism¹⁰. This protects uninfected cells from infection and thus confines the deleterious effects of viral infection to a limited number of cells. In plants, systemic RNAi is dependent on the ribonuclease Dicer-like 4, and the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase RDR6 and involves the spread of 21 nt long small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) between infected and non-infected cells via plasmodesmal junctions¹¹⁻¹³. In C. elegans, systemic RNAi is dependent on the family of the transmembrane systemic RNA interference-deficient (SID) channel protein, as well as on the presence of a RNAdependent RNA polymerase (Ego1) for amplification of the immune signal¹⁴⁻²⁰. In insects, very little is known about the mechanisms involved in systemic antiviral immunity^{21,22} with most of the evidence coming from studies in Drosophila melanogaster. In flies, it is possible to confer protection against viral infection by inoculating virus-specific long dsRNA in the fly haemolymph, with a loss of protection when viral siRNAs are used due to a selective mechanism for uptake of only long dsRNA from the surroundings^{22,23}. Therefore, even if is tempting to speculate that dsRNA molecules are the immune signal that spread to establish a systemic response²⁴, the nature of the signal and the mechanism of spread remain thus far elusive.

In the fruit fly, endosomal trafficking and multi-vesicular bodies (MVBs) are required for efficient RNAi silencing^{23,25}. When MVBs fuse with the plasma membrane, they release extracellular vesicles (EVs). Those vesicles have been found in all sorts of fluids in different organisms²⁶⁻²⁸ and EVs-containing small RNAs have been linked to immune modulation in mammals^{29,30}.

Here we demonstrate that *Drosophila* CG4572/DORA protein, previously identified in a genome-wide screen for RNAi transport in *Drosophila* cells²³ and

found to contribute to antiviral defense to *Drosophila* C virus infection²², interacts with core components of the antiviral RNAi machinery and is present in EVs that contain viral RNAs. We show that EVs isolated from infected cells are able to protect wild type flies against viral infection, while EVs from DORA depleted cells, fail to immunise flies, confirming that the DORA is required to mount an RNAi-mediated systemic immune response. We propose DORA protein as the first discovered specific component for the establishment of a systemic antiviral response in invertebrates.

Results

In silico and biochemical analyses of CG4572

CG4572 is a putative serine-carboxypeptidase with a catalytic triad specific to those proteins: S217, D403 and H460³¹. This domain is well evolutionary conserved and present in several proteins in species ranging from plants³², yeast (carboxypeptidase Y), mosquitos³¹, to humans (cathepsin A, also known as protective protein). Moreover, this protein carries a signal peptide (amino acids VEG-ER, where – corresponds to the cleavage site) for translocation into the endoplasmic reticulum, where it may be subjected to several N-glycosylations.

To characterize CG4572, we raised monoclonal antibodies against the Cterminal part of the protein. After subcellular fractionation of S2 cells and western blot analyses, the protein was found in the soluble fraction (Supplementary Fig. 1a) containing the cytoplasm and small vesicles and organelles. In addition to the predicted 54 kDa protein, another unexpected band was detected at 30 kDa. To confirm the identity of the two proteins, mass-spectrometry assays were performed following CG4572 immunoprecipitation (Supplementary Fig. 1b). Both the 54 kDa and the 30 kDa proteins correspond to CG4572, with the latter corresponding to the C-terminal part of the protein. To determine if the 30 kDa protein was the product of an alternative splicing event, we analysed total RNA from S2 cells by Northern blot. Only one transcript was detected at the expected size (1800 nt), suggesting that both forms of CG4572 are the result of posttranslational processing, rather than production of two distinct messenger RNAs or alternative splicing (Supplementary Fig. 1c).

CG4572 is required for an efficient antiviral response

CG4572 has been described as a component of the antiviral immune response in *Drosophila*^{22,23}. To monitor its expression throughout viral infection, RT-qPCR was performed in flies infected with *Drosophila* X virus (DXV) or *Drosophila* C virus (DCV). During the course of the viral infection (Supplementary Fig. 2a and

2b), CG4572 RNA levels were stable in w¹¹¹⁸ flies (wild type, wt) (Supplementary Fig. 2c and 2d), whereas they were absent in deficient flies (CG4572^{-/-}). The CG4572 mutation is characterized by the insertion of a PiggyBack transposon within the coding sequence of CG4572 (allele CG4572^{c05963}) resulting in extreme hypomorphs for the gene.

We then tested the ability of CG4572^{-/-} flies to cope with different viruses. Flies were inoculated in the thorax with DCV (Fig. 1a), Flock House virus (FHV) (Fig. 1b) or Cricket Paralysis virus (CrPV) (Fig. 1c) and survival rates were monitored daily. CG4572^{-/-} flies were hypersensitive to these viruses, showing a lower lifespan compared with wt flies or even Dicer-2 mutant flies (Dcr-2^{-/-}). However, no difference in survival between wt and CG4572^{-/-} flies were observed during infection with Sindbis virus (SinV) (Supplementary Fig. 3a), Vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) (Supplementary Fig. 3b) and *Drosophila* X virus (DXV) (Supplementary Fig. 3c).

As CG4572 protein displayed a major effect on the antiviral response against non-enveloped, positive stranded RNA viruses, we explored the possibility that CG4572 acts as a viral restriction factor. To test this hypothesis, *Drosophila* S2 cells were transfected with different concentrations of expression plasmids to drive CG4572, and then infected with DCV and DXV. If CG4572 acts as a restriction factor, its overexpression should hinder viral replication. However, no differences in viral load over time were observed, precluding a role of CG4572 as a viral restriction factor (data not shown).

Finally, to exclude the possibility that the CG4572 protein could be involved in a broad-spectrum immune response, flies were infected with Gram-positive bacteria, *Miccrococus luteus* (data not shown) or with Gram-negative bacteria, *Listeria monocytogenens*. As observed in Fig. 1d, CG4572^{-/-} flies were as sensitive as wt flies to bacterial infection, precluding a role of CG4572 as a broad immunity component. Taken together, the results unveil an essential and specific role of CG4572 in the fly antiviral response.



Figure 1. Increased viral susceptibility in CG4572 deficient flies. Five-days old flies were injected in the thorax with (**a**) Drosophila C virus (DCV) at 100 TCID₅₀/fly, (**b**) Flock house virus (FHV) at 500 TCID₅₀/fly, (**c**) Cricket paralysis virus (CrPV) at 100 TCID₅₀/fly or (**d**) *Listeria monocytogenens* at 1,000 bacteria/fly. Mortality was monitored daily. For each assay w¹¹¹⁸ flies, in black, were used as wild type (wt) control; Dicer-2 deficient flies (Dcr-2^{-/-}), in green, were used as a control of defective antiviral RNAi pathway. *Listeria monocytogenens* was used to determine if CG4572 has a role in the response to bacterial infection. Relish deficient flies (Relish^{-/-}, in blue) were used as a positive control of a deficient anti-bacterial response. In each experiment, Tris injection was used to control the impact of the injection *per se* (black dashed line). Data from one experiment representative of three. The values represent the mean and SD of three independent groups of 15 flies each by experiment.

CG4572 interacts with core components of the RNAi machinery

Using the monoclonal antibody against CG4572, immunoprecipitation of S2 cell lysates were performed and co-purifying factors were analysed by lc-ms/ms mass-spectrometry. In three independent experiments, 11 putative partners of CG4572 were identified. In addition, 33 other possible interacting proteins were found in two out of three experiments (Fig. 2a and Table 1). We detected proteins related to: 1- cellular transport, such as twinstar (*Drosophila* homologue of cofilin), Map205 (CG1483) and Shrub (an ESCORT-III component)^{33,34}; 2- immune and

stress responses, such as Hopscotch and HSP83. This category also contained proteins known to interact with RNAi components, such as Vig and its homologue Vig-2, dFMR1 (Wan, 2000, Mol Cell Biol) (Drosophila homologue of the human FMR1 protein)^{35,36}, Ago-2, the main effector of the antiviral RNAi pathway³⁷, and Dmp68³⁶ (Table 1). As these data suggested an association of CG4572 with core components of the RNAi machinery and as the RNAi pathway is essential for the antiviral response, further validated these interactions. Cowe immunoprecipitations of CG4572, Ago-2 and dFMR1 proteins were performed (Fig. 2b), confirming that CG4572 interacts with both Ago-2 and dFMR1 in a specific manner. In addition, confocal microscopy shows co-localization of CG4572 with Ago-2 (Fig. 2c) in small punctuate structures reminiscent of vesicles, reinforcing that CG4572 specifically interacts with the RNAi effector complex RISC.



a CG4572

α dFMR1



CG4572 / Ago2 / DAPI / Phalloidin

Figure 2 Karlikow et al.

Figure 2. CG4572 interacts with RNAi factors. (a) Using the soluble fraction of S2 cells, three independent immunoprecipitation assays were performed with a monoclonal antibody that recognizes CG4572. Co-immunoprecipitating factors were identified by mass-spectrometry (Table 1). Eleven proteins were identified in three independent mass spectrometry and 33 other proteins were found twice. (b) Immunoprecipitation of CG4572 or Ago-2 or dFMR1 was performed on the soluble fraction of S2 cells lysates to confirm mass-spectrometry results. WB using the respective antibody assessed CG4572 interactions with Ago-2 or dFMR1. (c) CG4572 (red) and Ago-2 (green) proteins localize together in punctuate structures as shown by confocal microscopy. Arrowheads show examples of localization of CG4572 and Ago-2 proteins in the same structure.

а

Table 1. CG4572 interacting candidates. List of proteins interacting with CG4572, detected by mass spectrometry. Grouping was performed following Gene Ontology terms. Hits indicate the number of times proteins were detected on three independent mass spectrometry assays.

Gene Ontology Term	ID	Name	Hits
RNA binding	CG5836	Splicing Factor 1	2
_	CG5442	Sc35	2
	CG10851	B52	3
	CG5654	Ypsilon Schachtel	3
	CG9273	Replication Protein A2	2
	CG9983	Hrb98DE	2
	CG3800	CHCC-type zinc finger protein	2
Immune and stress response	CG6203	dFMR1	2
	CG1594	Hopscotch	2
	CG6988	Pdi	2
	CG1242	Hsp83	3
	CG4170	Vig	2
	CG11844	Vig-2	2
	CG10279	Dmp68	1
	CG7439	Ago-2	1
Transport	CG12051	Actin 42A	2
	CG1913	Tubulin 1a	2
	CG9277	Tubulin 1β	3
	CG6948	Tubulin 1β	2
	CG8055	Shrub (ESCORT-III complex)	2
	CG9412	Rasputin	2
	CG4254	Cofilin / Twinstar	3
	CG1483	205 kDa microtubules associated protein	2
	CG14996	Transgelin (Chd64)	2
	CG4800	Translationally-controled tumor protein homolog	2
	CG8280	Elongation factor 1a	3
	CG6341	Probable Elongation factor 1β	3
	CC4572	Serine carboxypeptidase	2
		Ribosomal protein S3, S3a, S5a, S18	3
		Ribosomal protein S2, S9, S14a, S26, S30, L14, L22, LP0, LP2	2
	CG11901	Elongation factor 1y	2
	CG8759	Nascent polypeptide associated complex protein alpha subunit	2
	CG11999	glycosyltransferase	2
		Histone 4	2
	CG4337	mtSSB	2
Unclassified	CG30412		2

Table 1 Karlikow *et al*.

CG4572 is involved in systemic antiviral RNAi

Because CG4572 interacts with components of the RNAi machinery and flies deficient for CG4572 cannot mount an effective antiviral response, we next analysed whether the core RNAi machinery was impaired in CG4572 deficient flies. To this end, we first analysed viral siRNA production following viral infection. CG4572^{-/-} flies were able to generate viral siRNAs during DCV infection (Supplementary Fig. 4a and 4b respectively) as well as after injection of exogenous dsRNA (Supplementary Fig. 4c and 4d respectively). Second, we analysed Ago-2 catalytic activity (slicing) in wild type and CG4572^{-/-} embryo extracts. Both wild type and in CG4572^{-/-} flies were competent in Ago-2 mediated slicing, although slicing seems somewhat less efficient in the latter (Supplementary Fig. 4e). Therefore the absence of CG4572 does not impair the cell-autonomous RNAi response and does not seem to be responsible for the extreme sensitivity of CG4572^{-/-} flies to viral infection.

Given that CG4572^{-/-} flies were not protected from a viral challenge after sequence specific dsRNA inoculation (²² and data not shown) and that the cellautonomous siRNA pathway was functional in these flies, we analyzed whether CG4572 is involved in systemic antiviral RNAi. Using a previously described approach²², we examined whether infection with SinV carrying a GFP reporter gene could silence an ubiquitous endogenous GFP signal at a distal site. To do so, wt-GFP or CG4572^{-/-}-GFP flies were infected with SinV expressing GFP (SinV-GFP) or firefly luciferase (SinV-Luc). SinV was detected in fly heads and bodies at 2 days post infection (dpi) (Fig. 3, lane 3-5; 8-10 for wt flies, and 13-15; 18-20 for CG4572^{-/-} flies). Yet at 1 dpi, co-suppression of endogenous GFP was already detectable in heads of wt flies (Fig. 3 lane 2), but not in CG4572^{-/-} flies (Fig. 3 lane 12). Co-suppression of GFP was not detected following infection with SinV-Luciferase virus (Fig. 3 lane 1-4 for wt flies, and 11-14 for CG4572^{-/-} flies), showing the sequence specificity of the silencing. Taken together, our results suggest that CG4572^{-/-} flies are unable to effectively spread the immune silencing signal and therefore are impaired in systemic RNAi. As the spread of an immune signal is affected by the absence of CG4572, we proposed to name CG4572 after

Dora the explorer. DORA is essential to allow the immune signal to spread (to explore) to uninfected tissues.



Figure 3. CG4572 deficient flies are unable to mount a systemic antiviral response. Fivedays old wild type w¹¹¹⁸ flies (wt) and CG4572 deficient flies (CG4572^{-/-}) expressing eGFP (under the control of a tubulin promoter) were injected with 5000 pfu Sindbis-luciferase or Sindbis-GFP virus. Pools of 5 flies were collected daily up to day 4 post-infection. Sindbis viral replication was monitored by RT-PCR in heads and bodies as well as the expression of GFP. Rp49 was used as endogenous control for gene expression.

DORA is found in late endocytic compartments

Immunofluorescence staining with DORA monoclonal antibodies shows localization in cytoplasmic vesicles (Supplementary Fig. 5a). We further analysed subcellular localization of DORA in S2 cells by confocal microscopy. Signal was detected in late endocytic vesicles positive for SARA (marker of multivesicular bodies, MVBs)³⁸ (Fig. 4a, numerical zoom in Fig. 4b) and in Rab7 positive vesicles, a marker of late endosomes³⁹ (Fig. 4c, numerical zoom in Fig. 4d). The same localization for DORA was found *ex vivo*, in wing disc of *drosophila* larvae that expressed Rab7-GFP or SARA-GFP (Supplementary Fig. 5b and 5c).





Figure 4. CG4572 protein localizes in late endosomal compartments. Cellular localization of CG4572 was assessed by immunofluorescence followed by confocal microscopy. Endocytic markers were labeled in green and CG4572 in red. Confocal microscopy using (a) CG4572 antibody (red) and SARA (green) or (c) CG4572 antibody (red) and Rab7 (green). (b) and (d) show a numerical zoom of the merged image of panel (a) and (c). Arrows indicate some colocalization of CG4572 and endocytic markers. DAPI, in blue, labels the nuclei and Phalloidin, in magenta, labels the F-actin and is used to define the cell edge.

DORA is present in extracellular vesicles containing fragments of viral RNAs as well as viral siRNAs

When MVBs fuse with the plasma membrane, their inner vesicles are released outside the cells as extracellular vesicles (EVs). Given that DORA was specifically found in late endosomal compartments and that EVs play a potential role in intercellular communication, we analysed whether DORA was present in EVs. Due to their capacity to efficiently uptake dsRNA from media, S2R+ cells (persistently infected with DAV, DXV, DCV and FHV viruses) were used, as well as S2R+ cells in which a short dsRNA hairpin was expressed allowing the stable depletion of DORA (S2R+_shCG4572, Supplementary Fig. 6a,). Both cell lines were incubated with dsRNA against SinV, dsRNA against GFP (as a control) or infected with SinV (Fig. 5a). Three days later, EVs were purified following the protocol described by Thery (⁴⁰ with modifications) and the criteria published by Lotvall *et al.*⁴¹ were applied to assess the quality and purity of EVs. To rule out the possibility that collected EVs were the product of cell damage/death, we checked cell viability (Supplementary Fig. 6b). EVs from both cell lines were purified by Optiprep discontinuous gradient to separate EVs from viruses. The quality of the separation was verified by western blot and DORA was detected in the 10% Optiprep-fraction of the gradient (Supplementary Fig. 6c), clearly separated from the virus fraction (10-35% fraction). The same samples were analysed by electron microscopy and EVs were detected (Supplementary Fig. 6d). Once the guality of the samples was checked, high throughput sequencing of small RNAs was performed on RNA purified from EVs.

As shown in Figure 5b, EVs from cells soaked on dsRNA against SinV contained viral siRNAs (vsiRNAs) corresponding to the dsRNA. EVs from cells infected with SinV contained fragments of viral RNA (Fig. 5c), corresponding to the entire genome, but no vsiRNAs. However, in both cases, EV content was specifically enriched in viral RNAs, as shown by the low proportion (less than 1%) of detectable small RNAs against endogenous transposons or miRNA (Supplementary Fig. 6e).

50



Figure 5. CG4572-positive EVs are loaded with viral small RNAs as well as fragments of viral RNA. Extracellular vesicles (EVs) were purified by Optiprep gradient. (a) Experimental design of high throughput sequencing on EVs. (b-c) Left panel: Size distribution of viral reads corresponding to (b) EVs from cells that soaked dsSin or (c) EVs from cells infected with Sindbis virus. Right panel: Alignment of 21 nts siRNAs on Sindbis genome. Positive strand small RNAs are presented in red and negative strand in blue. The gray bars represent nucleotides position without coverage. For (c) left and right panel, the regions corresponding to dsSin were extracted during analysis in order to avoid risk of cross-contamination.

DORA-positive extracellular vesicles containing fragments of viral RNA protect against viral infection

Given that DORA depletion inhibited systemic RNAi and considering its localization in EVs, we tested whether DORA-positive EVs containing vsiRNAs and other viral RNAs could have a role in establishing systemic immunity. In order to mimic this situation, we developed an immunization protocol based on inoculating flies with EVs (Figure 6a). The same EVs that were purified for deep sequencing were injected in wild type flies. After two days, flies were challenged with SinV-Luciferase virus. Viral replication was assessed by Luciferase activity 48 hours after infection. Flies inoculated with EVs containing siRNAs (from cells that soaked dsRNA against SinV) were not protected against SinV-Luc infection (Fig. 6b, green versus blue). In contrast, flies inoculated with EVs containing fragments of viral RNAs (from cells that were infected with SinV virus) were efficiently protected against SinV-Luc infection (Fig. 6c green versus red). Moreover, the protection was lost in flies inoculated with EVs from cells depleted for DORA. Together, our results indicate that EVs secreted from cells during acute viral infection are specifically loaded with fragments of viral RNAs and not vsiRNAs. These viral RNAs are capable of immunizing wild type flies against a virus challenge in a DORA-dependent manner.



Figure 6. EVs containing fragments of viral RNA protect flies. (a) Experimental design of the EVs based immunization. (b, c) Five days old wt flies were inoculated with 100 μ L of EVs preparation. 2 days later, flies were infected with 3000 pfu of Sindbis-Renilla and renilla activity in single flies was measured 2 days later. (b) Immunization was performed with EVs from S2R+ cells that either soaked dsGFP (as control) or dsSin (blue versus green). (c) Immunization was performed with EVs from S2R+ cells that either soaked dsGFP (as control) or that were infected with Sindbis (red versus green). ***p=0.0007. In both cases, immunization was performed with EVs coming from S2R+ cells or S2R+ cells depleted for CG4572. Statistical analysis was performed with Prism 6 software using a non-parametric Mann-Whitney test (n=12 for each condition).

Discussion

To establish systemic immunity, the spread of an immune signal from infected cells and its sensing and internalization by non-infected cells are crucial steps. Although systemic spread of a specific antiviral RNAi activity in *Drosophila* was previously shown²², the precise nature of the mobile signal and the mechanism of its systemic spread remain to be defined. Here we demonstrated that *Drosophila* DORA protein is an essential component of the immune response elicited by virus infection in flies. DORA is the first critical component described for the establishment of systemic antiviral immunity in insects.

Our most significant finding is the requirement of DORA-positive extracellular vesicles for the immunization of non-infected flies against viral infection. DORA could affect four major steps on EVs function: the loading, the sorting from the donor cell, the docking, or their processing in the target cell. The absence of DORA therefore could: *(i)* impair the function of MVBs (EVs loading and sorting), which could explain the reduced slicer activity of Ago-2 (as described by Lee and colleague²⁵) and the concomitant retention of the RNAi immune signal inside cells; *(ii)* impair the docking of EVs in distant target cells, therefore a dysfunction in the sensing of the signal; *(iii)* impair the internalization and processing of EVs and their contents, resulting in dysfunction in the RNAi signal internalization at the distal site of infection.

A striking result is the nature of the immune signal travelling within EVs. The fact that EVs containing viral siRNAs failed to immunize flies, strongly suggested that vsiRNAs are not the RNAi immune signal, contrary to the situation observed in plants. However, by the immunization protocol, the sorting and the docking of EVs are bypassed and it could be possible that the processing of EVs is dysfunctional in such a way that vsiRNAs cannot get released from the EVs. Surprisingly, EVs purified from infected cells, were enriched in fragments of viral RNAs ranging in size of 19-51 nts (upper length-limit of the deep sequence protocol used), which were distributed through all of the Sindbis genome. It is tempting to propose that systemic spread of antiviral RNAi is mediated by large viral fragments with intramolecular base-pairing structures released from infected cells in EVs. These viral fragments contained in EVs would enable (i) the spread of the immune signal to distant locations, and (ii) the presence of the immune signal in non-infected tissues without the need of an RdRp-mediated amplification process. Therefore, fragments of viral RNA with dsRNA structures (degradation products, abortive transcripts, incomplete viral genomes, etc) would be the RNAiimmune signal, and the vsiRNAs produced from the viral fragments, would be the immune effectors that confer a pre-existing immunity at the cellular level to uninfected cells.

Another interesting consideration is the specificity of the antiviral function of DORA only with non-enveloped positive strand RNA viruses. As our results indicate that DORA is not acting as a viral restriction factor, it is enticing to hypothesize that DORA is involved in the sorting of fragments of viral RNA corresponding to viruses that would localize their replication and assembly in endocytic compartments, in close proximity to DORA localization. For the viruses that localize in different cell compartments, alternative modes to spread the RNAi signal could be envisioned, as the recently described tubular nanotube structures that carry RNAi machinery and dsRNA (Karlikow et al. Submitted to Scientific Reports).

To our knowledge, this is the first demonstration of a cellular protein in arthropods that contributes to the spread of an antiviral signal. Whether the role of DORA in systemic immunity is evolutionarily conserved deserves further exploration.

Methods

Fly stocks. Virus- and *Wolbachia*- cleared flies were reared on standard medium at 25°C.

The following genotypes were used:

Wild-type (w^{1118}) : w^{1118} ; were obtained from the Bloomington Drosophila Stock Center.

Dcr-2 mutant: y^{d2} w¹¹¹⁸, P{ry^{+t7.2}=ey-FLP.N}2; Dcr-2^{L811fsX};

CG4572 mutant (CG4572^{-/-}): w¹¹¹⁸; ; PBac{w^{+mC}=PB}CG4572^{c05963}

CG4572^{-/-}-GFP: w¹¹¹⁸; ; PBac{w^{+mC}=PB}CG4572^{c05963}, P(w^{+mC}=tub-GFP}/TM6, Sb¹ Tb¹

wt-GFP: w* ; ; P{w^{+mC}=Tub84B-EGFP.NLS}3

Relish: w¹¹¹⁸; ; Rel^{E20}e^s

UAS flies were kindly provided by Pr. Gonzalez-Gaitan:

UAS-SARA-GFP: w*; P{w^{+mC}=UAS-GFP::Sara}/CyO ;

UAS-Rab7-GFP: w*; P{w^{+mC}=UAS-GFP::Rab7}/CyO ;

EnGal4: w; P{w[+mW.hs]=en2.4-GAL4}e16E (kindly provided by Dr. Franck Coumailleau).

Fly crossing, dissection and immunofluorescence of wing discs. GFP larvae were generated by crossing [w; UAS-Rab-7-GFP/CyO] or [w; UAS-SARA-GFP/CyO] flies with [EnGal4] flies. The transcription factor Gal4 activated the UAS promoter, generating Rab-7-GFP or SARA-GFP larvae. Wing discs from larvae were dissected in PFA 4% on ice, incubated in PFA 4% for 20 min at RT and washed twice in PBS for 5 min. Wing discs were permeabilized in PBS-Triton X-100 0,1% for three times 5 min and immunofluorescence was performed as described below.

Cell culture: *Drosophila* S2 cells (Schneider, 1972, Life Technologies) were cultured at 25°C in Schneider's *Drosophila* medium (Life Technologies) supplemented with 10% heat inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS, Life Technologies), 2 mM glutamine (Life Technologies), 100 U.mL⁻¹ penicillin and 100 µg.mL⁻¹ streptomycin (Life Technologies).

Stable cell lines were generated by co-transfecting 1×10^7 S2 cells with pCoBlast plasmid (Life Technologies) as selection vector and a pValium plasmid containing a short hairpin against CG4572 (TRiP, Harvard Medical School) as expression vector at a 1:19 ratio. Transfections were performed using Effectene transfection reagent (Quiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The next day, cells were washed and kept at 25°C. Three days later, medium was replaced and the selective agent added (blasticidin at 25 µg/mL). Medium was then changed every 4-5 days with the selective agent, and selection occurred in 2-3 weeks.

Immunofluorescence. *Drosophila* cells were cultured overnight (o/n) on coverslips at a concentration of 1×10^6 cells/mL in complete Schneider's *Drosophila* medium. Cells were then fixed in paraformaldehyde diluted in PBS to 4% (PFA, Alfa Aesar) during 15 minutes (min) and washed two times in PBS for 5 min. Following the fixation step, permeabilization was done in PBS 0.1% Triton X-100 (PBS-Triton) for 5 min three times. Cells were then incubated with primary antibodies in PBS-Triton supplemented with 3% FBS for at least 1 hour (h) at RT

56

(mouse αCG4572 1/500 is a home-made antibody, rabbit anti-SARA kindly provided by Pr. Gonzales-Gaitan, rabbit αAgo2 1/500 (Abcam) and rabbit αRab7 1/2,000 kindly provided by Pr. Nakamura). After three washes in PBS-Triton, cells were incubated with secondary antibody (Alexa-Fluor 1/1,000, Life Technologies), DAPI (1/10,000, Life Technologies) and Phalloidin-647 (Alexa-Fluor 1/200, Life Technologies) diluted in PBS-Triton with 3% FBS for 1 h at RT. Cells were washed two times in PBS-Triton for 5 min, once in PBS and finally mounted on glass slide with Fluoromount G (eBioscience) and imaged with a confocal microscope LSM 700 inverted (Zeiss) at a 63X magnification oil immersion lens. Confocal stacks were reconstructed with Huygens Professional software (SVI).

Fly infection. 5-days old females flies were injected in the thorax with 50 nL of the appropriate virus dilution in 10 mM Tris using a Drummond nanoject injector. Mortality was monitored daily.

For bacterial infection, *Listeria monocytogenens* was pre-cultured in BHI medium supplemented with chloramphenicol. *Microccocus luteus* was pre-cultured in LB at 37°C. Bacteria were washed twice in PBS, resuspended in PBS at 2x10⁷ per mL and this solution was used to inject flies with 50 nL (1,000 cell / fly) as previously described.

Western Blot. Protein extracts were incubated at 95°C for 5 min in 1X Laemmli Buffer containing 5% β-mercaptoethanol and separated on 4-15% polyacrylamide gels (Mini-PROTEAN TGX Precast Gels, BioRad). Proteins were then transferred with a semi-dry system (TransBlot Turbo Transfer System). Nitrocellulose membranes were incubated in blocking buffer (5% fat free milk in PBS supplemented with 0,1% of Tween-20, PBS-T, Euromedex) for 45 min. Membranes were then incubated with primary antibody (mouse α CG4572 1/1,000 home-made, rabbit α Ago-2 1/1,000 Abcam, mouse α FMR1 1/2,000 Abcam, mouse α Tubulin 1/5,000 Sigma, mouse α Syntaxin 1/300 DSHB, rabbit α FHV 1/10,000 home-made) diluted in fat free milk PBS-T for two hours, washed three times in PBS-T for 5 min each, and incubated for one hour in secondary antibody (ECL anti-mouse or ECL anti-rabbit, GE Healthcare) diluted 1/5,000 in fat free milk PBS-T. Finally membranes where washed three times in PBS-T, incubated 5 min with SuperSignal West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate, or with Femto (Thermo Scientific) and visualized on Amersham Hyperfilm ECL (GE Healthcare).

Mass Spectometry. 50 or 100 μ g of immunoprecipitated CG4572 were loaded onto a linear immobilized pH gradient (3-10) for charge separation in the first dimension. The second separation was carried on 15% SDS-PAGE. Selected spots were cut and analyzed by tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS).

CG4572 interactome. Three sets of experiments were performed, adapted from⁴².

- Protein digestion and labelling: immunoprecipitated CG4572 and binding proteins solubilised in PBS (pH 8.0) were reduced and alkylated with first DTT at 10 mM final for 2h, at 37°C; iodoacetamide was added for the last 30 min at 50 mM final, in dark. After 3 washes in PBS on microcolumn (Millipore, cut off 10 kDa), primary amines were labelled with 1 mM N-hydroxysuccinimidobiotin (NHS) -biotin (Thermo scientific) for 2h at RT according to manufacturer's instructions. Then, NHS was saturated using 200 mM hydroxyalamine, and the proteins were washed 3 times with ammonium bicarbonate (50 mM) on microcolumn. Proteins were fractionated in two parts, one for the proteolysis using trypsin (10 ng modified sequencing grade trypsin; Roche; 37°C, overnight) and the other for proteolysis with Lys-C (10 ng, Roche; 37°C, overnight). Resulting peptides were purified using streptavidin beads (Thermo scientific) according to manufacturer's instructions (150 µL of resins incubated 1h at RT with the samples). After washing with PBS, bound peptides were eluted with DTT (5 mM final, 30 min, RT), acidified with 10 µL of 10% aqueous formic acid and desalted using ziptip C18 micro column (Millipore).

- Identification of peptides by capillary Liquid Chromatography-tandem Mass <u>Spectrometry (LC-MS/MS)</u>: Peptides (6 μL) were purified on a capillary reversedphase column (nano C18 Acclaim PepMap100 Å, 75 μm i.d., 15-cm length; Dionex) at a constant flow rate of 220 nL/min, with a gradient of 2% to 40% buffer B in buffer A in 45 min; buffer A: H2O/acetonitrile(ACN)/ FA 98:2:0.1 (vol/vol/v); buffer B water/ACN/FA 10:90:0.1 (vol/vol/v). The MS analysis was performed on a Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance (FT-ICR) mass spectrometer (LTQ-FT Ultra; ThermoFisher Scientific) with the top-seven acquisition method: MS resolution 60,000, mass range 470–2,000 Da, followed by seven MS/MS (LTQ) on the seven most intense peaks, with a dynamic exclusion for 90 s.

Raw data were processed using Xcalibur 2.0.7 software. The database search was done using Mascot search engine (Matrix Science Mascot 2.2.04) on the 17 *D.melanogaster* protein databank. Proteome Discoverer 1.3 (ThermoFisher Scientific) and Mascot were used to search the data and filter the results. The following parameters were applied: MS tolerance 10 ppm; MS/MS tolerance 0.5 Da; semi-tryptic or semi-AspN peptides or semi V8-DE; two miss cleavages allowed; partial modifications carbamidomethylation (C), oxidation (M), acetyl (K, N-ter), thiopropionation (K, N-ter). Proteins identified by at least two peptides with a high confidence were validated.

RT-PCR. Total RNA was isolated with TRIzol (Life Technologies) according to manufacturer's instructions, followed by RNase-free DNase I treatment (Roche Diagnostics). RT was performed with 1 µg of total RNA, using SuperScript II reverse-transcriptase and random hexamer primers (Life Technologies). PCR was performed using DreamTaq DNA polymerase (ThermoFisher Scientific). Oligonucleotide primers were as follow:

GFP-F, CACATGAAGCAGCACGACTT GFP-R, TGCTCAGGTAGTGGTTGTCG Sin-F, AAGGATCTCCGGACCGTACT Sin-R, TTCCGGGAGCGTTGATATAC Rp49-F, AAGGGTATCGACAACAGAGTGC Rp49-R, ACAAATGTGTATTCCGACCACG

Quantitative real-time RT-PCR. Total RNA was isolated with TRIzol (Life Technologies) according to manufacturer's instructions, followed by RNase-free DNase I treatment (Roche Diagnostics). RT was performed with 1 μ g of total RNA

using iSCript reverse-transcriptase (BioRad) and qPCR with FastStart SYBR Green Master (Roche).

Oligonucleotide primers were as follow: CG4572-F, TGGCCCCGTGGATAGCCGAA CG4572-R, CTTCGCGGGGGAGCCACCTTG DXV-F, GACGTAAAGAGAGAACCCCA DXV-R, CGAGACTGGGTTTCGATGTTC DCV-F, CCGGAAGCGCATTGTATTGG DCV-R, GGAGTTGGGTGCTGAACTGA Rp49-F, CGGATCGATATGCTAAGCTGT Rp49-R, GCGCTTGTTCGATCCGTA

Northern blot. Total RNA from *Drosophila* S2 cells was isolated with TRIzol (Life Technologies). RNA (24 μ g) was separated by electrophoresis through 1.5% denaturing agarose gels, then transferred to a Nytran SuperCharge membrane with the Turbo Blotter system (Whatman). RNA was crosslinked to membranes by ultraviolet irradiation (Stratalinker) and was prehybridized for 2 h at 42°C in ULTRAhyb Ultrasensitive Hybridization Buffer (life technologies). DNA probes corresponding to the 5' region (nts 2-310) and the 3' region (nts 1011-1297) of CG4572 CDS were labeled with ³²P using Ready-to-Go kit (GE Healthcare) then added to the hybridization buffer, followed by incubation overnight at 42°C. Membranes were washed 2 x 5 min in 2X SSC, 0.1% SDS at 42°C, and 1 x in 0.1X SSC, 0.1% SDS at 42°C and then exposed to a Phospholmager screen. Probes were stripped by boiling of the membrane twice in 0.1% SDS for a second round hybridization with Rp49 as a 'housekeeping' control.

dsRNA synthesis. dsRNAs were generated by *in vitro* transcription using T7 RNA polymerase. Overnight incubation in T7 buffer (80 mM HEPES-KOH pH7.5, 24 mM MgCl₂, 2 mM Spermidine, 40 mM DTT) was followed by RNAase-free DNase I treatment (Roche Diagnostics), acid-phenol/chloroform (Life Technologies) purification and dilution at 3 μ g/ μ L in H₂O. Annealing was

performed at 62°C for 15 min and dsRNAs were allowed to cool-down slowly at room temperature.

Oligonucleotide primers containing the T7 sequence in their 5'-end were designed as follows (F, forward; R, reverse):

Small RNA libraries from EVs: Total RNA from EVs was isolated with TRIzol (Life Techonlogies). 19-150 nts length small RNAs were purified from a 15% acrylamide/bisacrylamide (37.5:1), 7 M urea gel as described in⁴³. Purified RNAs were used for library preparation using the kit NEBNext Multiplex Small RNA Library Prep for Illumina (E7300 L) with the 3' adapter from IDT (linker 1) and inhouse designed indexed primers. Libraries were diluted to 4 nM and sequenced (51 single 'reads') using NextSeq® 500 High Output Kit v2 (75 cycles) on a NextSeq 500 (Illumina). 'Reads' were analyzed with in-house Perl scripts.

Bioinformatics analysis of small RNA libraries

The quality of fastq files was assessed using graphs generated by "FastQC"⁴⁴. Using "cutadapt"⁴⁵, quality and adaptors were trimmed from each read. For small libraries, only the reads with a detectable adaptor sequence were kept (fragments < 30 bases). For other libraries, adaptor sequence was removed when it's possible. Only reads with acceptable quality were retained. A second set of graphs were generated by "FastQC" on the fastq files create by "cutadapt". Mapping was produced by "bowtie1" ⁴⁶ with the "-v 1" option (one mismatch between the read and its target). miRNA and endogenous piRNA were search by mapping against specific miRNA and transposons databases of Flybase. "bowtie1" generates results in "sam" format. All "sam" files were analysed by different tools of the package "samtools"⁴⁷ to produce "bam" indexed files. To

analysed these "bam" files, we generated different kind of graphs using home made R scripts⁴⁸ with several Bioconductor libraries⁴⁹ as "Rsamtools" or "Shortreads".

Slicing assay. The slicing experiment was performed on *Drosophila* embryos as described in⁵⁰ with minor modifications.

EVs purification. Cells were grown three days in conditioned media (media centrifuged o/n at 100,000 g, 4°C in a Beckman SW32Ti rotor to remove any microvesicles that could be contained in the FBS; and filtered). Media was then recovered and centrifuged for 5 min at 300 g to remove living cells. The supernatant was recovered and spun down 5 min at 2,500g. The pellet contained dead cells and big cell debris. The supernatant was collected and spun down 30 min at 10,000 g at 4°C. The new supernatant was spun down o/n at 4°C at 100.000g in a Beckman SW45Ti. The pellet containing EVs and contaminating proteins was resuspended in 1 mL PBS and loaded on an Optiprep discontinuous gradient (described below) and ran for 4 h at 100,000g at 4°C in a Beckman SW41Ti rotor. All the fractions were recovered and Western Blot was performed to assess the separation of EVs from viral particles. Finally all fractions were resuspended in PBS an ultracentrifuged in a SW32Ti rotor, at 100,000g for 4 h at 4°C to remove as much Optiprep as possible. Pellets were resuspended in 150 µL Tris/NaCl 150 mM and subjected to total RNA extraction or directly inoculated into flies.

Optiprep gradient preparation. Briefly, the working solution at 50% Optiprep was prepared by diluting 5 volumes of Optiprep 60% with 1 volume of Homogenization Buffer 6X (250 mM sucrose, 3 mM EGTA, 120 mM HEPES-KOH pH 7.4). A discontinuous iodixanol gradient was prepared by diluting the working solution with Homogenization Buffer 1X (250 mM sucrose, 0.5 mM EGTA, 20 mM HEPES-KOH pH 7.4) to prepare the 10–35 and 50% Optiprep fractions.

Electron microscopy for EVs. 4 μ l of each sample were spotted on glowdischarged carbon coated grids (EMS, USA) and negatively stained with NanoW (Nanoprobes, USA). Samples were then observed at 120 kV with a Tecnai G2. Images were recorded using an FEI 4K Eagle camera and TIA software (FEI, USA).

Fly immunization experiment. 100 nL of EVs preparation were injected in 5days old wt flies. 48 hours later, flies were challenged with 100nL of SinV-Renilla (1500 pfu / 50 nL). 48 hours later, flies were collected and luciferase activity was measured as described below.

Renilla Luciferase Assay. *Renilla* Luciferase was measured using the Renilla luciferase assay system (Promega). Individual flies were collected in 200 μ L of Renilla Luciferase assay lysis buffer diluted to 1X in H₂O, and homogenized using pellet pestles (Sigma-Aldrich). 20 μ L of each sample were transferred to a white 96-well plate. 20 μ L of *Renilla* luciferase assay reagent were added in each well containing samples. Luminescence was immediately measured on a Glomax 96 microplate luminometer (Promega).

Statistical analyses. Statistical analyses were performed with Prism 6 software using a non-parametric Mann-Whitney test.

Acknowledgments

We thank members of the Saleh lab and specially V. Mongelli for fruitful discussions and R. van Rij for critical reading of the manuscript; J. Santos and L. Tomé for advice on Optiprep gradients; I. Haddad for advice on mass-spec analyses; F. Coumailleau for supervision of fly crossings; M. Gonzalez-Gaitan (University of Geneva, Switzerland) for UAS mutant flies; Pr A. Nakamura (RIKEN Center for Developmental Biology, Japan) for antibody to Rab7; TRiP at Harvard Medical School (NIH/NIGMS R01-GM084947) for providing the shCG4572 plasmid vector used in this study.

This work was supported by the French Agence Nationale de la Recherche (ANR-09-JCJC-0045-01), the European Research Council (FP7/2007-2013 ERC StG 242703 and FP7/2013-2019 ERC CoG 615220) and the French Government's Investissement d'Avenir program, Laboratoire d'Excellence "Integrative Biology of Emerging Infectious Diseases" (grant n°ANR-10-LABX-62-IBEID) to M.C.S.

Author contributions

Conceived and designed the experiments: MK, BG and MCS. Performed most of the experiments: MK. Mass Spectrometry: CL, PL, YV and JV. Co-suppression in mutant flies, CG4572 antibodies, Northern blot: BG. Slicing activity: KWRvC and RvR. Preparation of small RNAs libraries: HB. Bioinformatics analyses: LF. Electron microscopy of EVs: GPA. Data analysis and interpretation of results: MK, BG, and MCS. Wrote the paper: MK and MCS.

Competing financial interests

The authors declare no competing financial interests.

References

- 1 Fire, A. *et al.* Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Nature* **391**, 806-811, doi:10.1038/35888 (1998).
- 2 Ding, S. W. & Voinnet, O. Antiviral immunity directed by small RNAs. *Cell* **130**, 413-426, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.07.039 (2007).
- 3 Galiana-Arnoux, D., Dostert, C., Schneemann, A., Hoffmann, J. A. & Imler, J. L. Essential function in vivo for Dicer-2 in host defense against RNA viruses in drosophila. *Nature immunology* **7**, 590-597, doi:10.1038/ni1335 (2006).
- 4 Lu, R. *et al.* Animal virus replication and RNAi-mediated antiviral silencing in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Nature* **436**, 1040-1043, doi:10.1038/nature03870 (2005).
- 5 Robalino, J. *et al.* Double-stranded RNA induces sequence-specific antiviral silencing in addition to nonspecific immunity in a marine shrimp: convergence of RNA interference and innate immunity in the invertebrate antiviral response? *Journal of virology* **79**, 13561-13571, doi:10.1128/JVI.79.21.13561-13571.2005 (2005).
- 6 van Rij, R. P. *et al.* The RNA silencing endonuclease Argonaute 2 mediates specific antiviral immunity in Drosophila melanogaster. *Genes & development* **20**, 2985-2995, doi:10.1101/gad.1482006 (2006).

- 7 Wang, X.-H. *et al.* RNA Interference Directs Innate Immunity Against Viruses in Adult Drosophila. *Science* **312**, 452-454, doi:10.1126/science.1125694 (2006).
- 8 Zambon, R. A., Vakharia, V. N. & Wu, L. P. RNAi is an antiviral immune response against a dsRNA virus in Drosophila melanogaster. *Cellular microbiology* 8, 880-889, doi:10.1111/j.1462-5822.2006.00688.x (2006).
- Jose, A. M. & Hunter, C. P. Transport of Sequence-Specific RNA Interference Information Between Cells. Annual Review of Genetics 41, 305-330, doi:doi:10.1146/annurev.genet.41.110306.130216 (2007).
- 10 Whangbo, J. S. & Hunter, C. P. Environmental RNA interference. *Trends in Genetics* **24**, 297-305, doi:10.1016/j.tig.2008.03.007 (2008).
- 11 Dunoyer, P. *et al.* Small RNA duplexes function as mobile silencing signals between plant cells. *Science* **328**, 912-916, doi:10.1126/science.1185880 (2010).
- 12 Voinnet, O. Non-cell autonomous RNA silencing. *FEBS letters* **579**, 5858-5871, doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2005.09.039 (2005).
- 13 Schwach, F., Vaistij, F. E., Jones, L. & Baulcombe, D. C. An RNA-dependent RNA polymerase prevents meristem invasion by potato virus X and is required for the activity but not the production of a systemic silencing signal. *Plant physiology* **138**, 1842-1852, doi:10.1104/pp.105.063537 (2005).
- 14 Feinberg, E. H. & Hunter, C. P. Transport of dsRNA into cells by the transmembrane protein SID-1. *Science* **301**, 1545-1547, doi:10.1126/science.1087117 (2003).
- 15 McEwan, D. L., Weisman, A. S. & Hunter, C. P. Uptake of extracellular double-stranded RNA by SID-2. *Molecular cell* **47**, 746-754, doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2012.07.014 (2012).
- 16 Sijen, T. *et al.* On the role of RNA amplification in dsRNA-triggered gene silencing. *Cell* **107**, 465-476 (2001).
- 17 Smardon, A. *et al.* EGO-1 is related to RNA-directed RNA polymerase and functions in germ-line development and RNA interference in C. elegans. *Current biology : CB* **10**, 169-178 (2000).
- 18 Tijsterman, M., May, R. C., Simmer, F., Okihara, K. L. & Plasterk, R. H. Genes required for systemic RNA interference in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Current biology : CB* **14**, 111-116 (2004).
- 19 Timmons, L., Tabara, H., Mello, C. C. & Fire, A. Z. Inducible systemic RNA silencing in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Molecular biology of the cell* **14**, 2972-2983, doi:10.1091/mbc.E03-01-0858 (2003).
- 20 Winston, W. M., Molodowitch, C. & Hunter, C. P. Systemic RNAi in C. elegans requires the putative transmembrane protein SID-1. *Science* **295**, 2456-2459, doi:10.1126/science.1068836 (2002).
- 21 Attarzadeh-Yazdi, G. *et al.* Cell-to-cell spread of the RNA interference response suppresses Semliki Forest virus (SFV) infection of mosquito cell cultures and cannot be antagonized by SFV. *Journal of virology* **83**, 5735-5748, doi:10.1128/JVI.02440-08 (2009).
- 22 Saleh, M. C. *et al.* Antiviral immunity in Drosophila requires systemic RNA interference spread. *Nature* **458**, 346-350, doi:10.1038/nature07712 (2009).
- 23 Saleh, M. C. *et al.* The endocytic pathway mediates cell entry of dsRNA to induce RNAi silencing. *Nature cell biology* **8**, 793-802, doi:10.1038/ncb1439 (2006).
- 24 Grishok, A., Tabara, H. & Mello, C. C. Genetic requirements for inheritance of RNAi in C. elegans. *Science* **287**, 2494-2497 (2000).
- 25 Lee, Y. S. *et al.* Silencing by small RNAs is linked to endosomal trafficking. *Nature cell biology* **11**, 1150-1156, doi:10.1038/ncb1930 (2009).

- 26 Denzer, K., Kleijmeer, M. J., Heijnen, H. F., Stoorvogel, W. & Geuze, H. J. Exosome: from internal vesicle of the multivesicular body to intercellular signaling device. *Journal of cell science* **113 Pt 19**, 3365-3374 (2000).
- 27 Lasser, C. *et al.* Human saliva, plasma and breast milk exosomes contain RNA: uptake by macrophages. *Journal of translational medicine* **9**, 9, doi:10.1186/1479-5876-9-9 (2011).
- 28 Runz, S. *et al.* Malignant ascites-derived exosomes of ovarian carcinoma patients contain CD24 and EpCAM. *Gynecologic oncology* **107**, 563-571, doi:10.1016/j.ygyno.2007.08.064 (2007).
- 29 Kogure, T., Lin, W. L., Yan, I. K., Braconi, C. & Patel, T. Intercellular nanovesiclemediated microRNA transfer: a mechanism of environmental modulation of hepatocellular cancer cell growth. *Hepatology* **54**, 1237-1248, doi:10.1002/hep.24504 (2011).
- 30 Liu, C. *et al.* Murine mammary carcinoma exosomes promote tumor growth by suppression of NK cell function. *J Immunol* **176**, 1375-1385 (2006).
- 31 Mahoney, J. A., Ntolosi, B., DaSilva, R. P., Gordon, S. & McKnight, A. J. Cloning and characterization of CPVL, a novel serine carboxypeptidase, from human macrophages. *Genomics* **72**, 243-251, doi:10.1006/geno.2000.6484 (2001).
- 32 Li, J., Lease, K. A., Tax, F. E. & Walker, J. C. BRS1, a serine carboxypeptidase, regulates BRI1 signaling in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America **98**, 5916-5921, doi:10.1073/pnas.091065998 (2001).
- 33 Beckett, K. *et al.* Drosophila S2 cells secrete wingless on exosome-like vesicles but the wingless gradient forms independently of exosomes. *Traffic* **14**, 82-96, doi:10.1111/tra.12016 (2013).
- 34 Koppen, T. *et al.* Proteomics analyses of microvesicles released by Drosophila Kc167 and S2 cells. *Proteomics* **11**, 4397-4410, doi:10.1002/pmic.201000774 (2011).
- 35 Caudy, A. A., Myers, M., Hannon, G. J. & Hammond, S. M. Fragile X-related protein and VIG associate with the RNA interference machinery. *Genes & development* **16**, 2491-2496, doi:10.1101/gad.1025202 (2002).
- 36 Ishizuka, A., Siomi, M. C. & Siomi, H. A Drosophila fragile X protein interacts with components of RNAi and ribosomal proteins. *Genes & development* **16**, 2497-2508, doi:10.1101/gad.1022002 (2002).
- 37 Hammond, S. M., Boettcher, S., Caudy, A. A., Kobayashi, R. & Hannon, G. J. Argonaute2, a link between genetic and biochemical analyses of RNAi. *Science* **293**, 1146-1150, doi:10.1126/science.1064023 (2001).
- 38 Di Guglielmo, G. M., Le Roy, C., Goodfellow, A. F. & Wrana, J. L. Distinct endocytic pathways regulate TGF-beta receptor signalling and turnover. *Nature cell biology* **5**, 410-421, doi:10.1038/ncb975 (2003).
- 39 Chavrier, P., Parton, R. G., Hauri, H. P., Simons, K. & Zerial, M. Localization of low molecular weight GTP binding proteins to exocytic and endocytic compartments. *Cell* **62**, 317-329 (1990).
- 40 Thery, C., Amigorena, S., Raposo, G. & Clayton, A. Isolation and characterization of exosomes from cell culture supernatants and biological fluids. *Current protocols in cell biology / editorial board, Juan S. Bonifacino ... [et al.]* Chapter 3, Unit 3 22, doi:10.1002/0471143030.cb0322s30 (2006).
- 41 Lotvall, J. *et al.* Minimal experimental requirements for definition of extracellular vesicles and their functions: a position statement from the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles. *Journal of extracellular vesicles* **3**, 26913, doi:10.3402/jev.v3.26913 (2014).
- McDonald, L. & Beynon, R. J. Positional proteomics: preparation of amino-terminal peptides as a strategy for proteome simplification and characterization. *Nature protocols* 1, 1790-1798, doi:10.1038/nprot.2006.317 (2006).

- 43 Mueller, S. *et al.* RNAi-mediated immunity provides strong protection against the negative-strand RNA vesicular stomatitis virus in Drosophila. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **107**, 19390-19395, doi:10.1073/pnas.1014378107 (2010).
- 44 <u>http://www.bioinformatics.babraham.ac.uk/projects/fastqc/</u>
- 45 https://code.google.com/p/cutadapt/
- 46 Langmead, B., Trapnell, C., Pop, M. & Salzberg, S. L. Ultrafast and memory-efficient alignment of short DNA sequences to the human genome. *Genome biology* **10**, R25, doi:10.1186/gb-2009-10-3-r25 (2009).
- 47 Li, H. *et al.* The Sequence Alignment/Map format and SAMtools. *Bioinformatics* **25**, 2078-2079, doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btp352 (2009).
- 48 <u>http://www.r-project.org/</u>
- 49 <u>http://bioconductor.org/</u>.
- 50 Haley, B., Tang, G. & Zamore, P. D. In vitro analysis of RNA interference in Drosophila melanogaster. *Methods* **30**, 330-336 (2003).



Supplementary Figure 1. CG4572 protein has two forms and localize in the soluble fraction of *Drosophila* cells. (a) S2 cells were fractionated and the subcellular localization of CG4572 was established by Western blot using a monoclonal antibody for CG4572, anti-Syntaxin antibody as marker of membrane fraction (M) and an anti-Tubulin antibody as marker of the soluble fraction (S). (b) Mass-spectrometry was used to define the two bands detected by the anti-CG4572 antibody by Western blot (the expected size for CG4572 at 54 kDa and a small protein at ~30 kDa). Peptides highlighted in bold red are identified by Mass-spectrometry and confirm that both bands are products of the CG4572 gene. (c) Northern blot analyses was performed to detect CG4572 RNA in non-infected S2 cells (lane 1), in S2 cells infected with Flock House virus (FHV) at 24 hours post infection (lane 2), in S2 cells infected with FHV at 4 days post infection (lane 3) and in S2 cells persistently infected with FHV (lane 4). One probe corresponded to the 5' of CG4572 (position 2 to 310 over CG4572 CDS), and the other one to the 3' (position 1011 to 1297 over CG4572 CDS). Rp49 probe was used as an endogenous control.





Supplementary Figure 2. Stable RNA expression of CG4572 during viral infection. Viral replication was assessed by RT-qPCR in wt and CG4572^{-/-} flies during the course of a viral infection at 0, 6 and 24 hrs post infection (hpi). (a) DXV infection (inoculated at 100 TCID₅₀/fly). (b) DCV infection (inoculated at 100 TCID₅₀/fly). CG4572 RNA expression level was monitored during the infections for (c) DXV or (d) DCV. (a-d) is one representative experiment of three independent ones. For each time points, 3 technical replicates of 5 flies each were analyzed in triplicate. Histogram bars represent the mean of 9 identical samples, with error bars corresponding to standard deviation. All samples are normalized to rp49, as endogenous control.





Supplementary Figure 3. Survival curves following virus infection. Five-days old flies were injected with (a) Sindbis virus, an enveloped positive stranded RNA virus (500 pfu/fly), (b) VSV, a non-enveloped negative stranded RNA virus (5000 pfu/fly) and (c) DXV, a non-enveloped double stranded RNA (dsRNA) (100 TCiD₅₀/fly). Wild type, Dcr2^{-/-} and CG4572^{-/-} flies were used. As in Figure 1, Tris injection was used to control the impact of the injection per se. Data from one experiment representative of three. The values represent the mean and SD of three independent groups of 15 flies each by experiment.





Supplementary Figure 4. CG4572 does not interfere with cell autonomous RNAi. 3 days old wild type or CG4572^{-/-} flies were inoculated in the thorax with DCV (100 TCID₅₀/fly) or with 50 nL of dsRNA against Flock house virus (3 µg/µL). Two days after inoculation, total RNA was extracted and a deep-sequencing analysis was performed. (a-b) Length distribution of viral reads for DCV infection in wt and CG4572^{-/-} flies. (c-d) Length distribution of reads for dsRNA against FHV (dsFHV) in wt and CG4572^{-/-} flies. (e) Slicing assay lysates of wt (left panel) and CG4572^{-/-} (right panel) embryos. Target RNA: Cap-labeled target RNA was incubated with control siRNA (lane 1, 180 min incubation) or specific siRNA (lane 2-8) and RNA was purified, separated on a polyacrylamide gel, and exposed to a film. Lane 2, 15 min incubation; lane 3, 30 min; lane 4, 45 min; lane 5, 60 min; lane 6, 90 min; lane 7, 120 min; lane 8, 180 min). No cleavage product was observed for the nonspecific control siRNA, whereas a specific cleavage product was observed for the specific siRNA (lane 2-8). Percentage cleavage is indicated at the bottom of the figure. The figure is representative for at least three experiments using independent embryo lysates.
а



CG4572 / Rab7-GFP

b

CG4572 / SARA-GFP

С

Supplementary Figure 5 Karlikow *et al.*

Supplementary Figure 5. CG4572 localizes *in vivo* in late endocytic compartments. (a) Immunofluorescence followed by confocal microscopy was performed on S2 *drosophila* cells. (b) Wing discs of L3 larvae expressing Rab-7-GFP (marker of late endosomes) or (c) SARA-GFP (marker of multivesicular bodies) were dissected, stained for CG4572 (in red) and imaged on a confocal microscope. Size bar represent 10 μ m.



Supplementary Figure 6. Validation steps on EVs collection procedure. (a) S2R+ (top panel) or S2R+ stable cell line expressing an endogenous hairpin against CG4572 (bottom panel) were analyzed by deep sequencing. Alignment of small RNAs reads on CG4572 CDS region. A miRNA specific for CG4572 were produced only in cells expressing the short hairpin against CG4572, as visualized by positive (red) and negative (blue) strands of the miRNA. The gray bars represent nucleotides without coverage. (b) Cell viability for cells used to purify EVs. (c) Purification by Optiprep discontinuous gradient of the vesicular fraction containing CG4572 protein. Different density fractions were analyzed by WB for the presence of CG4572 and FHV, which persistently infects S2R+ cells. (d) Electron microscopy on the Optiprep fraction that contains CG4572. (e) Percentage of reads for miRNA, transposons and viral siRNAs of 21 nts that were found in EVs, compared to the percentage present in S2R+ cells. (f) wt flies were injected with Tris, dsGFP (as unrelated control, green) or dsSin (blue) to verify that the immunization protocol was functional. *** p=0.0009. Statistical analysis was performed with Prism 6 software using a non-parametric Mann-Whitney test (n=12 for each condition).

CHAPTER 2

PART 2

Extracellular vesicles and their RNA content: High throughput sequencing analysis

Here, I present in detail the various information we obtained from analyses of the high throughput sequencing performed on the RNA content of extracellular vesicles. The results of the immunization experiment correlated to these analyses, provide clues on the nature of the immune signal during systemic antiviral RNAi.

8. SMALL RNA CONTENT OF EVs

8.1. EVs purified from cells that soaked on dsSin

EVs purified from S2R+ cells that soaked dsSin, were not able to immunize flies against SinV infection (Chapter 2, part 1). However, these EVs contained siRNAs produced from the dsSindbis fragments (Fig. 7a). These siRNAs mapped on the positive (red) and the negative (blue) strand of SinV, in the region of the genome corresponding to the dsRNA fragments used (Fig. 7b).

As mentioned previously, S2R+ cells are persistently infected with different viruses (DCV, DAV, ANV, DXV, CrPV, DBV, FHV). Interestingly, viral siRNAs corresponding to all these viruses were found inside EVs. As an example, I present in Fig 7c-d the size distribution of viral reads for DCV and their location on DCV genome.

Therefore, EVs are loaded with siRNAs (from soaked dsRNA) and with vsiRNAs (from persistent virus infection) and their incapacity to immunize flies is not due to an absence of siRNAs.



Figure 7. Deep-sequencing analysis of EVs purified after soaking of dsRNA into S2R+ cells. (a) Length and number of Sindbis RNA reads. (b) Alignment of 21 nts long Sindbis reads along Sindbis virus genome. (c) Length and number of DCV RNA reads. (d) Alignment of 21 nts long DCV reads along DCV virus genome. Positive strand small RNAs are presented in red and negative strand in blue. The gray bars represent nucleotides position without coverage.

8.2. EVs purified from cells infected with Sindbis virus

EVs purified from cells infected with SinV were able to immunize non-infected wt flies against further Sindbis infection. Surprisingly, these EVs did not contained vsiRNAs against Sindbis (Fig. 8a) as no clear peak at 21 nts was detected. A very low number of reads at 21 nts were mapped along Sindbis genome (Fig. 8b). However, those EVs contained vsiRNAs against all the other viruses persistently infecting S2R+ cells (i.e., DCV Fig. 8c-d).

The absence of SinV vsiRNAs, prompted us to search into other RNAs detected during deep sequencing of EVs.



Figure 8. Deep sequencing analysis of EVs purified after acute infection with Sindbis. (a) Length and number of Sindbis RNA reads. (b) Alignment of Sindbis 21 nts long reads along Sindbis virus genome. Regions corresponding to dsSin were extracted during analysis in order to avoid risk of cross-contamination (green rectangle). (c) Length and number of DCV RNA reads. (d) Alignment of DCV 21 nts long RNA reads along DCV virus genome. Positive strand small RNAs are presented in red and negative strand in blue. The gray bars represent nucleotides position without coverage.

9. LONG RNA CONTENT OF EVs

The small RNA deep sequencing protocol that we used, allows the sequencing of small RNAs from 18 up to 51 nts. Therefore, all RNAs of- or longer than- 51 nts would be detected as reads of 51 nts.

9.1. EVs purified from cells that soaked on dsSin

As seen in Figure 9a, two types of RNA molecules were detected in EVs that failed at immunize wt flies: siRNAs of 21 nts (see above and Fig 7a-b) and longer RNAs (peak at 51 nts) that were also perfectly double stranded (Fig. 9b). Those fragments of 51 nts localize at the same position than the dsSin the cells were soaked with (Fig. 9b) and are therefore fragments of dsSin. The same size distribution of viral reads was observed for DCV (Fig. 9c-d) with a peak at 21 nts and another at 51 nts, with reads mapping along DCV genome. The 51 nts long RNA fragments were almost entirely corresponding to the positive strand of DCV, and we assumed they represented products of viral degradation or abortive viral genomes.



Figure 9. EVs purified from cells that soaked on dsSindbis contain fragments of viral RNA. (a) Length and number of Sindbis RNA reads. (b) Alignment of Sindbis 51 nts long reads along Sindbis virus genome. (c) Length and number of DCV RNA reads. (d) Alignment of DCV 51 nts long RNA reads along DCV virus genome. Positive strand small RNAs are presented in red and negative strand in blue. The gray bars represent nucleotides position without coverage.

9.2. EVs purified from cells infected with Sindbis virus

As shown in Figure 8a-b, no vsiRNAs against Sindbis were detected during Sindbis infection of S2R+ cells, however, 51 nts fragments of viral RNA were detected and these reads aligned all over Sindbis genome (Fig. 10a-b). These reads corresponded only to the positive strand of SinV. As for DCV, the same results as for the precedent section were obtained: in addition of the vsiRNAs, a peak at 51 nts RNAs mostly corresponding to the positive strand of the virus was detected (Fig. 10c-d).



Figure 10. EVs purified after Sindbis acute infection contain fragment of viral RNA. (a) Length and number of Sindbis RNA reads. (b) Alignment of Sindbis 51 nts long reads along Sindbis virus genome. Regions corresponding to dsSin were extracted during analysis in order to avoid risk of cross-contamination (green rectangle). (c) Length and number of DCV RNA reads. (d) Alignment of DCV 51 nts long RNA reads along DCV virus genome. Positive strand small RNAs are presented in red and negative strand in blue. The gray bars represent nucleotides position without coverage.

The following points summarize the first part of the bioinformatics analysis:

- Only EVs purified from cells infected with SinV were able to immunize flies.
 - These EVs were depleted on vsiRNAs corresponding to SinV, but not in vsiRNAs corresponding to the viruses persistently infecting S2R+ cells.
 - These EVs were rich in viral fragments of at least 51 nts matching the genome of SinV (positive strand) or the genome of the persistent viruses.
- EVs purified from cells soaked with dsSin but not infected with SinV, failed to immunize flies.
 - These EVs were loaded with siRNAs from the dsRNA fragment that cells soaked, as well as vsiRNAs from the persistently infecting viruses.
 - These EVs were also loaded with viral fragments of at least 51 nts corresponding to the dsRNA fragment of the soaked dsRNA, or to the genome of the persistent viruses (positive strand).

This first part of the analysis strongly suggests that vsiRNAS are not the immune signal that is spreading but it appears that long RNA fragments are. We decided therefore to analyze the composition of long viral RNA fragments detected in the EVs.

10. QUANTIFICATION OF THE RNA CONTENT OF EVs

The immunization experiment developed in Chapter 2 part 1, used three types of EVs: *(i)* EVs purified from S2R+ cells soaked with dsGFP (Fig. 11, in green); *(ii)* EVs purified from S2R+ cells soaked with dsSin (Fig. 11, in blue); and *(iii)* EVs purified from S2R+ cells infected with SinV (Fig. 11, in pink).

We calculated for these three types of EVs, the percentage of different types of RNAs relative to the total number of reads of RNA that were sequenced and we plotted them (Figure 11). The RNA content for different RNA types was the same for the three different EV populations.

However, we knew that EVs content was not the reflection of the total cellular RNA. Indeed, EVs contained less than 1% of miRNA and transposons small RNAs, compared to their origin cells (that contained more than 10%). This observation, not only confirm the accuracy of our EVs purification protocol but also indicated that EVs were specifically enriched for viral small RNAs.



Figure 11. RNA composition of extracellular vesicles. Reads detected from three different EVs preparation were analyzed for the presence of miRNA reads, transposons small RNAs (FBti) reads, RNA transcripts (FBtr) reads, *Drosophila melanogaster* transcripts reads, viral RNA or other RNA. The amount of RNA is expressed as the log of the percentage of the total RNA per EVs.

As the RNA composition of EVs purified after dsGFP soaking was the same as the two others, we continued the analysis only with EVs purified after dsSin soaking (blue) and after Sindbis infection (pink). It is not clear why one type was able to immunize non-infected flies and the other type was not. To address this question, we analyzed the viral RNA composition of both EVs in more detail.



Figure 12. Viral RNA composition of extracellular vesicles. Viral RNA reads were separated as siRNA and other fragments of viral RNA (51 nts reads) matching for Sindbis or DCV virus. The amount of RNA is expressed as the percentage of the viral RNA per EVs.

Figure 12 shows that EVs from cells that soaked on dsSindbis (dsSin, blue) contained 5 times more vsiRNAs (26%) than EVs from cells infected with SinV (SinV, pink) (only 4.5%).

Inversely, EVs from cells that soaked on dsSindbis contained only 10% of 51 nts viral RNA fragments, in comparison to the 32% of viral RNA fragments found in EVs from cells infected with SinV.

We applied the same analysis to DCV reads, present in both EVs preparations. We detected a very similar composition in term of viral siRNAs and a difference, although much less drastic, in long viral RNAs of 51 nts length.

This analysis strongly suggests that siRNAs are not the immune signal that spread through EVs in a systemic manner during viral infection. It also indicates a non-dsRNA nature of the systemic immune signal in *Drosophila*. Taken together, the bioinformatics analyses point to long viral RNA fragments as the putative immune signal.

CHAPTER 2

PART 3

Drosophila cells use tunneling nanotubes to transport dsRNA and RNAi machinery between cells

Margot Karlikow, Christine Schmitt, Vanesa Mongelli, Susan Carpenter, Isabelle Bonne, Bertsy Goic, Chiara Zurzolo, Maria-Carla Saleh

In revision in Scientific Reports

Brief introduction to TNTs section

While studying CG4572 and Ago-2 interactions by confocal microscopy, I noticed a stream of positive dots for Ago-2 between cells (Fig 13). These dots did not attach to the substratum and therefore were not filopodia, and were positive for F-actin staining. As their aspect reminds to membranous tubular connections between cells, I decided to investigate these structures.



CG4572 / Ago2 / DAPI / Phalloidin

Figure 13. Stream of Ago-2 dots between cells. The intriguing structures are marked by arrows numbered 1 and 2. The (x-z) sections are shown below. Size bar is 5 μm.

Drosophila cells use tunneling nanotubes to transport dsRNA and RNAi machinery between cells

Margot Karlikow^{1,5}, Christine Schmitt², Vanesa Mongelli¹, Susan Carpenter^{1,4}, Isabelle Bonne², Bertsy Goic¹, Chiara Zurzolo³, Maria-Carla Saleh^{1*}

- 1- Institut Pasteur, Viruses and RNA interference, CNRS URM 3569, 75724 Paris Cedex 15, France.
- 2- Institut Pasteur, Platform of Ultra-structural microscopy, 75724 Paris Cedex 15, France.
- 3- Institut Pasteur, Membrane traffic and pathogenesis, 75724 Paris Cedex15, France.
- 4- Iowa State University, Ames, IA USA 50011
- 5- Sorbonne Universités, UPMC Université Paris VI, IFD, 4 Place Jussieu 75252 Paris Cedex 05, France.

Correspondence: carla.saleh@pasteur.fr (M.C.S.)

Summary

Tunneling nanotubes (TNTs) function as highways for the transport of organelles, cytosolic and membrane-bound molecules, and pathogens between cells. During viral infection in the model organism *Drosophila melanogaster*, a systemic RNAi antiviral response is established presumably through the transport of a silencing signal from one cell to another *via* an unknown mechanism. Because of their role in cell-cell communication, we investigated whether TNTs could be a mediator of the silencing signal. Here, we describe for the first time the presence of TNTs in different *Drosophila* cell types. TNTs associated with components of the RNAi machinery including Argonaute 2, dsRNA, and CG4572. Moreover, TNTs were more abundant during viral, but not bacterial, infection. Our results suggest that TNTs are one of the mechanisms by which the primed antiviral RNAi machinery is transported between infected and non-infected cells to trigger systemic antiviral immunity in *Drosophila*.

Highlights

- Tunneling nanotubes, a form of cell-cell communication, are present in Drosophila cells
- The RNAi machinery, dsRNA and viral proteins localize within tunneling nanotubes (TNTs)
- TNTs are more abundant during viral infection
- TNTs may facilitate cell-cell communication to establish a systemic antiviral response

Introduction

To establish systemic immunity and protect both the site of initial infection and the entire organism, all multicellular species have developed sophisticated ways to communicate immune signals. These signals must be disseminated between cells locally and throughout the organism to avoid pathogen propagation and establishment of the infection. Not long ago, it was proposed that mammalian immune cells (such as dendritic cells and macrophages) transmit signals to distant cells through a network of physically connected tunneling nanotubes (TNT)¹⁻⁴. TNTs were first described in rat neuro-derived cells⁵, and since then in a wide variety of mammalian cells where they act as a route for transport of cytosolic and membrane-bound molecules, organelles, and pathogens such as HIV⁶⁻¹⁰. Similar structures are widely observed. In higher plants, plasmodesmata (a structure composed of desmotubules)¹¹ are continuously lined by the plasma membrane allowing the transport of molecules such as nutrients, hormones, regulatory proteins, and RNA from one cell to another¹²⁻¹⁴. In bacteria, nanotubes bridge neighboring cells for exchange of molecules within and between species¹⁵. Filamentous connections that resemble nanotubes link gametes during malarial parasite reproduction in the mosquito midgut¹⁶. In *Drosophila*, cytonemes in the wing imaginal disc are a type of filopodia in which morphogen signaling proteins move between producing and target cells¹⁷⁻¹⁹.

Insects are well-known vectors of a variety of pathogens including viruses, bacteria, protozoa and nematodes²⁰. Although insect-borne viral diseases have been a threat to humans since recorded history, insect-virus interactions and mechanisms of insect antiviral immunity remain poorly characterized²¹. The discovery of RNA interference (RNAi) as the major antiviral immune mechanism in invertebrates²²⁻²⁵ has opened new avenues to understand insect immunity. RNAi refers to sequence-specific RNA-dependent silencing mechanisms^{26,27} that regulate various processes such as gene expression²⁸, epigenetic modifications²⁹ and defense against pathogens³⁰. Antiviral RNAi is naturally triggered by virus-derived double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) molecules. These long viral dsRNA molecules prompt the small-interfering RNA (siRNA) pathway²⁶, silencing both

viral dsRNA replicative intermediates as well as viral genomes³¹⁻³³.

The RNAi mechanism is described as either cell-autonomous or non-cellautonomous^{26,34}. In cell-autonomous RNAi, the silencing process is limited to the cell in which the dsRNA is introduced or expressed. In non-cell-autonomous RNAi, the interfering effect occurs in cells distinct from those where the dsRNA was produced. Non-cell-autonomous RNAi presumes that a silencing signal is transported from one cell to another via an unknown mechanism to establish antiviral systemic immunity^{35,36}.

Because of their role in cell-cell communication, we investigated whether membrane-tunneling nanotubes could be one of the mediators that connect *Drosophila* cells in order to establish a systemic RNAi-mediated antiviral immune response. We describe for the first time the presence of TNTs in different *Drosophila* cell types. The nanotubes were open-ended and were associated with components of the RNAi system including Argonaute 2, dsRNA, and CG4572. We postulate that the spread of the silencing signal in insects relies, among other cellular mechanisms, on TNT intercellular connections.

Results

Drosophila cells are connected to neighboring cells by membrane tunneling nanotubes

To test for the presence of membranous connections or nanotubes between cells, we established two stable *Drosophila* S2 cell lines: one expressing dsRed and the other eGFP, each under the control of an actin promoter. This allowed us to distinguish cell-cell connectors from remnants of incomplete cytokinesis events. Cells were mixed 1:1, adhered overnight on glass coverslips, fixed and analyzed by confocal microscopy. Membrane projections connecting cells were readily observed (Figure 1a-c). These projections could be half red/half green (Figure 1a, arrow), entirely red towards a green cell (Figure 1b, arrow) or entirely green towards a red cell (Figure 1c, arrow). The membrane projections contained F-actin, as evidenced by positive staining with fluorophore-conjugated phalloidin (Figure 1d). However, they were not attached to the substratum, which would be characteristic of filopodia. Together, these features are indicative of membrane tunneling nanotubes (TNT)³⁷. Similar membrane projections were identified in another *Drosophila* cell line, Kc167 (Supplementary Figure 1), suggesting that membrane bridges and TNTs may be a general feature in *Drosophila*.

To investigate the structure of these tubes, and to further confirm the confocal results, we performed scanning electron microscopy (SEM) and correlative microscopy on S2 cells. SEM revealed the presence of projections connecting neighboring cells (Figure 1e-f). Correlative microscopy indicated that these connections had the same features of TNT observed by confocal including non-adherence and the presence F-actin microscopy, of (Supplementary Figure 2)¹⁹. The average diameter of the TNTs was 250 nm (n=12), in agreement with the diameter already published^{2,5}. Neighboring cells were often connected by a single nanotube (Figure 1e); but multiple nanotube connections were also observed (Figure 1f). When cell contacts were examined at higher magnification, (Figure 1g and h), open connections to the cell surface were visible. Thus, while there remains a debate as to whether TNTs have open or closed ends^{5,10,37-39}, our data suggest that they could be open ended.



Figure 1: **Tunneling**nanotubes are present in Drosophila cells. Stable cell lines expressing eGFP or dsRed under the control of an actin promoter were mixed at a 1:1 ratio, grown overnight and examined by confocal microscopy (a, b and c). Cells were stained for F-actin using Phalloidin 647 Alexa-Fluor (d). Arrows indicate projections between cells and bars represent 5 µm. The inset in (d) depicts the corresponding (x-z)section through the marked TNT (arrow). Scanning electron microscopy of S2 cells showing projections between cells (e and f) as well as possible openended termini of TNTs (g and **h**).

Figure 1 Karlikow *et al*.

The RNAi machinery localizes within TNTs

To determine if the TNTs participate in RNAi signaling, we looked for the presence of RNAi markers in association with TNTs. We also looked for late endosomal vesicles described as essential for an effective RNAi response⁴⁰⁻⁴³. Rab7 (Figure 2a-c), a marker for late endosomes, and Ago2, the main actor of the antiviral RNAi response⁴⁴, were each detected in TNTs and could be observed localizing within the same tubule (Figure 2b, arrow and 2c). Following infection

with Flock house virus (FHV), Ago2, dsRNA (Figure 2d-f) and CG4572 (Figure 2g-i), a *Drosophila* protein that has been involved in the spread of the RNAi signal *in vivo*³⁶, localize within TNTs. These data support the hypothesis that TNTs play a role in cell-cell communication during the RNAi response.



Rab7 / Ago2 / DAPI / Phalloidin

dsRNA / Ago2 / DAPI / Phalloidin

CG4572 / Ago2 / DAPI / Phalloidin

Figure 2 Karlikow *et al*.

Figure 2: The RNAi machinery localizes in TNTs. Immunofluorescence and confocal microscopy in S2 cells. Cells were stained for F-actin using Phalloidin 647 Alexa-Fluor to show membrane continuity between connected cells (**a**, **d**, **g**). Rab7 and Ago-2 (**b**, **c**), dsRNA and Ago-2 (**e**, **f**) and CG4572 protein and Ago-2 (**h**, **i**) were detected in TNTs. DAPI is used to mark nuclei. The insets in (**b**, **e**, **h**) depict the corresponding (*x-z*) section through the marked TNT (arrow). Higher magnification images of TNTs (arrow) and RNAi proteins are shown in (**c**, **f**, **i**).

Virus infected cells show more abundant TNTs

To explore a possible role for TNTs in antiviral immunity, we then tested whether the abundance of TNTs changed in relation to the infection status of the cell. Non-infected S2 cells (S2n) or cells persistently infected with FHV (S2p) were adhered on coverslips for 12 hours and at least 1300 cells were examined by confocal microscopy as above. There was a significant increase in the number of TNT connections in virus-infected cells, with connections observed in 10.75% of S2p cells but in only 3.75% S2n cells (Figure 3a). Connections were found in 9.35% of S2R+ cells, another Drosophila cell line persistently infected with DAV, FHV and DXV (Figure 3a). TNT formation could be a consequence of stress due to infection rather than a means of cell-cell communication during viral infection. Therefore, we counted TNTs during infection of S2 cells with a bacterium *Erwinia* carotovora. As shown in Figure 3a, after 8 hours of bacterial infection, bacteriainfected cells display as many TNTs as non-infected cells (4.08% and 4.57% respectively, n>600). We then checked for the presence of viral proteins associated with the TNTs of infected cells using polyclonal antibodies generated against viral particles. Readily detectable levels of DCV (Figure 3b-c) and FHV (Figure 3d-e) capsid protein were present in TNTs together with CG4572, raising the possibility that TNTs are a mechanism for cell-cell spread of virus infection.



CG4572 / DCV / DAPI / Phalloidin

CG4572 / FHV / DAPI / Phalloidin

Figure 3 Karlikow *et al.*

Figure 3: TNTs are more abundant during viral infection. (a) Non-infected S2 cells (S2n), S2 cells persistently infected with either FHV (S2p), or with DAV, DXV and FHV (S2R+)), and S2 cells infected with bacteria (S2n Ecc15-GFP) were plated on glass coverslips overnight as described in Materials and Methods. Cells were stained for DAPI and Phalloidin, and TNTs were counted in at least 1000 cells per treatment group. Error bars indicate standard deviation. **p<0.005, ns: non-significant (non-parametric Mann-Whitney test). (**b** - **d**) Immunofluorescence during acute infection of S2 cells with DCV (**b**, **c**) or FHV (**d**, **e**). Cells were stained for CG4572 and viral capsid. DAPI and Phalloidin were used to mark nuclei and F-actin, respectively. The insets in (**b**, **d**) depict the corresponding (*x-z*) section through the marked TNT (arrow). Higher magnification images of TNTs (arrow), viral proteins and CG4572 are shown in (**c**, **e**).

Discussion

Intercellular communication must be highly selective and tightly regulated as it is essential for the survival of any organism. In recent years, cell-cell connections between animal cells including tunneling nanotubes and filopodia were discovered and proposed to allow the trafficking of cytoplasmic material⁵, the transmission of calcium signals⁴⁵, or pathogens^{10,46}. Here we identify TNTs in *Drosophila*, a model organism to study innate immunity, and we provide evidence that they also function in cell-cell communication in response to virus infection. *Drosophila* cells show TNTs that are positive for F-actin staining, are non-adherent, and are seemingly open-ended. The TNTs were found to contain components of the RNAi system, including Ago2, dsRNA, Rab7, and CG4572⁴².

In addition, they increased in abundance during virus infection and contained viral capsid proteins, some of which localized with components of the RNAi machinery. Together, this suggests a role for TNTs in establishing systemic RNAi anti-viral immunity.

Both insects and derived cell lines can survive in the presence of several viruses without any major fitness cost or cytotoxic response, the so-called persistent viral infection. The systemic RNAi response may facilitate the persistent state by limiting virus replication and cytotoxicity associated with spread of an acute virus infection⁴⁷. If so, cell-cell signaling of the antiviral response via TNTs may also play a role establishing viral persistence.

In 2011, Lopez-Montero et al.⁴⁸ observed that mosquito cells infected with an arbovirus (Bunyamwera virus) developed a complex network of filopodial-like bridges and proposed they could serve for virus propagation but most likely to spread protective signals between cells. Our results suggest that TNTs are one of the mechanisms by which the primed antiviral RNAi machinery is transported from a donor to an acceptor cell to trigger intracellular antiviral immunity in the latter. The presence of viral capsid protein associated with the TNTs raise the possibility that TNTs may also be a means of cell-to-cell spread of virus, similar to HIV^{10} .

The observation that TNTs are present in *Drosophila* S2 cells constitutes a powerful model to study biogenesis of TNTs and mechanisms of cell-cell communication. For example, while TNTs are widely thought to play a role in cell-cell communication, it remains controversial if they are open or closed-ended³⁷. We found evidence for open-ended tubes, yet it is not known if the RNAi components travel within the tubules, or on the surface of the tubules, and more studies are needed to resolve this question. Additionally, as *Drosophila* is a genetically tractable small animal susceptible to a number of natural virus infections, approaches could be developed to explore the relevance of TNTs for antiviral immunity *in vivo*, a question still pending in biology.

Experimental procedures

Cell culture:

Drosophila S2 cells (Schneider, 1972, invitrogen) were cultured at 25 °C in Schneider's *Drosophila* medium (invitrogen) supplemented with 10 % heat inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS, invitrogen), 2 mM glutamine (invitrogen), 100 $U.mL^{-1}$ penicillin and 100 µg.mL⁻¹ streptomycin (invitrogen).

Transfection and stable cell line establishment:

 1×10^7 cells were cotransfected with pAc5.1B-eGFP (plasmid #21181 from AddGene) or with pAc-dsRed (kindly provided by Dr F. Coumailleau) and pCoBlast vector (invitrogen) in a 19:1 ratio using Effectene reagent (Qiagen). Five days later, cells were selected by replacing Schneider's complete *Drosophila* media with fresh one supplemented with Blasticidin (25 µg.mL⁻¹, Euromedex). By 14 days later, 98% of cells expressed eGFP or dsRed protein.

Immunofluorescence:

Drosophila cells were cultured overnight (o/n) on coverslips at a concentration of 10⁶ cells/mL in complete Schneider's *Drosophila* medium, as described above. Cells were then fixed in paraformaldehyde diluted in PBS to 4% (PFA, Alfa Aesar) during 15 minutes (min) and washed two times in PBS for 5 min. Following the fixation step, permeabilization was done in PBS 0.1% Triton X-100 for 5 min three times. Cells were then incubated with primary antibodies in PBS-Triton supplemented with 3% FBS for at least 1 hour (hr) at RT (rabbit aFHV 1/500, rabbit aDCV 1/500, and mouse aCG4572 1/500 are three home-made antibodies, mouse anti-dsRNA aK1 1/1000 Scicons, rabbit aAgo2 1/500 Abcam or mouse aAgo2 1/100 kindly provided by Pr. Siomi and rabbit aRab7 1/2000 kindly provided by Pr. Nakamura). After three washes in PBS-Triton, cells were incubated with secondary antibody (Alexa-Fluor 1/1000, invitrogen), DAPI (1/10.000, life technologies) and Phalloidin-647 (Alexa-Fluor 1/200, invitrogen) diluted in PBS-Triton with 3% FBS for 1 hr at RT. Cells were washed two times in PBS-Triton for 5 min, once in PBS and finally mounted on glass slide with Fluoromount G (eBioscience) and imaged with a confocal microscope LSM 700

inverted (Zeiss) at a 63X magnification oil immersion lens. Brightness and color balance in some images have been changed only in order to increase visibility of TNTs. Confocal stacks were reconstructed with Huygens Professional software (SVI).

Virus and bacteria infections:

Drosophila S2 cells were cultured on glass coverslip as previously described, during an o/n acute infection for DCV (1 M.O.I.) or FHV (1 M.O.I.). The next day, cells where harvested, washed, fixed, and immunofluorescence was performed. For persistently infected cells with DCV or FHV, cells were grown as described and IF was performed. For bacteria infections, Drosophila S2 cells were washed twice (5 min at 500 rpm) with Schneider media without antibiotics and plated on glass-coverslips at 5x10⁵ per well o/n at 25°C. Bacterium Erwinia carotovora carotovora 15 (Ecc15-GFP) (kindly provided by B. Lemaitre, ⁴⁹) was grown o/n at 29°C in LB supplemented with Rifampicin. The next day, bacteria were washed twice in PBS (5 min at 1000 rpm) and incubated on the glass-coverslip plated S2 cells at 250.000 bacteria/well ($OD_{600}=0,3=1\times10^8$ cell/mL) for 45 min at 25°C. When adding bacteria on cells, a short spin (1 min at 3000 rpm) was performed for bacteria to sit on the cells. After 45 min of incubation, the bacteria-containing media was removed and replace with fresh Schneider media without antibiotics. Drosophila S2 cells infected with Ecc15-GFP were harvested at 8 hours post infection, fixed in PFA 4%, stained for DAPI and Phalloidin, and TNTs were counted as described above.

Correlative microscopy: CLEM-SEM

Cells were first imaged by fluorescence microscopy on an alphanumeric coded, grid-patterned glass (MatTek dishes). Samples were fixed in 2.5 % glutaraldehyde in 0.1 M cacodylate buffer (pH 7.2) o/n at 4 °C, then washed in 0.2 M cacodylate buffer (pH 7.2), postfixed for 1 hr in 1 % osmium and rinsed with distilled water. Cells were dehydrated through a graded ethanol series followed by critical point drying with CO₂. Dried specimens were gold/palladium sputter-coated with a gun ionic evaporator PEC 682. The samples are imaged in a JEOL

JSM 6700F field emission scanning electron microscope operating at 5 kV.

Author contributions: Conceived and designed the experiments: M.K, V.M., B.G., C.Z. and M.C.S. Performed the experiments: M.K., C.S. and V.M. Analyzed the data: M.K, C.S., V.M., I.B., C.Z., B.G. and M.C.S. Wrote the paper: M.K., S.C. and M.C.S.

Acknowledgements:

We thank members of the Saleh lab and M. Vignuzzi for critical reading of the manuscript; S. Abounit for advice on TNTs; Pr A. Nakamura (RIKEN Center for Developmental Biology, Japan) for antibody to Rab7; Pr H. Siomi (Keio University School of Medicine, Japan) for Ago-2 antibody and F. Coumailleau for dsRed plasmid. This work was supported by the French Agence Nationale de la Recherche (ANR-09-JCJC-0045-01), the European Research Council (FP7/2007-2013 ERC StG 242703 and FP7/2013-2019 ERC CoG 615220) and the LabEx IBEID (Integrative Biology of Emerging Infectious Diseases) program to M.C.S.

References

- 1 Onfelt, B. & Davis, D. M. Can membrane nanotubes facilitate communication between immune cells? *Biochemical Society transactions* **32**, 676-678, doi:10.1042/BST0320676 (2004).
- 2 Onfelt, B. *et al.* Structurally distinct membrane nanotubes between human macrophages support long-distance vesicular traffic or surfing of bacteria. *J Immunol* **177**, 8476-8483 (2006).
- 3 Onfelt, B., Nedvetzki, S., Yanagi, K. & Davis, D. M. Cutting edge: Membrane nanotubes connect immune cells. *J Immunol* **173**, 1511-1513 (2004).
- 4 Watkins, S. C. & Salter, R. D. Functional connectivity between immune cells mediated by tunneling nanotubules. *Immunity* **23**, 309-318, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2005.08.009 (2005).
- 5 Rustom, A., Saffrich, R., Markovic, I., Walther, P. & Gerdes, H. H. Nanotubular highways for intercellular organelle transport. *Science* **303**, 1007-1010, doi:10.1126/science.1093133 (2004).
- 6 Bukoreshtliev, N. V. *et al.* Selective block of tunneling nanotube (TNT) formation inhibits intercellular organelle transfer between PC12 cells. *FEBS letters* **583**, 1481-1488, doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2009.03.065 (2009).
- 7 Eugenin, E. A., Gaskill, P. J. & Berman, J. W. Tunneling nanotubes (TNT) are induced by HIV-infection of macrophages: a potential mechanism for intercellular HIV trafficking. *Cellular immunology* **254**, 142-148, doi:10.1016/j.cellimm.2008.08.005 (2009).
- 8 Gerdes, H. H. & Carvalho, R. N. Intercellular transfer mediated by tunneling nanotubes. *Current opinion in cell biology* **20**, 470-475, doi:10.1016/j.ceb.2008.03.005 (2008).
- 9 Marzo, L., Gousset, K. & Zurzolo, C. Multifaceted roles of tunneling nanotubes in intercellular communication. *Frontiers in physiology* **3**, 72, doi:10.3389/fphys.2012.00072 (2012).
- 10 Sowinski, S. *et al.* Membrane nanotubes physically connect T cells over long distances presenting a novel route for HIV-1 transmission. *Nature cell biology* **10**, 211-219, doi:10.1038/ncb1682 (2008).
- 11 Delage, E. & Zurzolo, C. Exploring the role of lipids in intercellular conduits: breakthroughs in the pipeline. *Frontiers in plant science* **4**, 504, doi:10.3389/fpls.2013.00504 (2013).
- 12 Cilia, M. L. & Jackson, D. Plasmodesmata form and function. *Current opinion in cell biology* **16**, 500-506, doi:10.1016/j.ceb.2004.08.002 (2004).
- 13 Epel, B. L. Plasmodesmata: composition, structure and trafficking. *Plant molecular biology* **26**, 1343-1356 (1994).
- 14 Kim, J. Y. Regulation of short-distance transport of RNA and protein. *Current opinion in plant biology* **8**, 45-52, doi:10.1016/j.pbi.2004.11.005 (2005).
- 15 Dubey, G. P. & Ben-Yehuda, S. Intercellular nanotubes mediate bacterial communication. *Cell* **144**, 590-600, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.01.015 (2011).
- 16 Rupp, I. *et al.* Malaria parasites form filamentous cell-to-cell connections during reproduction in the mosquito midgut. *Cell research* **21**, 683-696, doi:10.1038/cr.2010.176 (2011).
- 17 Ramirez-Weber, F. A. & Kornberg, T. B. Cytonemes: cellular processes that project to the principal signaling center in Drosophila imaginal discs. *Cell* **97**, 599-607 (1999).
- 18 Roy, S., Hsiung, F. & Kornberg, T. B. Specificity of Drosophila cytonemes for distinct signaling pathways. *Science* **332**, 354-358, doi:10.1126/science.1198949 (2011).

- 19 Sherer, N. M. & Mothes, W. Cytonemes and tunneling nanotubules in cell-cell communication and viral pathogenesis. *Trends in cell biology* **18**, 414-420, doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2008.07.003 (2008).
- 20 Purcell, A. H. & Almeida, R. P. P. Insects as Vectors of Disease Agents. *Encyclopedia of Plant and Crop Science*, doi:10.1081/E-EPCS-120010496 (2005).
- 21 in Vector-Borne Diseases: Understanding the Environmental, Human Health, and Ecological Connections, Workshop Summary The National Academies Collection: Reports funded by National Institutes of Health (2008).
- 22 Galiana-Arnoux, D., Dostert, C., Schneemann, A., Hoffmann, J. A. & Imler, J. L. Essential function in vivo for Dicer-2 in host defense against RNA viruses in drosophila. *Nature immunology* **7**, 590-597, doi:10.1038/ni1335 (2006).
- 23 van Rij, R. P. *et al.* The RNA silencing endonuclease Argonaute 2 mediates specific antiviral immunity in Drosophila melanogaster. *Genes & development* **20**, 2985-2995, doi:10.1101/gad.1482006 (2006).
- 24 Wang, X. H. *et al.* RNA interference directs innate immunity against viruses in adult Drosophila. *Science* **312**, 452-454, doi:10.1126/science.1125694 (2006).
- Zambon, R. A., Vakharia, V. N. & Wu, L. P. RNAi is an antiviral immune response against a dsRNA virus in Drosophila melanogaster. *Cellular microbiology* 8, 880-889, doi:10.1111/j.1462-5822.2006.00688.x (2006).
- 26 Fire, A. *et al.* Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Nature* **391**, 806-811, doi:10.1038/35888 (1998).
- 27 Ratcliff, F., Harrison, B. D. & Baulcombe, D. C. A similarity between viral defense and gene silencing in plants. *Science* **276**, 1558-1560 (1997).
- 28 Valencia-Sanchez, M. A., Liu, J., Hannon, G. J. & Parker, R. Control of translation and mRNA degradation by miRNAs and siRNAs. *Genes & development* 20, 515-524, doi:10.1101/gad.1399806 (2006).
- Hall, I. M. *et al.* Establishment and maintenance of a heterochromatin domain. *Science* 297, 2232-2237, doi:10.1126/science.1076466 (2002).
- 30 Chung, W. J., Okamura, K., Martin, R. & Lai, E. C. Endogenous RNA interference provides a somatic defense against Drosophila transposons. *Current biology : CB* **18**, 795-802, doi:10.1016/j.cub.2008.05.006 (2008).
- 31 Flynt, A., Liu, N., Martin, R. & Lai, E. C. Dicing of viral replication intermediates during silencing of latent Drosophila viruses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **106**, 5270-5275, doi:10.1073/pnas.0813412106 (2009).
- 32 Myles, K. M., Morazzani, E. M. & Adelman, Z. N. Origins of alphavirus-derived small RNAs in mosquitoes. *RNA biology* **6**, 387-391 (2009).
- 33 Siu, R. W. *et al.* Antiviral RNA interference responses induced by Semliki Forest virus infection of mosquito cells: characterization, origin, and frequency-dependent functions of virus-derived small interfering RNAs. *Journal of virology* **85**, 2907-2917, doi:10.1128/JVI.02052-10 (2011).
- 34 Voinnet, O. & Baulcombe, D. C. Systemic signalling in gene silencing. *Nature* **389**, 553, doi:10.1038/39215 (1997).
- 35 Attarzadeh-Yazdi, G. *et al.* Cell-to-cell spread of the RNA interference response suppresses Semliki Forest virus (SFV) infection of mosquito cell cultures and cannot be antagonized by SFV. *Journal of virology* **83**, 5735-5748, doi:10.1128/JVI.02440-08 (2009).
- 36 Saleh, M. C. *et al.* Antiviral immunity in Drosophila requires systemic RNA interference spread. *Nature* **458**, 346-350, doi:10.1038/nature07712 (2009).
- 37 Abounit, S. & Zurzolo, C. Wiring through tunneling nanotubes--from electrical signals to organelle transfer. *Journal of cell science* **125**, 1089-1098, doi:10.1242/jcs.083279 (2012).

- 38 Davis, D. M. & Sowinski, S. Membrane nanotubes: dynamic long-distance connections between animal cells. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology* **9**, 431-436, doi:10.1038/nrm2399 (2008).
- 39 Miyazawa, K., Emmerling, K. & Manuelidis, L. Proliferative arrest of neural cells induces prion protein synthesis, nanotube formation, and cell-to-cell contacts. *Journal of cellular biochemistry* **111**, 239-247, doi:10.1002/jcb.22723 (2010).
- 40 Harris, D. A., Kim, K., Nakahara, K., Vasquez-Doorman, C. & Carthew, R. W. Cargo sorting to lysosome-related organelles regulates siRNA-mediated gene silencing. *The Journal of cell biology* **194**, 77-87, doi:10.1083/jcb.201102021 (2011).
- 41 Lee, Y. S. *et al.* Silencing by small RNAs is linked to endosomal trafficking. *Nature cell biology* **11**, 1150-1156, doi:10.1038/ncb1930 (2009).
- 42 Saleh, M. C. *et al.* The endocytic pathway mediates cell entry of dsRNA to induce RNAi silencing. *Nature cell biology* **8**, 793-802, doi:10.1038/ncb1439 (2006).
- 43 Ulvila, J. *et al.* Double-stranded RNA is internalized by scavenger receptor-mediated endocytosis in Drosophila S2 cells. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **281**, 14370-14375, doi:10.1074/jbc.M513868200 (2006).
- 44 Hammond, S. M., Boettcher, S., Caudy, A. A., Kobayashi, R. & Hannon, G. J. Argonaute2, a link between genetic and biochemical analyses of RNAi. *Science* **293**, 1146-1150, doi:10.1126/science.1064023 (2001).
- 45 Smith, I. F., Shuai, J. & Parker, I. Active generation and propagation of Ca2+ signals within tunneling membrane nanotubes. *Biophysical journal* **100**, L37-39, doi:10.1016/j.bpj.2011.03.007 (2011).
- 46 Gousset, K. *et al.* Prions hijack tunnelling nanotubes for intercellular spread. *Nature cell biology* **11**, 328-336, doi:10.1038/ncb1841 (2009).
- 47 Goic, B. *et al.* RNA-mediated interference and reverse transcription control the persistence of RNA viruses in the insect model Drosophila. *Nature immunology* **14**, 396-403, doi:10.1038/ni.2542 (2013).
- 48 Lopez-Montero, N. & Risco, C. Self-protection and survival of arbovirus-infected mosquito cells. *Cellular microbiology* **13**, 300-315, doi:10.1111/j.1462-5822.2010.01536.x (2011).
- 49 Basset, A. *et al.* The phytopathogenic bacteria Erwinia carotovora infects Drosophila and activates an immune response. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **97**, 3376-3381, doi:10.1073/pnas.070357597 (2000).



DAPI / Phalloidin

Supplementary Figure S1:

Tunneling-nanotubes are present in Drosophila Kc167 cells. Immunofluorescence and confocal microscopy. Cells were stained for F-actin using Phalloidin 647 Alexa-Fluor to show membrane continuity between connected cells. DAPI is used to mark nuclei.

Supplementary Figure S1 Karlikow *et al.*



Supplementary Figure S2:

Correlative microscopy of TNTs. S2 cells were grown overnight on an alphanumeric coded, grid-patterned glass and imaged for Ago2-containing TNTs in confocal microscopy (red square). The alphanumeric code allowed localization, and scanning electron microscopy was performed on the exact same cells.

Supplementary Figure S2 Karlikow *et al.*

CHAPTER 3

DISCUSSION & PERSPECTIVES

General Discussion

The model proposed by Saleh and colleagues in 2009⁷⁶, satisfactorily explained how the immune signal could travel in the insect to confer protection against a lytic virus infection: when cells are lysed, viral dsRNAs will be released in the extracellular compartments. From there, viral dsRNA will spread and be taken up at distal sites of the infection¹⁰⁸. However, this model fell short to explain how systemic immunity could be reached in the case of non-lytic viruses.

My work shed light on this complex mechanism by highlighting two nonexclusive mechanisms of spread:

1- the role of DORA-positive EVs in the communication of the immune signal during infection. Indeed, the immunization experiment with DORA-positive EVs loaded with viral fragments showed an efficient protection of wild type flies against viral infection. It seems then that EVs containing the immune signal would be secreted from infected cells and internalized by non-infected cells to set-up the antiviral response in a DORA-dependent manner.

2- the discovery that TNTs in *Drosophila* cells contain Ago-2, dsRNA and DORA. TNTs were more abundant during viral infection, suggesting that those structures may be involved in the transmission of the immune signal from a donor-infected cell to a target non-infected cell.

The results obtained during my PhD emphasize the notion that systemic antiviral RNAi rely on several mechanisms, depending on virus infection type (lytic *vs.* non-lytic), viral replication localization, presence or absence of host proteins, etc. Systemic antiviral RNAi could then be set by free dsRNA as well as by EVs loaded with the immune signal and/or TNTs that transport the same or a different signal.

However, several questions remained unanswered and I will discuss them below.

General Discussion

11. CG4572 / DORA PROTEIN

During my PhD I showed that *Drosophila* DORA protein interacts with core components of the RNAi machinery (Ago-2 and dFMR1 protein), localizes in late endocytic compartments and is involved in immunization process through extracellular vesicles containing fragments of viral RNAs. Additional experiments could shed light on other aspects of the protein characterization, and its general function in the cell.

11.1. Concerning DORA protein characterization

DORA protein is produced from a single mRNA that, when translated, code for a two-form protein with a serine carboxypeptidase domain characterized by a catalytic triad S217, D403 and H460. It would be interesting to study if the serine carboxypeptidase domain of DORA is involved in its antiviral function. Using sitedirected mutagenesis, we produced plasmids were the catalytic triad was mutated at a single, two, or at the three positions of the catalytic triad. By lack of time, I could not perform experiments with these plasmids. However, the transfection of these plasmids in cells depleted for DORA could answer two questions: (i) How are the two forms of DORA produced? By an endo-proteolytic cleavage involving the catalytic triad? In this case, mutating the triad would impair the formation of both forms. Or by the action of another protease? In this case, mutations of the catalytic triad would not impair the formation of both forms of the protein. (ii) Which form of DORA is involved in the antiviral function of the protein? Is it the full-length protein of 54 kDa or the short form of 30 kDa that is active in this process? To answer this question I developed, in an ongoing collaboration with ESPCI ParisTech (Ecole Supérieure de Physique et Chimie Industrielle de la ville de Paris), a protocol based on N-terminal peptide labeling, in order to find the precise position of the first amino acid of the 30 kDa form. The identity of the Nterminus of the 30 kDa form, will allow us to clone both forms of DORA and to perform rescue experiment in cells depleted for DORA. Even more interesting,

rescue experiments could be performed by introducing the short, or the long form that cannot be cleaved into deficient flies for DORA. Viral titers on flies expressing the long or the short form of DORA will be measured following viral infection. In this way, the involvement of the long form, the short form, or both forms of DORA on the antiviral response can be addressed.

The localization of DORA has been assessed with the help of *in vitro* and *in vivo* techniques. I did test not only markers for late endosomes (Rab7) and MVBs (SARA), but also for early endosomes (Rab5); for recycling endosomes (Rab4 and Rab11); for P-Bodies (DmMe31B); and for lysosomes (Lamp-1). None of them, except for SARA and Rab7, showed clear localization with DORA. However, endosomal compartments are highly changing vesicles, and I believe that a determination of a strict localization of DORA with a unique marker of the endocytic pathway could be a task difficult to accomplish. However, performing immunogold labeling electron microscopy with DORA could help to further confirm the subcellular localization observed for this protein.

11.2. Concerning DORA role in the antiviral response

11.2.1. DORA virus-specificity

The siRNA pathway exerts broad antiviral activity and affects both RNA and DNA viruses. Thus, we were quite surprised by the hypersensitivity of DORA deficient flies only to non-enveloped positive-stranded RNA viruses (Chapter 2, part 1).

Therefore we sought of DORA as a viral restriction factor, like Pastrel¹⁸⁰ or Ars2¹⁸¹, as their action is virus dependent. However, overexpression of DORA in S2 cells followed by virus infection did not produce a detectable reduction on viral loads in the supernatant, ruling out this hypothesis.

A common characteristic of the viruses that DORA deficient flies are hypersensitive to (CrPV, DCV and FHV), is that each of them has a viral suppressor of RNAi (VSR) (described in Box 1 and 2 of the introduction). I hypothesized then, that DORA was interacting with VSRs, but it was quite unlikely that a unique protein could prevent the function of these three VSRs that act very differently on RNAi. This hypothesis was also tampered with the experiment of overexpression of DORA. Moreover, DXV also encode for a VSR, the Vp3 protein that binds long and short viral dsRNAs, and the presence or the absence of DORA did not seem to affect the antiviral response against this virus.

Another common point I was able to find, only for CrPV, DCV and FHV, was that their replication occurs in viral factories. Viral factories are inclusions of membranes in the cytoplasm of infected cells, where viruses replicated while being shield from the host defense. One could hypothesize that if viral factories are included in endosomal membranes, as DORA localizes in these compartments, the physical proximity between viruses and DORA would explain the virus specificity observed. Whether DORA is involved in the destabilization of viral factories allowing the RNAi machinery to access viral dsRNA deserves further exploration.

11.2.2. DORA cellular function

My research showed that DORA was found in EVs carrying an antiviral immune signal. Preliminary data strongly suggest that DORA presence is mandatory to confer a significant immunization to non-infected flies. But what the main function of DORA is, remains a relevant question. Several scenarios can be proposed:

- DORA acts at the secretion level. If that is the case, in the absence of DORA the signal could be retained into the cells. Alternatively, the immune signal could not be loaded in EVs when DORA is not expressed.
- DORA is involved in the internalization of secreted EVs. If that is the case, in the absence of DORA the signal cannot be internalized at distal sites of infection and/or cannot reach the RNAi core machinery to be processed.

An interesting observation that can help us to understand the role of DORA was made during purification of EVs. When EVs were purified from cells depleted for DORA, fewer EVs were detectable by comparison with EVs from DORA-
General Discussion

expressing S2 cells. Dynamic light scattering (DLS) measurements of DORAdepleted EV samples, consistently showed different plots, suggesting a sample poor in components. This observation, together with the reduced Ago-2 slicing activity observed in DORA deficient flies (Chapter 2, part 1) are interesting leads into DORA function. As Ago-2 and DORA localize in late endocytic compartments, I propose that the absence of DORA impairs the normal turnover of MVBs. In this way, MVBs would secret less EVs that would not be sufficient to efficiently immunize flies. It is also possible that the loading of EVs with fragments of viral RNAs is impaired in cells depleted for DORA. In this situation, even if EVs are correctly secreted from cells, they are not carrying the immune signal to distal sites (Fig. 14, left panel). RNA high throughput sequencing of EVs purified from cells depleted for DORA would much probably help to answer this question.

Another important consideration when seeking for DORA function, is the nature of the RNA molecules loaded in DORA-positive EVs. The bibliography in organisms that use RNAi as antiviral response, such as plants, worms, and mosquitos, places vsiRNAs at the foundation of the specific antiviral response. And even if I was able to detect siRNAs in EVs from cells that soaked dsSin, these EVs were unable to immunize wt flies. DORA-positive EVs that contained fragments of viral RNA, immunized flies against a further related infection. As there is increasing evidence that exosomes in mammals can be taken up by other cells types^{128,129,182}, it is tempting to speculate that these fragments of viral RNAs inside EVs, are able to enter distal cells and reach the RNAi core machinery. Because the immunization was lost in the absence of DORA, the mechanism could rely on DORA, as the protein being responsible for the uptake of EVs at distal site (Fig. 14, right panel). However, as EVs containing siRNAs against SinV were unable to immunize flies, it is more likely that DORA is involved at the infection site impairing the release of EVs, the loading of their cargoes or both, rather than on the docking of EVs in uninfected cells. It is worth mentioning that from an experimental point of view, some improvements could be done to obtain purified EVs (see footnote¹) that will be used to confirm all the previous results.

¹ As S2R+ cells are persistently infected with a wide array of viruses, to optimize the separation of viruses from EVs, I pelleted the supernatant over an Optiprep gradient.



Figure 14. Different alternatives for the role of DORA. <u>Option 1</u> considers DORA at the infection site. EVs secreted from cells expressing DORA protein (upper cell) are loaded with the immune signal and are able to immunize. Cells depleted for DORA (bottom cell) could still release EVs but to a lesser extent, and those EVs failed in loading with the immune signal. <u>Option 2</u> considers DORA at a distal site of infection. DORA-positive EVs loaded with the immune signal are able to dock on the target cell, allowing immunization. In the absence of DORA, EVs would not be internalized into the target cell, hindering the immunization process.

However, as DORA belongs to EVs, a flotation experiment where EVs go to the top of the gradient (less density) and not to the bottom should be performed. In this way EVs would be readily separate from non-enveloped viruses (at the bottom of the gradient). The only set back for this new approach, is that Sindbis virus is an enveloped virus and although its density should not exactly correspond to EVs density, there is a risk of contamination of the EVs fraction with Sindbis virus. Therefore, in order to confirm my results, I will purify EVs using floatation and a non-enveloped virus such as DCV. This approach will be further developed in the second part of the discussion.

As for the name I chose for this protein, I hesitated between Spondophorin and DORA. The first one comes from antic Greek where Spondophores were travelling all over the country to announce the holy truce during the Olympic game. I wanted to do a parallel with CG4572 that is travelling at distal site of the infection to alert cells and help them to mount an antiviral response. Finally I chose DORA, as she is a very well known explorer (Dora the Explorer).

11.3. Concerning DORA and TNTs

During my PhD I discovered another new route for the RNAi machinery to spread and potentially transmit an immune signal: tunneling nanotubes (TNTs). Since their discovery¹⁴⁵ TNTs were well characterized for the dissemination of molecules, organelles and also viruses^{149,150,183-185}. Here we showed that the nanotubes were associated with components of the RNAi machinery including Ago-2, dsRNA, and DORA. We postulated that the spread of the silencing signal in insects relies, among other cellular mechanisms, on TNT intercellular connections. Two major interrogations however remain: whether transfer occurs in these TNTs and how to address the exact role of TNTs during viral infection.

For the transfer issue, live-microscopy experiments would be the best way to answer this question. Alternatively, we could address the transport of color dyes (such as Dil and DiO stains) between cell lines expressing GFP and dsRed. If the color dye is found in TNTs structures between red and green cells, transfer could be assumed.

As for the function of TNTs during viral infection, the depletion of these structures could help us. If we imagine this experiment, the TNTs detected in infected *Drosophila* cells could be serving three purposes: 1- allowing viral transmission, as is the case for HIV-1¹⁵⁰. In this case, the disruption of TNTs during infection should result in a lower viral titer in cell culture; 2- allowing the components of the RNAi machinery and its related vesicles (Ago-2, dsRNA, DORA and Rab7) to be transported in between cells in order to generate an intracellular immunity in uninfected cells. In this case, the disruption of TNTs should result in higher viral titers; 3- allowing virus transmission as well as the

transport of the RNAi machinery to the receptor cell that will set up an infection and an antiviral response. In this case, disruption of TNTs should not modify viral titers.

But at present, it remains unfeasible to investigate into these hypotheses that would require the disruption of TNTs during viral infection. The only method described to disrupt TNTs is to inhibit actin polymerization by latrunculins A and B. However, the disruption of actin polymerization strongly affects intra- and intercellular movement of viruses such as entry and budding¹⁸⁶ therefore precluding its utilization and leaving us, for the moment being, at the speculation level.

12. NATURE OF THE IMMUNE SIGNAL

The different results obtained while searching for DORA function, give us hints on the nature of the immune signal during systemic RNAi in *Drosophila*. Most of the information comes from the small RNA sequencing of EVs (Chapter 2, part 2) and from the immunization protocol I developed using EVs (Chapter 2, part 1).

Interestingly, canonical viral siRNAs corresponding to all the viruses that persistently infect S2R+ cells were present in EVs. One could then hypothesize that the loading of EVs is non-specific. However, cellular small RNAs, such as miRNAs and transposons small RNAs, were almost totally excluded from EVs, suggesting that loading of small RNAs into EVs is a specific process for viral RNAs.

During the immunization experiment, EVs containing siRNAs from the processing of the dsSin, were not able to immunize against an ulterior SinV infection. Perfect dsRNA fragments (>51 nts) from the same precursor (dsSin) were also detected inside EVs (Fig. 7 and Fig. 9) but also failed to confer protection. Even though it is possible that the amount of siRNAs contained in EVs is just not enough to trigger a systemic immunization, these results strongly suggest that dsRNA molecules are not the primary antiviral signal that spread

General Discussion

during infection. Confirming this observation, when S2R+ cells were acutely infected with SinV, EVs were loaded specifically with SinV RNA fragments (positive strand only, Fig 8 and Fig. 10) but not with SinV siRNAs or dsRNAs. These EVs were capable of conferring protection to non-infected flies.

What is then the process by which EVs loaded with viral RNA fragments can transfer antiviral immunity to target cells or tissues?

The most evident way to answer this question is the presence of secondary structures (intramolecular base-pairing structures) inherent to any long RNA molecules. When EVs reach the target cell and the cargo is released, the fragments of RNA presenting dsRNA-like secondary structures could be recognized by Dicer-2 and processed into viral siRNAs of 21 nts long, triggering the antiviral response. In strong support of this idea, in the laboratory was observed that flies inoculated with the genomic RNA of Sindbis virus mutated in the polymerase (unable to replicate), were immunized against SinV infection (Juan A. Mondotte, personal communication). This suggests that the secondary structures on the genomic RNA of SinV constitute the immune signal that will trigger the antiviral RNAi response.

Nevertheless, it is important to consider what would happen if the purification of EVs that I performed was not selective enough to separate SinV from the EVs fraction. Would it be possible that the remaining virus is enough to trigger the protection when EVs are transferred to non-infected cells? Is this protection observed independently of the content of EVs? As mentioned above, a new protocol for purification of EVs will be applied and I will be able to answer this question. However, it has been published¹⁸⁷ that inoculation of wild type flies with a small dose of DCV, was not able to immunize the same flies against a second infection. Therefore, we could assume that the traces of SinV (if any) present in EVs preparation would not be enough to trigger the EVs-mediated protection we observed.

To further discard (or confirm) a possible role of vsiRNAs on the spread of the immune signal, it would be interesting to perform the EVs immunization protocol on Dcr-2^{-/-} flies. In this case, if the signal transported in EVs is vsiRNAs, Dcr-2^{-/-} flies should be protected. On the contrary, if the signal is dsRNA, or fragments of

viral RNAs containing secondary structures, vsiRNAs from these precursors could not be produced due to the lack of Dicer-2 and immunization would fail.

Finally, I find important to understand if the protection mediated by EVs occurs only during acute- or also during persistent- infections. To answer this question, I will develop a stable cell line in non-infected *drosophila* S2 cells that are depleted for DORA protein. Then I will compare EVs secreted from DORA-positive S2 cells and DORA-depleted cells in three conditions: *(i)* after soaking of dsDCV, *(ii)* after acute infection with DCV, *(iii)* during persistent infection with the same virus. EVs immunization protocol associated with RNA high throughput sequencing on EV content will help answer if EVs participate in protection during persistent and/or acute infection.

Taken together all my results and the different considerations discussed, I propose the following model for the systemic spread of an antiviral signal during infection (Fig 15). When a cell is infected with a virus, viral dsRNA molecules trigger the cell-autonomous antiviral response and, as a consequence, viral siRNAs (21 nts long) are produced. These cells, completely overwhelmed by the burden of viral replication, produce high amounts of viral RNAs but also fragments of viral RNA as result of degradation products, abortive transcripts, incomplete viral genomes, etc. Through EVs and/or TNTs, viral RNAs fragments (> 51 nts) with secondary structures and/or dsRNA molecules are sent to distal sites, where they are recognized and processed by the RNAi machinery setting-up an antiviral systemic response.

Model for the systemic spread of an antiviral immune signal



Figure 15. Model for the systemic spread of the antiviral immune signal. From the infected cell (1) EVs containing fragments of viral RNA and DORA could be released out of the cells and take up by non-infected cell. (2) During viral infection TNTs will increase in number and allow molecules such as Ago-2, DORA and dsRNA to spread to non-infected cells. By both mechanisms non-infected cell will be immune-primed and will efficiently control the incoming viral infection.

Perspectives

I believe that the research I performed on DORA protein and TNTs unveil important information on the nature of the antiviral signal, and on the mechanisms by which this immune signal propagates in insects. This information will have great impact to manipulate and enhance the control of viral replication in invertebrates, and as a consequence, the control of viral transmission from insects to mammals, to plants...

In recent years, different alternatives have been employed to eradicate vector mosquitoes, like pesticide vaporization and genetically modified mosquitoes. But each of them have sequentially failed due to negative ecological impact, development of pesticides resistance by mosquito or a quickly outcompetition of introduced genetic modified mosquitoes by the natural population. It would be then interesting to develop new approaches to help mosquitoes to better fight, and therefore less transmit viruses.

My work revealed that DORA-positive extracellular vesicles loaded on antiviral immune signals were efficiently protecting *Drosophila*. Could we imagine the development of a prophylactic treatment using stable and long lasting nanoparticles charged with antiviral signals against viruses such as Dengue? These nanoparticles could spread on aqueous surface where mosquito larvae develop and adults drink. Larvae would feed on this water, and ingest the nanoparticles and their content. The presence of nanoparticles charged with antiviral signals, would help non-infected mosquitoes to develop a preimmunization against a specific virus before they get infected.

By helping insects such as mosquitos to fight viral infection, we would be fighting at the same time viral transmission to, for example, humans, and development of epidemics. We need to learn how to live together with insect vectors instead of only trying to get ride of them.

Bibliography

Bibliography

- 1 Margulis, L. The origin of plant and animal cells. *American scientist* **59**, 230-235 (1971).
- 2 Margulis, L. Symbiosis and evolution. *Scientific American* **225**, 48-57 (1971).
- 3 Casadevall, A. & Pirofski, L. A. Host-pathogen interactions: basic concepts of microbial commensalism, colonization, infection, and disease. *Infection and immunity* **68**, 6511-6518 (2000).
- 4 Huang, H. J. *et al.* Rice ragged stunt virus-induced apoptosis affects virus transmission from its insect vector, the brown planthopper to the rice plant. *Scientific reports* **5**, 11413, doi:10.1038/srep11413 (2015).
- 5 Castle, W. E. Inbreeding, Cross-Breeding and Sterility in Drosophila. *Science* **23**, 153, doi:10.1126/science.23.578.153 (1906).
- 6 Morgan, T. H. Sex Limited Inheritance in Drosophila. *Science* **32**, 120-122, doi:10.1126/science.32.812.120 (1910).
- 7 St Johnston, D. The art and design of genetic screens: Drosophila melanogaster. *Nature reviews. Genetics* **3**, 176-188, doi:10.1038/nrg751 (2002).
- 8 Bier, E. Drosophila, the golden bug, emerges as a tool for human genetics. *Nature reviews. Genetics* **6**, 9-23, doi:10.1038/nrg1503 (2005).
- 9 Ip, Y. T. & Levine, M. Molecular genetics of Drosophila immunity. *Current opinion in genetics & development* **4**, 672-677 (1994).
- 10 Lemaitre, B., Nicolas, E., Michaut, L., Reichhart, J. M. & Hoffmann, J. A. The dorsoventral regulatory gene cassette spatzle/Toll/cactus controls the potent antifungal response in Drosophila adults. *Cell* **86**, 973-983 (1996).
- 11 Rosetto, M., Engstrom, Y., Baldari, C. T., Telford, J. L. & Hultmark, D. Signals from the IL-1 receptor homolog, Toll, can activate an immune response in a Drosophila hemocyte cell line. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* **209**, 111-116, doi:10.1006/bbrc.1995.1477 (1995).
- 12 Medzhitov, R., Preston-Hurlburt, P. & Janeway, C. A., Jr. A human homologue of the Drosophila Toll protein signals activation of adaptive immunity. *Nature* **388**, 394-397, doi:10.1038/41131 (1997).
- 13 Lemaitre, B. & Hoffmann, J. The host defense of Drosophila melanogaster. *Annual review* of *immunology* **25**, 697-743, doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.25.022106.141615 (2007).
- 14 Davis, M. M. & Engstrom, Y. Immune response in the barrier epithelia: lessons from the fruit fly Drosophila melanogaster. *Journal of innate immunity* **4**, 273-283, doi:10.1159/000332947 (2012).
- 15 Tzou, P., De Gregorio, E. & Lemaitre, B. How Drosophila combats microbial infection: a model to study innate immunity and host-pathogen interactions. *Current opinion in microbiology* **5**, 102-110 (2002).
- 16 Boman, H. G., Nilsson, I. & Rasmuson, B. Inducible antibacterial defence system in Drosophila. *Nature* **237**, 232-235 (1972).
- 17 Hou, S., Hyland, L., Ryan, K. W., Portner, A. & Doherty, P. C. Virus-specific CD8+ T-cell memory determined by clonal burst size. *Nature* **369**, 652-654, doi:10.1038/369652a0 (1994).
- 18 Lau, L. L., Jamieson, B. D., Somasundaram, T. & Ahmed, R. Cytotoxic T-cell memory without antigen. *Nature* **369**, 648-652, doi:10.1038/369648a0 (1994).
- 19 Matzinger, P. Immunology. Memories are made of this? *Nature* **369**, 605-606, doi:10.1038/369605a0 (1994).
- 20 Hoffmann, J. A., Kafatos, F. C., Janeway, C. A. & Ezekowitz, R. A. Phylogenetic perspectives in innate immunity. *Science* **284**, 1313-1318 (1999).
- 21 Lemaitre, B., Reichhart, J. M. & Hoffmann, J. A. Drosophila host defense: differential induction of antimicrobial peptide genes after infection by various classes of

microorganisms. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **94**, 14614-14619 (1997).

- 22 Hedengren, M. *et al.* Relish, a central factor in the control of humoral but not cellular immunity in Drosophila. *Molecular cell* **4**, 827-837 (1999).
- 23 Rutschmann, S. *et al.* Role of Drosophila IKK gamma in a toll-independent antibacterial immune response. *Nature immunology* **1**, 342-347, doi:10.1038/79801 (2000).
- 24 Agaisse, H., Petersen, U. M., Boutros, M., Mathey-Prevot, B. & Perrimon, N. Signaling role of hemocytes in Drosophila JAK/STAT-dependent response to septic injury. *Developmental cell* **5**, 441-450 (2003).
- 25 Dostert, C. *et al.* The Jak-STAT signaling pathway is required but not sufficient for the antiviral response of drosophila. *Nature immunology* **6**, 946-953, doi:10.1038/ni1237 (2005).
- 26 Lagueux, M., Perrodou, E., Levashina, E. A., Capovilla, M. & Hoffmann, J. A. Constitutive expression of a complement-like protein in toll and JAK gain-of-function mutants of Drosophila. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 97, 11427-11432, doi:10.1073/pnas.97.21.11427 (2000).
- 27 Kemp, C. *et al.* Broad RNA interference-mediated antiviral immunity and virus-specific inducible responses in Drosophila. *J Immunol* **190**, 650-658, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102486 (2013).
- Zambon, R. A., Nandakumar, M., Vakharia, V. N. & Wu, L. P. The Toll pathway is important for an antiviral response in Drosophila. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **102**, 7257-7262, doi:10.1073/pnas.0409181102 (2005).
- 29 Galiana-Arnoux, D., Dostert, C., Schneemann, A., Hoffmann, J. A. & Imler, J. L. Essential function in vivo for Dicer-2 in host defense against RNA viruses in drosophila. *Nature immunology* 7, 590-597, doi:10.1038/ni1335 (2006).
- 30 van Rij, R. P. *et al.* The RNA silencing endonuclease Argonaute 2 mediates specific antiviral immunity in Drosophila melanogaster. *Genes & development* **20**, 2985-2995, doi:10.1101/gad.1482006 (2006).
- 31 Wang, X. H. *et al.* RNA interference directs innate immunity against viruses in adult Drosophila. *Science* **312**, 452-454, doi:10.1126/science.1125694 (2006).
- 32 Zambon, R. A., Vakharia, V. N. & Wu, L. P. RNAi is an antiviral immune response against a dsRNA virus in Drosophila melanogaster. *Cellular microbiology* **8**, 880-889, doi:10.1111/j.1462-5822.2006.00688.x (2006).
- Aravin, A. *et al.* A novel class of small RNAs bind to MILI protein in mouse testes. *Nature* 442, 203-207, doi:10.1038/nature04916 (2006).
- 34 Czech, B. *et al.* An endogenous small interfering RNA pathway in Drosophila. *Nature* **453**, 798-802, doi:10.1038/nature07007 (2008).
- 35 Girard, A., Sachidanandam, R., Hannon, G. J. & Carmell, M. A. A germline-specific class of small RNAs binds mammalian Piwi proteins. *Nature* **442**, 199-202, doi:10.1038/nature04917 (2006).
- 36 Lagos-Quintana, M., Rauhut, R., Lendeckel, W. & Tuschl, T. Identification of novel genes coding for small expressed RNAs. *Science* **294**, 853-858, doi:10.1126/science.1064921 (2001).
- 37 Lau, N. C., Lim, L. P., Weinstein, E. G. & Bartel, D. P. An abundant class of tiny RNAs with probable regulatory roles in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Science* 294, 858-862, doi:10.1126/science.1065062 (2001).
- 38 Lee, R. C. & Ambros, V. An extensive class of small RNAs in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Science* **294**, 862-864, doi:10.1126/science.1065329 (2001).

- 39 Valencia-Sanchez, M. A., Liu, J., Hannon, G. J. & Parker, R. Control of translation and mRNA degradation by miRNAs and siRNAs. *Genes & development* **20**, 515-524, doi:10.1101/gad.1399806 (2006).
- 40 Hall, I. M. *et al.* Establishment and maintenance of a heterochromatin domain. *Science* **297**, 2232-2237, doi:10.1126/science.1076466 (2002).
- 41 Carmell, M. A., Xuan, Z., Zhang, M. Q. & Hannon, G. J. The Argonaute family: tentacles that reach into RNAi, developmental control, stem cell maintenance, and tumorigenesis. *Genes & development* **16**, 2733-2742, doi:10.1101/gad.1026102 (2002).
- 42 Chung, W. J., Okamura, K., Martin, R. & Lai, E. C. Endogenous RNA interference provides a somatic defense against Drosophila transposons. *Current biology : CB* **18**, 795-802, doi:10.1016/j.cub.2008.05.006 (2008).
- 43 Obbard, D. J., Gordon, K. H., Buck, A. H. & Jiggins, F. M. The evolution of RNAi as a defence against viruses and transposable elements. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences* **364**, 99-115, doi:10.1098/rstb.2008.0168 (2009).
- 44 He, L. & Hannon, G. J. MicroRNAs: small RNAs with a big role in gene regulation. *Nature reviews. Genetics* **5**, 522-531, doi:10.1038/nrg1379 (2004).
- 45 Ghildiyal, M. *et al.* Endogenous siRNAs derived from transposons and mRNAs in Drosophila somatic cells. *Science* **320**, 1077-1081, doi:10.1126/science.1157396 (2008).
- 46 Brennecke, J. *et al.* An epigenetic role for maternally inherited piRNAs in transposon silencing. *Science* **322**, 1387-1392, doi:10.1126/science.1165171 (2008).
- 47 Czech, B., Preall, J. B., McGinn, J. & Hannon, G. J. A transcriptome-wide RNAi screen in the Drosophila ovary reveals factors of the germline piRNA pathway. *Molecular cell* **50**, 749-761, doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2013.04.007 (2013).
- 48 Vagin, V. V. *et al.* A distinct small RNA pathway silences selfish genetic elements in the germline. *Science* **313**, 320-324, doi:10.1126/science.1129333 (2006).
- 49 Ratcliff, F., Harrison, B. D. & Baulcombe, D. C. A similarity between viral defense and gene silencing in plants. *Science* **276**, 1558-1560 (1997).
- 50 Lu, R. *et al.* Animal virus replication and RNAi-mediated antiviral silencing in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Nature* **436**, 1040-1043, doi:10.1038/nature03870 (2005).
- 51 Wilkins, C. *et al.* RNA interference is an antiviral defence mechanism in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Nature* **436**, 1044-1047, doi:10.1038/nature03957 (2005).
- 52 Li, H., Li, W. X. & Ding, S. W. Induction and suppression of RNA silencing by an animal virus. *Science* **296**, 1319-1321, doi:10.1126/science.1070948 (2002).
- 53 Bronkhorst, A. W. *et al.* The DNA virus Invertebrate iridescent virus 6 is a target of the Drosophila RNAi machinery. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **109**, E3604-3613, doi:10.1073/pnas.1207213109 (2012).
- 54 Mueller, S. *et al.* RNAi-mediated immunity provides strong protection against the negative-strand RNA vesicular stomatitis virus in Drosophila. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **107**, 19390-19395, doi:10.1073/pnas.1014378107 (2010).
- 55 Fire, A. *et al.* Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Nature* **391**, 806-811, doi:10.1038/35888 (1998).
- 56 Dobos, P. *et al.* Biophysical and biochemical characterization of five animal viruses with bisegmented double-stranded RNA genomes. *Journal of virology* **32**, 593-605 (1979).
- 57 Fragkoudis, R., Attarzadeh-Yazdi, G., Nash, A. A., Fazakerley, J. K. & Kohl, A. Advances in dissecting mosquito innate immune responses to arbovirus infection. *The Journal of general virology* **90**, 2061-2072, doi:10.1099/vir.0.013201-0 (2009).
- 58 Myles, K. M., Wiley, M. R., Morazzani, E. M. & Adelman, Z. N. Alphavirus-derived small RNAs modulate pathogenesis in disease vector mosquitoes. *Proceedings of the National*

Academy of *Sciences* of the United States of America **105**, 19938-19943, doi:10.1073/pnas.0803408105 (2008).

- 59 Sabin, L. R. *et al.* Dicer-2 processes diverse viral RNA species. *PloS one* **8**, e55458, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0055458 (2013).
- 60 Siu, R. W. *et al.* Antiviral RNA interference responses induced by Semliki Forest virus infection of mosquito cells: characterization, origin, and frequency-dependent functions of virus-derived small interfering RNAs. *Journal of virology* **85**, 2907-2917, doi:10.1128/JVI.02052-10 (2011).
- 61 Bernstein, E., Caudy, A. A., Hammond, S. M. & Hannon, G. J. Role for a bidentate ribonuclease in the initiation step of RNA interference. *Nature* **409**, 363-366, doi:10.1038/35053110 (2001).
- 62 Liu, Q. *et al.* R2D2, a bridge between the initiation and effector steps of the Drosophila RNAi pathway. *Science* **301**, 1921-1925, doi:10.1126/science.1088710 (2003).
- 63 Elbashir, S. M., Lendeckel, W. & Tuschl, T. RNA interference is mediated by 21- and 22nucleotide RNAs. *Genes & development* **15**, 188-200 (2001).
- 64 Okamura, K., Ishizuka, A., Siomi, H. & Siomi, M. C. Distinct roles for Argonaute proteins in small RNA-directed RNA cleavage pathways. *Genes & development* **18**, 1655-1666, doi:10.1101/gad.1210204 (2004).
- 65 Rand, T. A., Ginalski, K., Grishin, N. V. & Wang, X. Biochemical identification of Argonaute 2 as the sole protein required for RNA-induced silencing complex activity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **101**, 14385-14389, doi:10.1073/pnas.0405913101 (2004).
- 66 Hammond, S. M., Boettcher, S., Caudy, A. A., Kobayashi, R. & Hannon, G. J. Argonaute2, a link between genetic and biochemical analyses of RNAi. *Science* **293**, 1146-1150, doi:10.1126/science.1064023 (2001).
- 67 Hess, A. M. *et al.* Small RNA profiling of Dengue virus-mosquito interactions implicates the PIWI RNA pathway in anti-viral defense. *BMC microbiology* **11**, 45, doi:10.1186/1471-2180-11-45 (2011).
- 68 Vodovar, N. *et al.* Arbovirus-derived piRNAs exhibit a ping-pong signature in mosquito cells. *PloS one* **7**, e30861, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0030861 (2012).
- 69 Morazzani, E. M., Wiley, M. R., Murreddu, M. G., Adelman, Z. N. & Myles, K. M. Production of virus-derived ping-pong-dependent piRNA-like small RNAs in the mosquito soma. *PLoS pathogens* **8**, e1002470, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002470 (2012).
- 70 Brackney, D. E. *et al.* C6/36 Aedes albopictus cells have a dysfunctional antiviral RNA interference response. *PLoS neglected tropical diseases* **4**, e856, doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0000856 (2010).
- 71 Schnettler, E. *et al.* Knockdown of piRNA pathway proteins results in enhanced Semliki Forest virus production in mosquito cells. *The Journal of general virology* **94**, 1680-1689, doi:10.1099/vir.0.053850-0 (2013).
- 72 Miesen, P., Girardi, E. & van Rij, R. P. Distinct sets of PIWI proteins produce arbovirus and transposon-derived piRNAs in Aedes aegypti mosquito cells. *Nucleic acids research*, doi:10.1093/nar/gkv590 (2015).
- 73 Bucher, G., Scholten, J. & Klingler, M. Parental RNAi in Tribolium (Coleoptera). *Current biology : CB* **12**, R85-86 (2002).
- 74 Robalino, J. *et al.* Double-stranded RNA induces sequence-specific antiviral silencing in addition to nonspecific immunity in a marine shrimp: convergence of RNA interference and innate immunity in the invertebrate antiviral response? *Journal of virology* **79**, 13561-13571, doi:10.1128/JVI.79.21.13561-13571.2005 (2005).
- 75 Attarzadeh-Yazdi, G. *et al.* Cell-to-cell spread of the RNA interference response suppresses Semliki Forest virus (SFV) infection of mosquito cell cultures and cannot be

antagonized by SFV. *Journal of virology* **83**, 5735-5748, doi:10.1128/JVI.02440-08 (2009).

- 76 Saleh, M. C. *et al.* Antiviral immunity in Drosophila requires systemic RNA interference spread. *Nature* **458**, 346-350, doi:10.1038/nature07712 (2009).
- 77 Schauer, S. E., Jacobsen, S. E., Meinke, D. W. & Ray, A. DICER-LIKE1: blind men and elephants in Arabidopsis development. *Trends in plant science* **7**, 487-491 (2002).
- 78 Brodersen, P. & Voinnet, O. The diversity of RNA silencing pathways in plants. *Trends in genetics : TIG* **22**, 268-280, doi:10.1016/j.tig.2006.03.003 (2006).
- 79 Zhang, X. *et al.* Cucumber mosaic virus-encoded 2b suppressor inhibits Arabidopsis Argonaute1 cleavage activity to counter plant defense. *Genes & development* **20**, 3255-3268, doi:10.1101/gad.1495506 (2006).
- 80 Palauqui, J. C., Elmayan, T., Pollien, J. M. & Vaucheret, H. Systemic acquired silencing: transgene-specific post-transcriptional silencing is transmitted by grafting from silenced stocks to non-silenced scions. *The EMBO journal* **16**, 4738-4745, doi:10.1093/emboj/16.15.4738 (1997).
- 81 Voinnet, O. & Baulcombe, D. C. Systemic signalling in gene silencing. *Nature* **389**, 553, doi:10.1038/39215 (1997).
- 82 Haywood, V., Kragler, F. & Lucas, W. J. Plasmodesmata: pathways for protein and ribonucleoprotein signaling. *The Plant cell* **14 Suppl**, S303-325 (2002).
- Epel, B. L. Plasmodesmata: composition, structure and trafficking. *Plant molecular biology* 26, 1343-1356 (1994).
- 84 Wolf, S., Deom, C. M., Beachy, R. N. & Lucas, W. J. Movement protein of tobacco mosaic virus modifies plasmodesmatal size exclusion limit. *Science* **246**, 377-379 (1989).
- 85 Dunoyer, P., Himber, C. & Voinnet, O. DICER-LIKE 4 is required for RNA interference and produces the 21-nucleotide small interfering RNA component of the plant cell-to-cell silencing signal. *Nature genetics* **37**, 1356-1360, doi:10.1038/ng1675 (2005).
- 86 Astier-Manifacier, S. & Cornuet, P. [Purfication and molecular weight of an RNAdependant RNA polymerase from Brassicae oleracea var. Botrytis]. *Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des seances de l'Academie des sciences. Serie D: Sciences naturelles* 287, 1043-1046 (1978).
- 87 Romaine, C. P. & Zaitlin, M. RNA-dependent RNA polymerases in uninfected and tobacco mosaic virus-infected tabacco leaves: viral induced stimulation of a host polymerase activity. *Virology* 86, 241-253 (1978).
- 88 Diaz-Pendon, J. A., Li, F., Li, W. X. & Ding, S. W. Suppression of antiviral silencing by cucumber mosaic virus 2b protein in Arabidopsis is associated with drastically reduced accumulation of three classes of viral small interfering RNAs. *The Plant cell* **19**, 2053-2063, doi:10.1105/tpc.106.047449 (2007).
- 89 Voinnet, O. Non-cell autonomous RNA silencing. *FEBS letters* **579**, 5858-5871, doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2005.09.039 (2005).
- 90 Feinberg, E. H. & Hunter, C. P. Transport of dsRNA into cells by the transmembrane protein SID-1. *Science* **301**, 1545-1547, doi:10.1126/science.1087117 (2003).
- 91 Winston, W. M., Molodowitch, C. & Hunter, C. P. Systemic RNAi in C. elegans requires the putative transmembrane protein SID-1. *Science* **295**, 2456-2459, doi:10.1126/science.1068836 (2002).
- 92 McEwan, D. L., Weisman, A. S. & Hunter, C. P. Uptake of extracellular double-stranded RNA by SID-2. *Molecular cell* **47**, 746-754, doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2012.07.014 (2012).
- 93 Tijsterman, M., May, R. C., Simmer, F., Okihara, K. L. & Plasterk, R. H. Genes required for systemic RNA interference in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Current biology : CB* **14**, 111-116 (2004).

- 94 Timmons, L., Tabara, H., Mello, C. C. & Fire, A. Z. Inducible systemic RNA silencing in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Molecular biology of the cell* **14**, 2972-2983, doi:10.1091/mbc.E03-01-0858 (2003).
- 95 Sijen, T. *et al.* On the role of RNA amplification in dsRNA-triggered gene silencing. *Cell* **107**, 465-476 (2001).
- 96 Smardon, A. *et al.* EGO-1 is related to RNA-directed RNA polymerase and functions in germ-line development and RNA interference in C. elegans. *Current biology : CB* **10**, 169-178 (2000).
- 97 Grishok, A., Tabara, H. & Mello, C. C. Genetic requirements for inheritance of RNAi in C. elegans. *Science* **287**, 2494-2497 (2000).
- 98 Cullen, B. R. Is RNA interference involved in intrinsic antiviral immunity in mammals? *Nature immunology* **7**, 563-567, doi:10.1038/ni1352 (2006).
- 99 Maillard, P. V. *et al.* Antiviral RNA interference in mammalian cells. *Science* **342**, 235-238, doi:10.1126/science.1241930 (2013).
- 100 Li, Y., Lu, J., Han, Y., Fan, X. & Ding, S. W. RNA interference functions as an antiviral immunity mechanism in mammals. *Science* **342**, 231-234, doi:10.1126/science.1241911 (2013).
- 101 Garcia-Sastre, A. *et al.* Influenza A virus lacking the NS1 gene replicates in interferondeficient systems. *Virology* **252**, 324-330 (1998).
- 102 Cullen, B. R., Cherry, S. & tenOever, B. R. Is RNA interference a physiologically relevant innate antiviral immune response in mammals? *Cell host & microbe* **14**, 374-378, doi:10.1016/j.chom.2013.09.011 (2013).
- 103 Caplen, N. J., Fleenor, J., Fire, A. & Morgan, R. A. dsRNA-mediated gene silencing in cultured Drosophila cells: a tissue culture model for the analysis of RNA interference. *Gene* **252**, 95-105 (2000).
- 104 Hinas, A., Wright, A. J. & Hunter, C. P. SID-5 is an endosome-associated protein required for efficient systemic RNAi in C. elegans. *Current biology : CB* **22**, 1938-1943, doi:10.1016/j.cub.2012.08.020 (2012).
- 105 Jose, A. M., Kim, Y. A., Leal-Ekman, S. & Hunter, C. P. Conserved tyrosine kinase promotes the import of silencing RNA into Caenorhabditis elegans cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **109**, 14520-14525, doi:10.1073/pnas.1201153109 (2012).
- 106 Jose, A. M., Garcia, G. A. & Hunter, C. P. Two classes of silencing RNAs move between Caenorhabditis elegans tissues. *Nature structural & molecular biology* **18**, 1184-1188, doi:10.1038/nsmb.2134 (2011).
- 107 Ulvila, J. *et al.* Double-stranded RNA is internalized by scavenger receptor-mediated endocytosis in Drosophila S2 cells. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **281**, 14370-14375, doi:10.1074/jbc.M513868200 (2006).
- 108 Saleh, M. C. *et al.* The endocytic pathway mediates cell entry of dsRNA to induce RNAi silencing. *Nature cell biology* **8**, 793-802, doi:10.1038/ncb1439 (2006).
- 109 Mukherjee, S., Ghosh, R. N. & Maxfield, F. R. Endocytosis. *Physiological reviews* **77**, 759-803 (1997).
- 110 Pearse, B. M. Clathrin: a unique protein associated with intracellular transfer of membrane by coated vesicles. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **73**, 1255-1259 (1976).
- 111 Lorenz, C. *et al.* Protein expression from exogenous mRNA: uptake by receptor-mediated endocytosis and trafficking via the lysosomal pathway. *RNA biology* **8**, 627-636, doi:10.4161/rna.8.4.15394 (2011).

- 112 Bashirullah, A., Cooperstock, R. L. & Lipshitz, H. D. RNA localization in development. *Annual review of biochemistry* **67**, 335-394, doi:10.1146/annurev.biochem.67.1.335 (1998).
- 113 Lee, Y. S. *et al.* Silencing by small RNAs is linked to endosomal trafficking. *Nature cell biology* **11**, 1150-1156, doi:10.1038/ncb1930 (2009).
- 114 Pegtel, D. M. *et al.* Functional delivery of viral miRNAs via exosomes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **107**, 6328-6333, doi:10.1073/pnas.0914843107 (2010).
- 115 Katzmann, D. J., Babst, M. & Emr, S. D. Ubiquitin-dependent sorting into the multivesicular body pathway requires the function of a conserved endosomal protein sorting complex, ESCRT-I. *Cell* **106**, 145-155 (2001).
- 116 Huan, J. *et al.* RNA trafficking by acute myelogenous leukemia exosomes. *Cancer research* **73**, 918-929, doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2184 (2013).
- 117 Valadi, H. *et al.* Exosome-mediated transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a novel mechanism of genetic exchange between cells. *Nature cell biology* **9**, 654-659, doi:10.1038/ncb1596 (2007).
- 118 Zhang, F., Sun, S., Feng, D., Zhao, W. L. & Sui, S. F. A novel strategy for the invasive toxin: hijacking exosome-mediated intercellular trafficking. *Traffic* **10**, 411-424, doi:10.1111/j.1600-0854.2009.00879.x (2009).
- 119 Denzer, K., Kleijmeer, M. J., Heijnen, H. F., Stoorvogel, W. & Geuze, H. J. Exosome: from internal vesicle of the multivesicular body to intercellular signaling device. *Journal of cell science* **113 Pt 19**, 3365-3374 (2000).
- 120 Lasser, C. *et al.* Human saliva, plasma and breast milk exosomes contain RNA: uptake by macrophages. *Journal of translational medicine* **9**, 9, doi:10.1186/1479-5876-9-9 (2011).
- 121 Runz, S. *et al.* Malignant ascites-derived exosomes of ovarian carcinoma patients contain CD24 and EpCAM. *Gynecologic oncology* **107**, 563-571, doi:10.1016/j.ygyno.2007.08.064 (2007).
- 122 Miyanishi, M. *et al.* Identification of Tim4 as a phosphatidylserine receptor. *Nature* **450**, 435-439, doi:10.1038/nature06307 (2007).
- 123 Nolte-'t Hoen, E. N., Buschow, S. I., Anderton, S. M., Stoorvogel, W. & Wauben, M. H. Activated T cells recruit exosomes secreted by dendritic cells via LFA-1. *Blood* **113**, 1977-1981, doi:10.1182/blood-2008-08-174094 (2009).
- 124 Tian, T. *et al.* Dynamics of exosome internalization and trafficking. *Journal of cellular physiology* **228**, 1487-1495, doi:10.1002/jcp.24304 (2013).
- 125 Feng, D. *et al.* Cellular internalization of exosomes occurs through phagocytosis. *Traffic* **11**, 675-687, doi:10.1111/j.1600-0854.2010.01041.x (2010).
- 126 Parolini, I. *et al.* Microenvironmental pH is a key factor for exosome traffic in tumor cells. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **284**, 34211-34222, doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.041152 (2009).
- 127 Gibbings, D. J., Ciaudo, C., Erhardt, M. & Voinnet, O. Multivesicular bodies associate with components of miRNA effector complexes and modulate miRNA activity. *Nature cell biology* **11**, 1143-1149, doi:10.1038/ncb1929 (2009).
- 128 Admyre, C. *et al.* Exosomes with immune modulatory features are present in human breast milk. *J Immunol* **179**, 1969-1978 (2007).
- 129 Cha, D. J. *et al.* KRAS-dependent sorting of miRNA to exosomes. *eLife*, doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.7554/eLife.07197</u> (2015).
- 130 Greening, D. W., Gopal, S. K., Xu, R., Simpson, R. J. & Chen, W. Exosomes and their roles in immune regulation and cancer. *Seminars in cell & developmental biology* 40, 72-81, doi:10.1016/j.semcdb.2015.02.009 (2015).

Bibliography

- 131 Gutierrez-Vazquez, C., Villarroya-Beltri, C., Mittelbrunn, M. & Sanchez-Madrid, F. Transfer of extracellular vesicles during immune cell-cell interactions. *Immunological reviews* **251**, 125-142, doi:10.1111/imr.12013 (2013).
- 132 Robbins, P. D. & Morelli, A. E. Regulation of immune responses by extracellular vesicles. *Nature reviews. Immunology* **14**, 195-208, doi:10.1038/nri3622 (2014).
- 133 Kogure, T., Lin, W. L., Yan, I. K., Braconi, C. & Patel, T. Intercellular nanovesiclemediated microRNA transfer: a mechanism of environmental modulation of hepatocellular cancer cell growth. *Hepatology* **54**, 1237-1248, doi:10.1002/hep.24504 (2011).
- 134 Liu, C. *et al.* Murine mammary carcinoma exosomes promote tumor growth by suppression of NK cell function. *J Immunol* **176**, 1375-1385 (2006).
- 135 Zeelenberg, I. S. *et al.* Targeting tumor antigens to secreted membrane vesicles in vivo induces efficient antitumor immune responses. *Cancer research* **68**, 1228-1235, doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-3163 (2008).
- 136 Greco, V., Hannus, M. & Eaton, S. Argosomes: a potential vehicle for the spread of morphogens through epithelia. *Cell* **106**, 633-645 (2001).
- 137 Beckett, K. *et al.* Drosophila S2 cells secrete wingless on exosome-like vesicles but the wingless gradient forms independently of exosomes. *Traffic* **14**, 82-96, doi:10.1111/tra.12016 (2013).
- 138 Gross, J. C., Chaudhary, V., Bartscherer, K. & Boutros, M. Active Wnt proteins are secreted on exosomes. *Nature cell biology* **14**, 1036-1045, doi:10.1038/ncb2574 (2012).
- 139 Rustom, A., Saffrich, R., Markovic, I., Walther, P. & Gerdes, H. H. Nanotubular highways for intercellular organelle transport. *Science* **303**, 1007-1010, doi:10.1126/science.1093133 (2004).
- 140 Mattila, P. K. & Lappalainen, P. Filopodia: molecular architecture and cellular functions. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology* **9**, 446-454, doi:10.1038/nrm2406 (2008).
- 141 Ramirez-Weber, F. A. & Kornberg, T. B. Cytonemes: cellular processes that project to the principal signaling center in Drosophila imaginal discs. *Cell* **97**, 599-607 (1999).
- 142 Sherer, N. M. *et al.* Retroviruses can establish filopodial bridges for efficient cell-to-cell transmission. *Nature cell biology* **9**, 310-315, doi:10.1038/ncb1544 (2007).
- 143 Gerdes, H. H. & Carvalho, R. N. Intercellular transfer mediated by tunneling nanotubes. *Current opinion in cell biology* **20**, 470-475, doi:10.1016/j.ceb.2008.03.005 (2008).
- 144 Sowinski, S. *et al.* Membrane nanotubes physically connect T cells over long distances presenting a novel route for HIV-1 transmission. *Nature cell biology* **10**, 211-219, doi:10.1038/ncb1682 (2008).
- 145 Dubey, G. P. & Ben-Yehuda, S. Intercellular nanotubes mediate bacterial communication. *Cell* **144**, 590-600, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.01.015 (2011).
- 146 De Joussineau, C. *et al.* Delta-promoted filopodia mediate long-range lateral inhibition in Drosophila. *Nature* **426**, 555-559, doi:10.1038/nature02157 (2003).
- 147 Hsiung, F., Ramirez-Weber, F. A., Iwaki, D. D. & Kornberg, T. B. Dependence of Drosophila wing imaginal disc cytonemes on Decapentaplegic. *Nature* **437**, 560-563, doi:10.1038/nature03951 (2005).
- 148 Inaba, M., Buszczak, M. & Yamashita, Y. M. Nanotubes mediate niche-stem-cell signalling in the Drosophila testis. *Nature* **523**, 329-332, doi:10.1038/nature14602 (2015).
- 149 Li, Y. C. *et al.* Novel transport function of adherens junction revealed by live imaging in Drosophila. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* **463**, 686-692, doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.05.125 (2015).
- 150 Ai, J. *et al.* Circulating microRNA-1 as a potential novel biomarker for acute myocardial infarction. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* **391**, 73-77, doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2009.11.005 (2010).

- 151 Mitchell, P. S. *et al.* Circulating microRNAs as stable blood-based markers for cancer detection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **105**, 10513-10518, doi:10.1073/pnas.0804549105 (2008).
- 152 Ng, E. K. *et al.* Differential expression of microRNAs in plasma of patients with colorectal cancer: a potential marker for colorectal cancer screening. *Gut* **58**, 1375-1381, doi:10.1136/gut.2008.167817 (2009).
- 153 Arroyo, J. D. *et al.* Argonaute2 complexes carry a population of circulating microRNAs independent of vesicles in human plasma. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **108**, 5003-5008, doi:10.1073/pnas.1019055108 (2011).
- 154 Turchinovich, A., Weiz, L., Langheinz, A. & Burwinkel, B. Characterization of extracellular circulating microRNA. *Nucleic acids research* **39**, 7223-7233, doi:10.1093/nar/gkr254 (2011).
- 155 Chevillet, J. R. *et al.* Quantitative and stoichiometric analysis of the microRNA content of exosomes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **111**, 14888-14893, doi:10.1073/pnas.1408301111 (2014).
- 156 Turchinovich, A., Samatov, T. R., Tonevitsky, A. G. & Burwinkel, B. Circulating miRNAs: cell-cell communication function? *Frontiers in genetics* **4**, 119, doi:10.3389/fgene.2013.00119 (2013).
- 157 Farquhar, M. G. & Palade, G. E. Junctional complexes in various epithelia. *The Journal of cell biology* **17**, 375-412 (1963).
- 158 Forster, C. Tight junctions and the modulation of barrier function in disease. *Histochemistry and cell biology* **130**, 55-70, doi:10.1007/s00418-008-0424-9 (2008).
- 159 Sawada, N. *et al.* Tight junctions and human diseases. *Medical electron microscopy :* official journal of the Clinical Electron Microscopy Society of Japan **36**, 147-156, doi:10.1007/s00795-003-0219-y (2003).
- 160 Balda, M. S. & Matter, K. Tight junctions and the regulation of gene expression. *Biochimica et biophysica acta* **1788**, 761-767, doi:10.1016/j.bbamem.2008.11.024 (2009).
- 161 Kubo, A., Nagao, K., Yokouchi, M., Sasaki, H. & Amagai, M. External antigen uptake by Langerhans cells with reorganization of epidermal tight junction barriers. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **206**, 2937-2946, doi:10.1084/jem.20091527 (2009).
- 162 Rescigno, M. *et al.* Dendritic cells express tight junction proteins and penetrate gut epithelial monolayers to sample bacteria. *Nature immunology* **2**, 361-367, doi:10.1038/86373 (2001).
- 163 Takano, K. *et al.* HLA-DR- and CD11c-positive dendritic cells penetrate beyond welldeveloped epithelial tight junctions in human nasal mucosa of allergic rhinitis. *The journal of histochemistry and cytochemistry : official journal of the Histochemistry Society* **53**, 611-619, doi:10.1369/jhc.4A6539.2005 (2005).
- 164 Robertson, J. D. The Occurrence of a Subunit Pattern in the Unit Membranes of Club Endings in Mauthner Cell Synapses in Goldfish Brains. *The Journal of cell biology* **19**, 201-221 (1963).
- 165 Revel, J. P. & Karnovsky, M. J. Hexagonal array of subunits in intercellular junctions of the mouse heart and liver. *The Journal of cell biology* **33**, C7-C12 (1967).
- 166 Mese, G., Richard, G. & White, T. W. Gap junctions: basic structure and function. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* **127**, 2516-2524, doi:10.1038/sj.jid.5700770 (2007).
- 167 Eugenin, E. A. & Berman, J. W. Gap junctions mediate human immunodeficiency virusbystander killing in astrocytes. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 27, 12844-12850, doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4154-07.2007 (2007).

- 168 Crow, D. S., Beyer, E. C., Paul, D. L., Kobe, S. S. & Lau, A. F. Phosphorylation of connexin43 gap junction protein in uninfected and Rous sarcoma virus-transformed mammalian fibroblasts. *Molecular and cellular biology* **10**, 1754-1763 (1990).
- 169 Valiunas, V. *et al.* Connexin-specific cell-to-cell transfer of short interfering RNA by gap junctions. *The Journal of physiology* **568**, 459-468, doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2005.090985 (2005).
- 170 Mahoney, J. A., Ntolosi, B., DaSilva, R. P., Gordon, S. & McKnight, A. J. Cloning and characterization of CPVL, a novel serine carboxypeptidase, from human macrophages. *Genomics* **72**, 243-251, doi:10.1006/geno.2000.6484 (2001).
- 171 Li, J., Lease, K. A., Tax, F. E. & Walker, J. C. BRS1, a serine carboxypeptidase, regulates BRI1 signaling in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **98**, 5916-5921, doi:10.1073/pnas.091065998 (2001).
- 172 Odorizzi, G., Babst, M. & Emr, S. D. Fab1p PtdIns(3)P 5-kinase function essential for protein sorting in the multivesicular body. *Cell* **95**, 847-858 (1998).
- 173 Charmont, S., Jamet, E., Pont-Lezica, R. & Canut, H. Proteomic analysis of secreted proteins from Arabidopsis thaliana seedlings: improved recovery following removal of phenolic compounds. *Phytochemistry* **66**, 453-461, doi:10.1016/j.phytochem.2004.12.013 (2005).
- 174 Gonzales, P. A. *et al.* Large-scale proteomics and phosphoproteomics of urinary exosomes. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN* **20**, 363-379, doi:10.1681/ASN.2008040406 (2009).
- 175 Magwire, M. M. *et al.* Genome-wide association studies reveal a simple genetic basis of resistance to naturally coevolving viruses in Drosophila melanogaster. *PLoS genetics* **8**, e1003057, doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1003057 (2012).
- 176 Sabin, L. R. *et al.* Ars2 regulates both miRNA- and siRNA- dependent silencing and suppresses RNA virus infection in Drosophila. *Cell* **138**, 340-351, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.04.045 (2009).
- 177 Escrevente, C., Keller, S., Altevogt, P. & Costa, J. Interaction and uptake of exosomes by ovarian cancer cells. *BMC cancer* **11**, 108, doi:10.1186/1471-2407-11-108 (2011).
- 178 Bukoreshtliev, N. V. *et al.* Selective block of tunneling nanotube (TNT) formation inhibits intercellular organelle transfer between PC12 cells. *FEBS letters* **583**, 1481-1488, doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2009.03.065 (2009).
- 179 Eugenin, E. A., Gaskill, P. J. & Berman, J. W. Tunneling nanotubes (TNT) are induced by HIV-infection of macrophages: a potential mechanism for intercellular HIV trafficking. *Cellular immunology* **254**, 142-148, doi:10.1016/j.cellimm.2008.08.005 (2009).
- 180 Marzo, L., Gousset, K. & Zurzolo, C. Multifaceted roles of tunneling nanotubes in intercellular communication. *Frontiers in physiology* **3**, 72, doi:10.3389/fphys.2012.00072 (2012).
- 181 Taylor, M. P., Koyuncu, O. O. & Enquist, L. W. Subversion of the actin cytoskeleton during viral infection. *Nature reviews. Microbiology* **9**, 427-439, doi:10.1038/nrmicro2574 (2011).
- 182 Longdon, B., Cao, C., Martinez, J. & Jiggins, F. M. Previous exposure to an RNA virus does not protect against subsequent infection in Drosophila melanogaster. *PloS one* 8, e73833, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0073833 (2013).

ANNEX

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect





journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/dci

RNAi and antiviral defense in *Drosophila*: Setting up a systemic immune response $\stackrel{\circ}{\sim}$





Margot Karlikow, Bertsy Goic, Maria-Carla Saleh*

Institut Pasteur, Viruses and RNA Interference, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique UMR3569, Paris, France

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Available online 14 May 2013

Keywords: Innate immunity Insects Drosophila RNAi Small RNAs Arboviruses

ABSTRACT

RNA interference (RNAi) controls gene expression in eukaryotic cells and thus, cellular homeostasis. In addition, in plants, nematodes and arthropods it is a central antiviral effector mechanism. Antiviral RNAi has been well described as a cell autonomous response, which is triggered by double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) molecules. This dsRNA is the precursor for the silencing of viral RNA in a sequence-specific manner. In plants, systemic antiviral immunity has been demonstrated, however much less is known in animals. Recently, some evidence for a systemic antiviral response in arthropods has come to light. Cell autonomous RNAi may not be sufficient to reach an efficient antiviral response, and the organism might rely on the spread and uptake of an RNAi signal of unknown origin. In this review, we offer a perspective on how RNAi-mediated antiviral immunity could confer systemic protection in insects and we propose directions for future research to understand the mechanism of RNAi-immune signal sorting, spreading and amplification.

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ 2013 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Arthropods are of enormous importance to ecology, economy and health. Some of them, such as sand flies, mosquitoes and ticks, are vectors for numerous pathogens, including viruses. Among them, arboviruses (arthropod-borne viruses) are transmitted by insects upon biting vertebrates. Several arboviruses are responsible for worldwide epidemics and high mortality or morbidity rates in humans, such as dengue and chikungunya virus. The insect vectors of arboviruses have to control these viral infections to maximize their survival and minimize the associated fitness cost. Thus, the insect antiviral response is an important factor for viral transmission and dissemination.

Since the beginning of the 20th century, the fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster* has been the most widely used insect model. As a result, *Drosophila* has become a powerful tool to work in several fields, including genetics, development, neuroscience and immunity. This is due to the availability of genetic tools, the short generation time, the safety of use compared to hematophagous insects, and more recently, the availability of the complete genome sequence. Consequently, much of what is currently known about defense mechanisms in insects results from work with fruit flies. This

review therefore focuses on research performed using *Drosophila*, although some examples and works in other models, such as in *Caenorhabditis elegans*, are addressed.

The defense of higher eukaryotes against pathogens is organized into different layers. First, there is a non-specific host defense: a physical barrier, which is the skin in mammals and the cuticle for insects. The gut epithelia can also be considered as an anatomical barrier as it protects against infections during feeding (Buchon et al., 2010; Davis and Engstrom, 2012). Second, there is innate immunity, which acts coordinately at the cellular and systemic level. The third layer is the adaptive immune response. which is present only in jawed vertebrates. Some of the most interesting characteristics of this adaptive immunity are the boosting or amplification of the immune response, as well as the immune memory, which enhances the ability of the organism to respond to future related infections. However, insects lack an adaptive immune system and thus, the immune defense relies almost entirely on the innate immune response. For instance, flies are able to trigger various defense pathways depending on the type of infecting pathogen, and most of these pathways are inter-connected. For fungal or bacterial infections, the Toll, Imd and Jak/STAT pathways have been implicated (Agaisse et al., 2003; De Gregorio et al., 2002). Although these pathways also play a role in viral infections, their antiviral function seems to be virus-specific rather than being a general antiviral response (see for example Dostert et al., 2005; Zambon et al., 2005; Kemp et al., 2013). A comprehensive description and discussion of these antiviral mechanisms are presented in this special issue by Sara Cherry and colleagues. Antiviral defense

^{*} This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-No Derivative Works License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +33 145 688 547.

E-mail address: carla.saleh@pasteur.fr (M.-C. Saleh).

⁰¹⁴⁵⁻³⁰⁵X/\$ - see front matter @ 2013 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2013.05.004

in insects relies also on another pathway of innate immunity: the RNA interference (RNAi) response (Galiana-Arnoux et al., 2006; van Rij et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2006; Zambon et al., 2006).

RNAi is a conserved sequence-specific, gene-silencing mechanism that is induced by double-stranded RNA (dsRNA). Several RNAi-related pathways (Aravin et al., 2006; Czech et al., 2008; Girard et al., 2006; Lagos-Quintana et al., 2001; Lau et al., 2001; Lee and Ambros, 2001; van Rij et al., 2006) have been described in many organisms and they have diverse functions, including the modulation of mRNA translation (Valencia-Sanchez et al., 2006), establishment of chromosomal architecture (Hall et al., 2002), regulation of stem cell renewal (Carmell et al., 2002) and defense against viruses and mobile genetic elements (Chung et al., 2008). In general terms, RNAi pathways involve the production of small non-coding RNAs, and their biogenesis and function is based on two proteins: Dicer (Dcr) and Argonaute (Ago). The Dicer and Ago genes are strongly conserved in wide-ranging species including plants, invertebrates and mammals. Nevertheless, as a result of evolutionary and immune adaptation processes, there are several paralogues of both proteins. Consequently, a number of functions have been described for various Ago and Dcr paralogues, including their involvement in the antiviral responses. As of today, four main RNAi-related pathways have been described and they can be classified into two major groups on the basis of the origin of the small noncoding RNAs: the "endogenous" group, which involves small RNAs encoded within the cell and the "exogenous" group, which involves small RNAs not encoded by the cell.

"Endogenous" RNAs:

- (i) Micro-RNAs (miRNA) are mostly encoded by intergenic regions in the nuclear DNA. In *Drosophila*, their biogenesis is dependent on Drosha and Pasha in the nucleus, that process the primary transcript (pri-miRNA) into a pre-miRNA (Denli et al., 2004); then the pre-miRNA is exported from the nucleus to the cytoplasm, where it is processed by Dcr-1 together with its cofactor Loquacious (a dsRNA binding protein) to generate the mature miRNA. In association with Ago1 (Okamura et al., 2004) miRNAs actively regulate cellular gene expression by several mechanisms ranging from cleavage of cellular transcripts to translational inhibition. They may also act at the transcriptional level through, for example, chromatin reorganization (Pushpavalli et al., 2012).
- (ii) Endogenous small interfering RNAs (endo-siRNA), are encoded by transposable elements or other genomic regions that produce transcripts capable of forming dsRNA structures. They regulate genes and transposable elements. In *Drosophila*, this pathway is dependent on Dcr-2, a variant of Loquacious (loqs-PD) (Zhou et al., 2009) and Ago2 (Kawamura et al., 2008).
- (iii) PIWI-interacting RNAs (piRNA) are encoded by clusters of genes throughout the genome. They are mostly known for their roles in epigenetic and post-transcriptional gene silencing of transposons and other genetic elements in the germ line. Besides, there is evidence implicating piRNAs in the antiviral response in mosquitoes (Morazzani et al., 2012; Vodovar et al., 2012). The biogenesis of piRNAs in *Drosophila* is dependent on PIWI, Aubergine (Aub) and Ago3 proteins. This RNAi pathway is Dcr independent (Olivieri et al., 2010).

"Exogenous" RNAs:

(i) Small interfering RNAs (siRNA) are produced from virusderived dsRNAs or non-cellular RNAs that generate dsRNA structures. The siRNA pathway works as an antiviral response in invertebrates and plants, targeting both viral dsRNA replicative intermediates as well as viral genomes. The biogenesis of siRNA is dependent on Dcr-2, R2D2 and Ago2.

To understand how insects combat and control viral infections, we will first consider the RNAi pathway at a cellular level during a viral infection. We will then address how cells may establish intracellular immunity at sites distant from the infected cells, and finally discuss how antiviral RNAi generates a systemic response.

2. RNAi as an antiviral defense

Viral dsRNA molecules are produced in cells that are infected with diverse types of virus: (i) viruses with dsRNA genomes, such as *Drosophila* X virus (DXV) (Dobos et al., 1979); (ii) viruses with DNA genomes that contain convergent transcript units, for example Invertebrate Iridescent virus (IIV6) (Bronkhorst et al., 2012; Kemp et al., 2013); and (iii) viruses with single-stranded RNA genomes produce dsRNA as the result of the formation of secondary structures, such as Sindbis virus (Myles et al., 2008; Fragkoudis et al., 2009) or vesicular stomatitis virus (Sabin et al., 2013); and/ or replication intermediates as for *Drosophila* C virus (DCV) or Semliki Forest virus (Siu et al., 2011).

Those long viral dsRNA molecules trigger the antiviral siRNA pathway (Fire et al., 1998). They are cleaved (or 'diced') by a ribonuclease III enzyme, Dcr-2 (Bernstein et al., 2001) in association with its cofactor R2D2 (Liu et al., 2003), into viral small interfering RNAs (siRNA) of 21 nt long (Elbashir et al., 2001). These viral siR-NAs are loaded into a pre-RISC complex, where the siRNA duplex is unwound and the strand with the less stable 3'-terminus, the passenger strand, is removed. The remaining viral siRNA strand, the guide strand, is retained in Ago2/holo-RISC, which is the catalytic effector of the RISC complex (Okamura et al., 2004; Rand et al., 2004). The loaded viral siRNA can bind a viral RNA (genome or transcript) by sequence complementarity leading to specific degradation of the targeted RNA mediated by Ago2. The complementarity of the siRNA and its target is thus the basis of the specificity of the RNAi machinery.

The siRNA pathway appears to be the main antiviral response in insects: flies deficient for Dcr-2 or Ago2 are unable to control virus replication and as a consequence are hypersensitive to infection (Galiana-Arnoux et al., 2006; van Rij et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2006; Zambon et al., 2006). Recently, some reports suggest the involvement of other RNAi pathways in the control of viral infections. Indeed, piRNAs from viral origin have been detected by deep-sequencing during infections of mosquitoes with arboviruses, including dengue (Hess et al., 2011), Sindbis (Vodovar et al., 2012), chikungunya (Morazzani et al., 2012) and LaCrosse virus (Brackney et al., 2010). Hess and colleagues (Hess et al., 2011) described an in vivo assay using mosquitoes and dengue virus, and detected a peak in the accumulation of piRNAs at 2 days post infection. The amounts of these piRNAs then decreased during the infection, whereas siRNA production increased. This suggests that the RNAi-Dcr-2-dependent pathway is active during viral infection, but that it is preceded by the piRNA response. These observations lead to the notion that the piRNA pathway may initiate the antiviral process during a viral infection in mosquitoes. It is important to note that, in Drosophila, siRNAs accumulate during viral infection independently from piRNA production. It has been suggested that piRNAs may serve as epigenetic and genomic "security guards". Recently Schnettler and colleagues (Schnettler et al., 2013) provided the first functional demonstration that viral piRNAs do indeed contribute to antiviral defenses in mosquito cells infected with Semliki Forest virus.

Interestingly, viruses like Epstein-Barr virus encode miRNAs, which can interfere with the mammalian immune response. These viral miRNAs are predicted to target cellular regulators of cell proliferation, apoptosis (Riley et al., 2012) and components of signal transduction pathway among others (Marquitz and Raab-Traub, 2012). Klase and colleagues proposed that HIV-1 TAR element is processed by Dicer to produce a viral miRNA that is detectable in infected cells, which contribute to viral latency (Klase et al., 2007). Arthropod viruses have been predicted to encode miRNA, but there has been scarce biological or experimental demonstration that they are indeed produced. In 2012, Hussain and colleagues (Hussain et al., 2012) showed that West Nile virus encodes a miRNA in its 3' untranslated region. This miRNA is only detected in mosquito cells but not in mammalian cells infected with this virus. Regulation by this miRNA, named KUN-miR-1, increases the cellular GATA4 mRNA, which leads to a higher viral replication.

Several lines of evidence imply the existence of a systemic component to the siRNA pathway in arthropods: (i) the *in vivo* uptake of exogenous dsRNA; (ii) an increased sensitivity of dsRNA uptake mutants to viral infection; and (iii) the trans-silencing effects on endogenous genes following Sindbis virus infection in Drosophila. Early in 2002 it was shown that dsRNA injection into the haemocoel of adult Tribolium castaneum (floor beetle) resulted in knockdown of zygotic genes, which was also manifested in offspring embryos, implying transfer across cell boundaries (Bucher et al., 2002). In 2005, Robalino and colleagues showed that the injection of viral sequence-specific dsRNA confers potent antiviral immunity in vivo in the shrimp Litopenaeus vannamei (Robalino et al., 2005). Accordingly, endogenous shrimp genes could be silenced in a systemic fashion by the administration of cognate long dsRNA. A systemic component to antiviral RNAi was shown in mosquito cells infected with Semliki Forest virus (Attarzadeh-Yazdi et al., 2009). Even if the exact mechanism is not known, the authors showed cell-to-cell spread of viral-derived siRNA, and possible long dsRNA, with concomitant inhibition of replication of the incoming viruses in cells neighboring infected cells. Also, we were able to show that in Drosophila, intra-thoracic injection of viral sequence-specific long dsRNA into uninfected flies conferred immunity against subsequent infection with the corresponding virus. Furthermore, infection with Sindbis virus expressing the green fluorescent protein (GFP) suppressed expression of host-encoded GFP at a distal site of infection (Saleh et al., 2009).

Therefore, systemic RNA silencing pathways seem to exist in at least some arthropods. The link between systemic RNAi and antiviral defense awaits further mechanistic confirmation. Through the rest of this review we offer a perspective on how the RNAi-mediated antiviral immunity could confer systemic protection and we propose directions for further study to understand the mechanism of RNAi-immune signal sorting, spreading and amplification.

3. Setting up antiviral immunity at systemic level

The control of viral infections in mammals requires signaling molecules to elicit an effective response and to establish systemic immunity at the organismal level. These signals must be amplified and disseminated throughout the organism to avoid pathogen propagation and establishment of the infection. In *Drosophila*, although it has been postulated that there is a systemic antiviral response, neither the signal, nor the amplification mechanism, nor the mechanism of its dissemination, has been described. Nevertheless, relevant data are starting to emerge.

3.1. Uptake and sorting of the immune signal

Drosophila cells can take up viral dsRNA that triggers a specific RNA silencing response (Caplen et al., 2000). Presumably, following

dsRNA uptake, an immune signal is sent by infected cells to prevent viral infection in distant non-infected cells (Saleh et al., 2009; Attarzadeh-Yazdi et al., 2009). Non-infected cells have to be able to "catch" or to "sense" this signal and to internalize it in order to be primed. Here, we will address the possible triggers, the signals and their sorting.

For the uptake of viral dsRNA or other viral infection signals by non-infected cells, the first barrier to be crossed is the plasma membrane, a bilayer of phospholipids with associated proteins. The plasma membrane is selectively permeable to small and uncharged molecules; however, most molecules are unable to freely diffuse through it. Various membrane proteins act as receptors and/or transporters allowing adequate and selective entry of molecules into the cell. It has been shown that the endocytic clathrindependent mechanism is involved in the uptake of dsRNA and this triggers an antiviral RNAi pathway in *Drosophila* (Saleh et al., 2006: Ulvila et al., 2006). Indeed, the specific uptake of dsRNA by cells is abolished by treatment with Bafilomycin-A1, an inhibitor of V-H-ATPase (a component of the endosome-lysosomal acidification process). Viral dsRNA and naked siRNA are large and charged molecules, and therefore there must be appropriate receptors if they have to enter into the cells. In C. elegans there are two receptors for dsRNA: SID-1 allows passive inter-cellular transport (Feinberg and Hunter, 2003; van Roessel and Brand, 2004; Winston et al., 2002), whereas SID-2 allows active transport of environmental dsRNA from the intestinal lumen into cells (McEwan et al., 2012). These receptors participate in the internalization of dsRNA, which can then lead to the spread of the RNAi. Other SID proteins that participate in dsRNA transport have been described, like SID-5, which promotes the transport of the silencing signal between cells in C. elegans (Hinas et al., 2012), or SID-3, which is needed for an efficient import of dsRNA into cells (Jose et al., 2012). Interestingly, the extent to which RNAi spreads is coupled to the amount of dsRNA produced within cells or imported from the environment (Jose et al., 2011). However, although dsRNA is able to enter cells in flies, it is not clear how. No receptors with a dsRNA-binding domain have been found in *Drosophila*. It appears that two Scavenger receptors, called SR-CI and Eater, are associated with dsRNA uptake (Ulvila et al., 2006) but further studies addressing the role of these receptors are needed.

It is also possible that dsRNA is not the signal that triggers systemic immunity, in which case, there must be another molecule. However, studies in cell culture using *Drosophila* S2 cells found that free siRNAs are not taken up by the cells, and/or do not result in silencing of a reporter gene when freely added to the extracellular media (Saleh et al., 2006; Ulvila et al., 2006). These results are consistent with the notion that the signal of systemic immunity may be a long dsRNA, a (RNP), or another RNA complex.

Assuming an RNA nature of the signal, insights into the transport of other RNA species, for example miRNA or mRNA, may be informative about the uptake of the immune signal in flies. In murine and human cells, naked mRNA has been shown to associate with early endosomes (Rab5-positive vesicles) after endocytosis probably mediated by a Scavenger receptor. However, this entry route is not exclusive for mRNA and other negatively charged molecules, including all small RNAs and dsRNA, could potentially use it. After internalization, the mRNA was found to traffic into lysosomes where it accumulates and is then degraded by ribonucleases; however, an important proportion of the RNA escapes to the cytoplasm where it can be expressed (Lorenz et al., 2011) (Fig. 1B and C).

Many RNAs are addressed to specific subcellular compartments by (i) a signal that they carry in their sequence or by structural motifs (*cis*-acting elements or localizer signals) and/or by (ii) associated proteins (*trans*-acting factors) (Bashirullah et al., 1998). The *cis*-acting elements provide binding sites for the *trans*-acting



Fig. 1. Hypothetical model for internalization, sorting and transmission of the RNAi-immune signal during virus infection. At the site of infection (A), the presence of dsRNA activates the antiviral response at the cellular level and sets up the immune signal for a systemic response. This signal could spread through the organism by (B) exosomes containing siRNAs or an RNP or long dsRNA from viral replication. At distant sites of infection (C) the immune signal is potentially endocytosed, followed by release from lysosomes. Long viral dsRNA is diced and siRNAs loaded into RISC or in free RNP. Alternatively, some naked dsRNA can be diced and siRNAs direct to GW-bodies or P-bodies where active silencing and viral mRNA decay control future infections (D).

factors. However, small RNAs, which may be no more than a few dozen of nucleotides long, are unlikely to encode such localizer sequences.

Therefore, the effectiveness of the silencing process not only depends on internalization of the signal; the signal must also be delivered to the appropriate site to allow the production of siR-NA-based sequence-specific protection. The internalization of transmembrane proteins and cargo can provide a clue on this process. Endocytic vesicles with transmembrane proteins and ligands are internalized and they deliver their cargo to the early endosomes where the cargo is sorted to (i) be sent back to cell surface through recycling endosomes or (ii) remain in the early endosome, which develop into multi-vesicular bodies (MVBs) by invagination of their membranes (Felder et al., 1990; Hurley and Emr, 2006; Matsuo et al., 2004). If the acidification continues, the number of internal vesicles will increase: late endosomes (multi-vesicular endosomes) fuse with lysosomes and their contents are then destroyed. MVBs are either sorted for degradation into lysosomes, although a proportion of internalized mRNAs can escape to be expressed in the cytoplasm, or secreted as exosomes into extracellular fluids. Interestingly, MVBs have been found to be closely involved with the miRNA and the siRNA pathways (Lee et al., 2009). In mammals, for example, Epstein-Barr virus encodes its own miRNAs that are released within exosomes with immunomodulatory properties (Pegtel et al., 2010). Several pathways for targeting proteins into MVBs have been described in flies. Monoubiquitinated proteins are sorted from the endosomes to the outer membranes of MVBs bound to the ESCRT complex (Endosomal Sorting Complex Required for Transport) (Katzmann et al., 2001). It is therefore possible that dsRNA and/or siRNA could be addressed towards MVB following their inclusion in RNP subject to ubiquitination (Fig. 1C). Although the role of MVBs in the traffic and sorting of the immune signal has thus far not been addressed, their key roles in vesicular trafficking make them good candidates to start exploring the mechanism of dsRNA transport.

Another interesting candidate for the accumulation and processing of dsRNA and/or siRNA, as part of the intracellular immunity system, are GW-bodies (Fig. 1C). In mammals, these cytoplasmic foci are physically associated with MVBs, which are involved in the post-transcriptional regulation of eukaryotic gene expression (Anderson and Kedersha, 2009). They are enriched in mRNAs, small RNAs (miRNA and siRNA) and RNA-binding proteins associated with the RNAi pathway, such as Ago2 (which has also an mRNA degradation function in mammals) and GW182 (Jakymiw et al., 2005; Liu et al., 2005; Sen and Blau, 2005) of which there is an homologue in Drosophila (Rehwinkel et al., 2005). In mammalian cells, GW-bodies are essential for the miRNA pathway (active miRISC is recruited into GW-bodies (Gibbings et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2009)), and the disruption of this structure impairs the silencing of endogenous genes. Transfected siRNA are also found in these GW-bodies (Jakymiw et al., 2005).

Foci very similar to GW-bodies are also found in *Drosophila*, *C. elegans* and mammalian cells and are called P-bodies (Fig. 1C) (Sheth and Parker, 2003; Jain and Parker, 2013). One of the main differences between GW-bodies and P-bodies is that P-bodies possess decapping proteins involved in mRNA decay. One of the functions associated with AIN-1 protein (the GW182 homologue in *C. elegans* (Ding et al., 2005)) is the translocation of miRNAs to P-bodies. The recruitment of miRNA into P-bodies appears to allow the decay of target mRNA, and there may be a similar mechanism for viral siRNA and viral RNA in *Drosophila*. There are two lines of evidence supporting this possibility: (i) various components of the RISC complex have been detected in P-bodies (*i.e.*, presence of dFMR1 (Caudy et al., 2002; Ishizuka et al., 2002)) and (ii) active silencing pathways are necessary for P-bodies to form in *Drosophila* although P-bodies are not required for silencing (Eulalio et al.,

2007). Once their formation is initiated, decapping enzymes are recruited; these enzymes are involved in mRNA decay, which may allow the degradation of viral mRNA (deadenylation and digestion by exonucleases) (Fig. 1D). This mechanism is a possible second route for promoting intracellular immunity.

3.2. Spread of the immune signal

During a viral infection, the immune signal, whatever its nature, needs to be shared throughout the organism if a systemic antiviral response is to develop. As such, it would be possible to find dsRNA or siRNA at locations distant from the infection site. One plausible explanation for systemic spread is the lysis of the infected cells. However, this would not explain the protection observed in organisms infected with viruses that do not display a cytopathic effect. Therefore, there must be an active process to share and alert the neighboring and distant non-infected cells to allow a specific antiviral protection mediated by RNAi.

Exosomes are tiny vesicles generated from MVBs when they fuse to the plasma membrane (Fig. 1A and B), and they can carry mRNA and miRNA (Valadi et al., 2007; Huan et al., 2013) and both endogenous and exogenous proteins, including toxins (Zhang et al., 2009). Therefore, it has been suggested that exosomes may be responsible for exchange of material between cells. Exosomes are found in many different fluids, including blood, breast milk, amniotic fluid and malignant ascites (Denzer et al., 2000; Lasser et al., 2011; Runz et al., 2007). Then, it is tempting to speculate that in *Drosophila* they may travel through the hemolymph carrying and propagating the immune signal. There is increasing evidence that exosomes in mammals can be taken up by other cells following recognition by receptors on the plasma membrane (Miyanishi et al., 2007; Nolte-'t Hoen et al., 2009) and that they are carriers for many and diverse cargos depending on their cell origin. The uptake of free exosomes is currently the subject of lively debate. It has been suggested that after release from a cell, exosomes are endocytosed and targeted, along the cytoskeleton, to lysosomes (Tian et al., 2012). Other authors suggest that exosomes can be imported into cells by phagocytosis (Feng et al., 2010) or by fusion (Parolini et al., 2009). It is possible that exosomes fuse with the endocytic compartment after endocytosis and during acidification, they release their content in lysosomes. However, a large part of their contents escape and these escaped contents can include proteins, such as Ago2 and GW182 (Gibbings et al., 2009), and molecules such as siRNA and dsRNA. Silencing by small RNA is linked to endosomal trafficking (Lee et al., 2009) and it has been demonstrated that exosomes are involved in the immune system (Admyre et al., 2007). In mammals, for example, exosomes act as immunological mediators associated with tumor growth by exosome-mediated miRNA transfer (Kogure et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2006). In flies, exosome-like vesicles, called argosomes, are responsible for a graded distribution of morphogens, such as Wingless (Greco et al., 2001). This newly described route for intracellular communication has become a topic under intense study and we expect that it will soon become clear whether exosomes have an antiviral role during viral infection in insects.

Exosomes are not the only way that small RNAs use to circulate. Arroyo and colleagues (Arroyo et al., 2011) showed that in mammals, miRNA contained in exosomes constitutes only a minority of the circulating miRNA and the bulk of miRNA is found in the plasma as ribonucleoprotein complexes associated with Ago protein. Embedding small RNA in an RNP has several advantages as a mechanism of dissemination: it may improve RNA stability and



Fig. 2. Proposed mechanisms for amplification of the antiviral RNAi response. (A and B) During virus infection, genomic dsRNA, secondary structures, convergent overlapping transcriptional units or replication intermediates forming dsRNA are diced into primary siRNAs. The siRNA can be loaded in RISC complex to direct the cleavage of viral RNA. Additionally, the siRNA now in duplex with the viral RNA, can be used as template for a cellular RNA-dependent RNA-polymerase (RdRP). cRNA: complementary RNA (A). A new dsRNA is generated and diced, producing secondary siRNAs, also loaded in antiviral RISC. Alternatively, by an unknown mechanism, the primary siRNA duplex can be unwound. The single-stranded primary siRNA anneals with viral RNA (B). By ligation, new dsRNA is produced, diced into secondary siRNAs that are loaded into RISC, thereby amplifying the initial immune signal. (C) Cellular reverse transcriptase associated to retrotransposons produce a viral derived-DNA form from the viral RNA. This viral derived-DNA form is transcribed and produces dsRNA, which will in turn be diced, generating siRNAs. These DNA-derived siRNAs are loaded in antiviral RISC amplifying the canonical RNA is produced siRNAs are loaded in antiviral RISC amplifying the canonical RNA.

resistance to environmental damage or degradation such that it is in a "ready-state" to regulate gene expression in recipient cells.

A graphic representation of the concepts developed in Sections 3.1 and 3.2 regarding internalization, sorting and transmission of the RNAi-immune signal is presented in Fig. 1.

3.3. Amplification of the immune signal

In a number of organisms, including plants and C. elegans, gene inactivation by silencing persists through cell division, can be spread to other tissues, and is heritable (Wianny and Zernicka-Goetz, 2000; Vaistij et al., 2002; Chuang and Meyerowitz, 2000). Therefore, even with very few inducer molecules of dsRNA, there must be a mechanism for the self-sustaining nature of RNAi. When *C. elegans* is fed or transfected with dsRNA, the dsRNA is diced into siRNA duplexes that are called primary siRNA. Primary siRNA triggers the specific silencing of the target RNA. A thorough study of the population of small RNAs recovered after dicing of the dsRNA revealed the presence of primary siRNAs as well as siRNAs with sequence characteristics (i.e. 5'-triphosphate) that excludes them from being digestion products of the dsRNA. These siRNAs are named secondary siRNA (Sijen et al., 2001). Several mechanisms for the biogenesis of secondary siRNA have been proposed (Fig. 2): (i) single-stranded (ss) siRNA may anneal with its target RNA, and could serve as primer for producing a complementary strand of the template RNA (cRNA); the resulting cRNA/RNA duplex would then constitute a dsRNA that could be degraded by Dcr, and again, loaded into RISC complexes. This mechanism allows the amplification of the initial signal, producing secondary siRNAs, which were not part of the initial dsRNA. This mechanism relies on an RNA-dependent RNA-polymerase (RdRP) (Tijsterman et al., 2002) (Fig. 2A). (ii) ss siRNAs may anneal to the RNA target by complementarity covering its entire length. A kinase may ligate siRNAs to form a new cRNA and consequently a cRNA/RNA duplex (a dsRNA molecule) (Nishikura, 2001). The dicing of this new dsRNA would produce secondary siRNAs, allowing the amplification of the signal, and the silencing of the target RNA (Fig. 2B).

Despite years of intense research, there have been no conclusive evidence for secondary siRNAs or RdRP activity in Drosophila. Interestingly, we recently described that during persistent viral infections non-retroviral RNA viruses can exploit cellular reverse transcriptases to produce a DNA form of viral origin early during the infection (Goic et al., 2013). This DNA of viral origin produces transcripts that can generate dsRNA, which in turn boosts siRNAmediated immunity. The notion that DNA of viral origin can have immune functions had already been suggested for Israeli acute paralysis virus in Apis mellifera (honeybees): insects carrying a DNA insertion with substantial sequence identity with the RNA virus were resistant to the virus (Maori et al., 2007). It is then tempting to speculate that in the absence of a canonical RdRP that accounts for the production of secondary small RNAs in insects, the mechanism of transforming viral RNA > DNA > RNA > small RNA, could be amplifying the antiviral immune response throughout the insect's life (Fig. 2C). By the mechanism proposed, the RNAiimmune response is triggered by viral dsRNA replication intermediates, and amplified and boosted through newly generated viral DNA-derived dsRNA molecules. Future studies should shed light on the role of endogenized viral sequences in the amplification of the immune signal.

4. Closing remarks

There have been great advances over the last decade in our knowledge about immunity in non-mammalian models including plants and arthropods. Among them, the discovery of RNAi as an immune response revolutionized our way of conceiving host-virus interactions. This helped to improve the control of agricultural pests (Huang et al., 2006) and also contributed to our understanding of mammalian immunology.

Nowadays, the antiviral RNAi in *Drosophila* is well characterized as a cellular response based on the nuclease activities of Dcr-2 and Ago2. This response has also been found in almost every insect model tested. However, less is known about the role of the RNAi response as an immune system. The inducer signal for a systemic response remains still unknown. Nevertheless, evidence points to a signal of RNA nature (dsRNA, small RNA or RNP). The way in which these molecules are released from the infected site to be sensed and internalized by non-infected cells are also open questions. New findings and applications from the cell biology field will allow in-depth understanding of the role of endocytosis and trafficking vesicles in the RNAi systemic immunity in invertebrates.

Acknowledgements

We thank V. Mongelli, M. Vignuzzi and R.P. van Rij for critical reading of the manuscript. Supported by the French Agence Nationale de la Recherche (ANR-09-JCJC-0045-01) and the European Research Council (FP7/2007–2013 ERC 242703) to M.-C.S.

References

- Admyre, C., Johansson, S.M., Qazi, K.R., Filen, J.J., Lahesmaa, R., Norman, M., Neve, E.P., Scheynius, A., Gabrielsson, S., 2007. Exosomes with immune modulatory features are present in human breast milk. J. Immunol. 179, 1969–1978.
- Agaisse, H., Petersen, U.M., Boutros, M., Mathey-Prevot, B., Perrimon, N., 2003. Signaling role of hemocytes in *Drosophila* JAK/STAT-dependent response to septic injury. Dev. Cell 5, 441–450.
- Anderson, P., Kedersha, N., 2009. RNA granules: post-transcriptional and epigenetic modulators of gene expression. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 10, 430–436.
- Aravin, A., Gaidatzis, D., Pfeffer, S., Lagos-Quintana, M., Landgraf, P., Iovino, N., Morris, P., Brownstein, M.J., Kuramochi-Miyagawa, S., Nakano, T., Chien, M., Russo, J.J., Ju, J., Sheridan, R., Sander, C., Zavolan, M., Tuschl, T., 2006. A novel class of small RNAs bind to MILI protein in mouse testes. Nature 442, 203–207.
- Arroyo, J.D., Chevillet, J.R., Kroh, E.M., Ruf, I.K., Pritchard, C.C., Gibson, D.F., Mitchell, P.S., Bennett, C.F., Pogosova-Agadjanyan, E.L., Stirewalt, D.L., Tait, J.F., Tewari, M., 2011. Argonaute2 complexes carry a population of circulating microRNAs independent of vesicles in human plasma. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 108, 5003– 5008.
- Attarzadeh-Yazdi, G., Fragkoudis, R., Chi, Y., Siu, R.W., Ulper, L., Barry, G., Rodriguez-Andres, J., Nash, A.A., Bouloy, M., Merits, A., Fazakerley, J.K., Kohl, A., 2009. Cellto-cell spread of the RNA interference response suppresses Semliki Forest virus (SFV) infection of mosquito cell cultures and cannot be antagonized by SFV. J. Virol. 83, 5735–5748.
- Bashirullah, A., Cooperstock, R.L., Lipshitz, H.D., 1998. RNA localization in development. Ann. Rev. Biochem. 67, 335–394.
- Bernstein, E., Caudy, A.A., Hammond, S.M., Hannon, G.J., 2001. Role for a bidentate ribonuclease in the initiation step of RNA interference. Nature 409, 363–366.
- Brackney, D.E., Scott, J.C., Sagawa, F., Woodward, J.E., Miller, N.A., Schilkey, F.D., Mudge, J., Wilusz, J., Olson, K.E., Blair, C.D., Ebel, G.D., 2010. C6/36 Aedes albopictus cells have a dysfunctional antiviral RNA interference response. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 4, e856.
- Bronkhorst, A.W., van Cleef, K.W., Vodovar, N., Ince, I.A., Blanc, H., Vlak, J.M., Saleh, M.C., van Rij, R.P., 2012. The DNA virus Invertebrate iridescent virus 6 is a target of the Drosophila RNAi machinery. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 109, E3604–3613.
- Bucher, G., Scholten, J., Klingler, M., 2002. Parental RNAi in Tribolium (Coleoptera). Curr. Biol. CB 12, R85–R86.
- Buchon, N., Broderick, N.A., Kuraishi, T., Lemaitre, B., 2010. Drosophila EGFR pathway coordinates stem cell proliferation and gut remodeling following infection. BMC Biol. 8, 152.
- Caplen, N.J., Fleenor, J., Fire, A., Morgan, R.A., 2000. dsRNA-mediated gene silencing in cultured *Drosophila* cells: a tissue culture model for the analysis of RNA interference. Gene 252, 95–105.
- Carmell, M.A., Xuan, Z., Zhang, M.Q., Hannon, G.J., 2002. The Argonaute family: tentacles that reach into RNAi, developmental control, stem cell maintenance, and tumorigenesis. Genes Dev. 16, 2733–2742.
- Caudy, A.A., Myers, M., Hannon, G.J., Hammond, S.M., 2002. Fragile X-related protein and VIG associate with the RNA interference machinery. Genes Dev. 16, 2491– 2496.
- Chuang, C.F., Meyerowitz, E.M., 2000. Specific and heritable genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 97, 4985–4990.

- Chung, W.J., Okamura, K., Martin, R., Lai, E.C., 2008. Endogenous RNA interference provides a somatic defense against *Drosophila* transposons. Curr. Biol. CB 18, 795–802.
- Czech, B., Malone, C.D., Zhou, R., Stark, A., Schlingeheyde, C., Dus, M., Perrimon, N., Kellis, M., Wohlschlegel, J.A., Sachidanandam, R., Hannon, G.J., Brennecke, J., 2008. An endogenous small interfering RNA pathway in *Drosophila*. Nature 453, 798–802.
- Davis, M.M., Engstrom, Y., 2012. Immune response in the barrier epithelia: lessons from the fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster*. J. Innate Immun. 4, 273–283.
- De Gregorio, E., Spellman, P.T., Tzou, P., Rubin, G.M., Lemaitre, B., 2002. The Toll and Imd pathways are the major regulators of the immune response in *Drosophila*. EMBO J. 21, 2568–2579.
- Denli, A.M., Tops, B.B., Plasterk, R.H., Ketting, R.F., Hannon, G.J., 2004. Processing of primary microRNAs by the Microprocessor complex. Nature 432, 231–235.
- Denzer, K., Kleijmeer, M.J., Heijnen, H.F., Stoorvogel, W., Geuze, H.J., 2000. Exosome: from internal vesicle of the multivesicular body to intercellular signaling device. J. Cell Sci. 113 Pt 19, 3365–3374.
- Ding, L., Spencer, A., Morita, K., Han, M., 2005. The developmental timing regulator AIN-1 interacts with miRISCs and may target the argonaute protein ALG-1 to cytoplasmic P bodies in *C. elegans*. Mol. Cell 19, 437–447.
- Dobos, P., Hill, B.J., Hallett, R., Kells, D.T., Becht, H., Teninges, D., 1979. Biophysical and biochemical characterization of five animal viruses with bisegmented double-stranded RNA genomes. J. Virol. 32, 593–605.
- Dostert, C., Jouanguy, E., Irving, P., Troxler, L., Galiana-Arnoux, D., Hetru, C., Hoffmann, J.A., Imler, J.L., 2005. The Jak-STAT signaling pathway is required but not sufficient for the antiviral response of drosophila. Nat. Immunol. 6, 946– 953.
- Elbashir, S.M., Lendeckel, W., Tuschl, T., 2001. RNA interference is mediated by 21and 22-nucleotide RNAs. Genes Dev. 15, 188–200.
- Eulalio, A., Behm-Ansmant, I., Schweizer, D., Izaurralde, E., 2007. P-body formation is a consequence, not the cause, of RNA-mediated gene silencing. Mol. Cell Biol. 27, 3970–3981.
- Feinberg, E.H., Hunter, C.P., 2003. Transport of dsRNA into cells by the transmembrane protein SID-1. Science 301, 1545–1547.
- Felder, S., Miller, K., Moehren, G., Ullrich, A., Schlessinger, J., Hopkins, C.R., 1990. Kinase activity controls the sorting of the epidermal growth factor receptor within the multivesicular body. Cell 61, 623–634.
- Feng, D., Zhao, W.L., Ye, Y.Y., Bai, X.C., Liu, R.Q., Chang, L.F., Zhou, Q., Sui, S.F., 2010. Cellular internalization of exosomes occurs through phagocytosis. Traffic 11, 675–687.
- Fire, A., Xu, S., Montgomery, M.K., Kostas, S.A., Driver, S.E., Mello, C.C., 1998. Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Nature 391, 806–811.
- Fragkoudis, R., Attarzadeh-Yazdi, G., Nash, A.A., Fazakerley, J.K., Kohl, A., 2009. Advances in dissecting mosquito innate immune responses to arbovirus infection. J. Gen. Virol. 90, 2061–2072.
- Galiana-Arnoux, D., Dostert, C., Schneemann, A., Hoffmann, J.A., Imler, J.L., 2006. Essential function in vivo for Dicer-2 in host defense against RNA viruses in Drosophila. Nat. Immunol. 7, 590–597.
- Gibbings, D.J., Ciaudo, C., Erhardt, M., Voinnet, O., 2009. Multivesicular bodies associate with components of miRNA effector complexes and modulate miRNA activity. Nat. Cell Biol. 11, 1143–1149.
- Girard, A., Sachidanandam, R., Hannon, G.J., Carmell, M.A., 2006. A germline-specific class of small RNAs binds mammalian Piwi proteins. Nature 442, 199–202.
- Goic, B., Vodovar, N., Mondotte, J.A., Monot, C., Frangeul, L., Blanc, H., Gausson, V., Vera-Otarola, J., Cristofari, G., Saleh, M.C., 2013. RNA-mediated interference and reverse transcription control the persistence of RNA viruses in the insect model *Drosophila*. Nat Immunol. 14 (4), 396–403. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ni.2542.
- Greco, V., Hannus, M., Eaton, S., 2001. Argosomes: a potential vehicle for the spread of morphogens through epithelia. Cell 106, 633–645.
- Hall, I.M., Shankaranarayana, G.D., Noma, K., Ayoub, N., Cohen, A., Grewal, S.I., 2002. Establishment and maintenance of a heterochromatin domain. Science 297, 2232–2237.
- Hess, A.M., Prasad, A.N., Ptitsyn, A., Ebel, G.D., Olson, K.E., Barbacioru, C., Monighetti, C., Campbell, C.L., 2011. Small RNA profiling of Dengue virus-mosquito interactions implicates the PIWI RNA pathway in anti-viral defense. BMC Microbiol. 11, 45.
- Hinas, A., Wright, A.J., Hunter, C.P., 2012. SID-5 is an endosome-associated protein required for efficient systemic RNAi in C. elegans. Curr. Biol. CB 22, 1938–1943.
- Huan, J., Hornick, N.I., Shurtleff, M.J., Skinner, A.M., Goloviznina, N.A., Roberts Jr., C.T., Kurre, P., 2013. RNA Trafficking by Acute Myelogenous Leukemia Exosomes. Cancer Res. 73, 918–929.
- Huang, G., Allen, R., Davis, E.L., Baum, T.J., Hussey, R.S., 2006. Engineering broad root-knot resistance in transgenic plants by RNAi silencing of a conserved and essential root-knot nematode parasitism gene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 103, 14302–14306.
- Hurley, J.H., Emr, S.D., 2006. The ESCRT complexes: structure and mechanism of a membrane-trafficking network. Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct. 35, 277– 298.
- Hussain, M., Torres, S., Schnettler, E., Funk, A., Grundhoff, A., Pijlman, G.P., Khromykh, A.A., Asgari, S., 2012. West Nile virus encodes a microRNA-like small RNA in the 3' untranslated region which up-regulates GATA4 mRNA and facilitates virus replication in mosquito cells. Nucl. Acids Res. 40, 2210– 2223.
- Ishizuka, A., Siomi, M.C., Siomi, H., 2002. A *Drosophila* fragile × protein interacts with components of RNAi and ribosomal proteins. Genes Dev. 16, 2497–2508.

- Jain, S., Parker, R., 2013. The discovery and analysis of P Bodies. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 768, 23–43.
- Jakymiw, A., Lian, S., Eystathioy, T., Li, S., Satoh, M., Hamel, J.C., Fritzler, M.J., Chan, E.K., 2005. Disruption of GW bodies impairs mammalian RNA interference. Nat. Cell Biol. 7, 1267–1274.
- Jose, A.M., Garcia, G.A., Hunter, C.P., 2011. Two classes of silencing RNAs move between *Caenorhabditis elegans* tissues. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 18, 1184–1188.
- Jose, A.M., Kim, Y.A., Leal-Ekman, S., Hunter, C.P., 2012. Conserved tyrosine kinase promotes the import of silencing RNA into *Caenorhabditis elegans* cells. Proc. Natl. Acad Sci. USA 109, 14520–14525.
- Katzmann, D.J., Babst, M., Emr, S.D., 2001. Ubiquitin-dependent sorting into the multivesicular body pathway requires the function of a conserved endosomal protein sorting complex, ESCRT-I. Cell 106, 145–155.
- Kawamura, Y., Saito, K., Kin, T., Ono, Y., Asai, K., Sunohara, T., Okada, T.N., Siomi, M.C., Siomi, H., 2008. Drosophila endogenous small RNAs bind to Argonaute 2 in somatic cells. Nature 453, 793–797.
- Kemp, C., Mueller, S., Goto, A., Barbier, V., Paro, S., Bonnay, F., Dostert, C., Troxler, L., Hetru, C., Meignin, C., Pfeffer, S., Hoffmann, J.A., Imler, J.L., 2013. Broad RNA interference-mediated antiviral immunity and virus-specific inducible responses in *Drosophila*. J. Immunol. 190, 650–658.
- Klase, Z., Kale, P., Winograd, R., Gupta, M.V., Heydarian, M., Berro, R., McCaffrey, T., Kashanchi, F., 2007. HIV-1 TAR element is processed by Dicer to yield a viral micro-RNA involved in chromatin remodeling of the viral LTR. BMC Mol. Biol. 8, 63.
- Kogure, T., Lin, W.L., Yan, I.K., Braconi, C., Patel, T., 2011. Intercellular nanovesiclemediated microRNA transfer: a mechanism of environmental modulation of hepatocellular cancer cell growth. Hepatology 54, 1237–1248.
- Lagos-Quintana, M., Rauhut, R., Lendeckel, W., Tuschl, T., 2001. Identification of novel genes coding for small expressed RNAs. Science 294, 853–858.
- Lasser, C., Alikhani, V.S., Ekstrom, K., Eldh, M., Paredes, P.T., Bossios, A., Sjostrand, M., Gabrielsson, S., Lotvall, J., Valadi, H., 2011. Human saliva, plasma and breast milk exosomes contain RNA: uptake by macrophages. J. Trans. Med. 9, 9.
- Lau, N.C., Lim, L.P., Weinstein, E.G., Bartel, D.P., 2001. An abundant class of tiny RNAs with probable regulatory roles in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Science 294, 858–862.
- Lee, R.C., Ambros, V., 2001. An extensive class of small RNAs in *Caenorhabditis* elegans. Science 294, 862–864.
- Lee, Y.S., Pressman, S., Andress, A.P., Kim, K., White, J.L., Cassidy, J.J., Li, X., Lubell, K., Lim do, H., Cho, I.S., Nakahara, K., Preall, J.B., Bellare, P., Sontheimer, E.J., Carthew, R.W., 2009. Silencing by small RNAs is linked to endosomal trafficking. Nat. Cell Biol. 11, 1150–1156.
- Liu, Q., Rand, T.A., Kalidas, S., Du, F., Kim, H.E., Smith, D.P., Wang, X., 2003. R2D2, a bridge between the initiation and effector steps of the *Drosophila* RNAi pathway. Science 301, 1921–1925.
- Liu, J., Valencia-Sanchez, M.A., Hannon, G.J., Parker, R., 2005. MicroRNA-dependent localization of targeted mRNAs to mammalian P-bodies. Nat. Cell Biol. 7, 719– 723.
- Liu, C., Yu, S., Zinn, K., Wang, J., Zhang, L., Jia, Y., Kappes, J.C., Barnes, S., Kimberly, R.P., Grizzle, W.E., Zhang, H.G., 2006. Murine mammary carcinoma exosomes promote tumor growth by suppression of NK cell function. J. Immunol. 176, 1375–1385.
- Lorenz, C., Fotin-Mleczek, M., Roth, G., Becker, C., Dam, T.C., Verdurmen, W.P., Brock, R., Probst, J., Schlake, T., 2011. Protein expression from exogenous mRNA: uptake by receptor-mediated endocytosis and trafficking via the lysosomal pathway. RNA Biol. 8, 627–636.
- Maori, E., Lavi, S., Mozes-Koch, R., Gantman, Y., Peretz, Y., Edelbaum, O., Tanne, E., Sela, I., 2007. Isolation and characterization of Israeli acute paralysis virus, a dicistrovirus affecting honeybees in Israel: evidence for diversity due to intraand inter-species recombination. J. Gen. Virol. 88, 3428–3438.
- Marquitz, A.R., Raab-Traub, N., 2012. The role of miRNAs and EBV BARTs in NPC. Semin. Cancer Biol. 22, 166–172.
- Matsuo, H., Chevallier, J., Mayran, N., Le Blanc, I., Ferguson, C., Faure, J., Blanc, N.S., Matile, S., Dubochet, J., Sadoul, R., Parton, R.G., Vilbois, F., Gruenberg, J., 2004. Role of LBPA and Alix in multivesicular liposome formation and endosome organization. Science 303, 531–534.
- McEwan, D.L., Weisman, A.S., Hunter, C.P., 2012. Uptake of extracellular doublestranded RNA by SID-2. Mol. Cell 47, 746-754.
- Miyanishi, M., Tada, K., Koike, M., Uchiyama, Y., Kitamura, T., Nagata, S., 2007. Identification of Tim4 as a phosphatidylserine receptor. Nature 450, 435– 439.
- Morazzani, E.M., Wiley, M.R., Murreddu, M.G., Adelman, Z.N., Myles, K.M., 2012. Production of virus-derived ping-pong-dependent piRNA-like small RNAs in the mosquito soma. PLoS Pathog. 8, e1002470.
- Myles, K.M., Wiley, M.R., Morazzani, E.M., Adelman, Z.N., 2008. Alphavirus-derived small RNAs modulate pathogenesis in disease vector mosquitoes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 105, 19938–19943.
- Nishikura, K., 2001. A short primer on RNAi: RNA-directed RNA polymerase acts as a key catalyst. Cell 107, 415–418.
- Nolte-'t Hoen, E.N., Buschow, S.I., Anderton, S.M., Stoorvogel, W., Wauben, M.H., 2009. Activated T cells recruit exosomes secreted by dendritic cells via LFA-1. Blood 113, 1977–1981.
- Okamura, K., Ishizuka, A., Siomi, H., Siomi, M.C., 2004. Distinct roles for Argonaute proteins in small RNA-directed RNA cleavage pathways. Genes Dev. 18, 1655– 1666.
- Olivieri, D., Sykora, M.M., Sachidanandam, R., Mechtler, K., Brennecke, J., 2010. An in vivo RNAi assay identifies major genetic and cellular requirements for primary piRNA biogenesis in *Drosophila*. EMBO J. 29, 3301–3317.

Parolini, I., Federici, C., Raggi, C., Lugini, L., Palleschi, S., De Milito, A., Coscia, C., Iessi, E., Logozzi, M., Molinari, A., Colone, M., Tatti, M., Sargiacomo, M., Fais, S., 2009. Microenvironmental pH is a key factor for exosome traffic in tumor cells. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 34211–34222.

Pegtel, D.M., Cosmopoulos, K., Thorley-Lawson, D.A., van Eijndhoven, M.A., Hopmans, E.S., Lindenberg, J.L., de Gruijl, T.D., Wurdinger, T., Middeldorp, J.M., 2010. Functional delivery of viral miRNAs via exosomes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 107, 6328–6333.

Pushpavalli, S.N., Bag, I., Pal-Bhadra, M., Bhadra, U., 2012. *Drosophila* Argonaute-1 is critical for transcriptional cosuppression and heterochromatin formation. Chromosome Res. 20, 333–351.

Rand, T.A., Ginalski, K., Grishin, N.V., Wang, X., 2004. Biochemical identification of Argonaute 2 as the sole protein required for RNA-induced silencing complex activity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 101, 14385–14389.

- Rehwinkel, J., Behm-Ansmant, I., Gatfield, D., Izaurralde, E., 2005. A crucial role for GW182 and the DCP1:DCP2 decapping complex in miRNA-mediated gene silencing. RNA 11, 1640–1647.
- Riley, K.J., Rabinowitz, G.S., Yario, T.A., Luna, J.M., Darnell, R.B., Steitz, J.A., 2012. EBV and human microRNAs co-target oncogenic and apoptotic viral and human genes during latency. EMBO J. 31, 2207–2221.
- Robalino, J., Bartlett, T., Shepard, E., Prior, S., Jaramillo, G., Scura, E., Chapman, R.W., Gross, P.S., Browdy, C.L., Warr, G.W., 2005. Double-stranded RNA induces sequence-specific antiviral silencing in addition to nonspecific immunity in a marine shrimp: convergence of RNA interference and innate immunity in the invertebrate antiviral response? J. Virol. 79, 13561–13571.
- Runz, S., Keller, S., Rupp, C., Stoeck, A., Issa, Y., Koensgen, D., Mustea, A., Sehouli, J., Kristiansen, G., Altevogt, P., 2007. Malignant ascites-derived exosomes of ovarian carcinoma patients contain CD24 and EpCAM. Gynecol. Oncol. 107, 563–571.
- Sabin, L.R., Zheng, Q., Thekkat, P., Yang, J., Hannon, G.J., Gregory, B.D., Tudor, M., Cherry, S., 2013. Dicer-2 processes diverse viral RNA species. PloS ONE 8, e55458.
- Saleh, M.C., van Rij, R.P., Hekele, A., Gillis, A., Foley, E., O'Farrell, P.H., Andino, R., 2006. The endocytic pathway mediates cell entry of dsRNA to induce RNAi silencing, Nat. Cell Biol. 8, 793–802.
- Saleh, M.C., Tassetto, M., van Rij, R.P., Goic, B., Gausson, V., Berry, B., Jacquier, C., Antoniewski, C., Andino, R., 2009. Antiviral immunity in *Drosophila* requires systemic RNA interference spread. Nature 458, 346–350.
- Schnettler, E., Donald, C.L., Human, S., Watson, M., Siu, R.W., McFarlane, M., Fazakerley, J.K., Kohl, A., Fragkoudis, R., 2013. Knockdown of piRNA pathway proteins results in enhanced Semliki Forest virus production in mosquito cells. J. Gen. Virol..
- Sen, G.L., Blau, H.M., 2005. Argonaute 2/RISC resides in sites of mammalian mRNA decay known as cytoplasmic bodies. Nat. Cell Biol. 7, 633–636.
- Sheth, U., Parker, R., 2003. Decapping and decay of messenger RNA occur in cytoplasmic processing bodies. Science 300, 805–808.
- Sijen, T., Fleenor, J., Simmer, F., Thijssen, K.L., Parrish, S., Timmons, L., Plasterk, R.H., Fire, A., 2001. On the role of RNA amplification in dsRNA-triggered gene silencing. Cell 107, 465–476.

- Siu, R.W., Fragkoudis, R., Simmonds, P., Donald, C.L., Chase-Topping, M.E., Barry, G., Attarzadeh-Yazdi, G., Rodriguez-Andres, J., Nash, A.A., Merits, A., Fazakerley, J.K., Kohl, A., 2011. Antiviral RNA interference responses induced by Semliki Forest virus infection of mosquito cells: characterization, origin, and frequencydependent functions of virus-derived small interfering RNAs. J. Virol. 85, 2907– 2917.
- Tian, T., Zhu, Y.L., Hu, F.H., Wang, Y.Y., Huang, N.P., Xiao, Z.D., 2012. Dynamics of exosome internalization and trafficking. J. Cell Physiol.. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1002/jcp.24304.
- Tijsterman, M., Ketting, R.F., Okihara, K.L., Sijen, T., Plasterk, R.H., 2002. RNA helicase MUT-14-dependent gene silencing triggered in *C. elegans* by short antisense RNAs. Science 295, 694–697.
- Ulvila, J., Parikka, M., Kleino, A., Sormunen, R., Ezekowitz, R.A., Kocks, C., Ramet, M., 2006. Double-stranded RNA is internalized by scavenger receptor-mediated endocytosis in *Drosophila* S2 cells. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 14370–14375.
- Vaistij, F.E., Jones, L., Baulcombe, D.C., 2002. Spreading of RNA targeting and DNA methylation in RNA silencing requires transcription of the target gene and a putative RNA-dependent RNA polymerase. Plant cell 14, 857–867.
- Valadi, H., Ekstrom, K., Bossios, A., Sjostrand, M., Lee, J.J., Lotvall, J.O., 2007. Exosome-mediated transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a novel mechanism of genetic exchange between cells. Nat. Cell Biol. 9, 654–659.
- Valencia-Sanchez, M.A., Liu, J., Hannon, G.J., Parker, R., 2006. Control of translation and mRNA degradation by miRNAs and siRNAs. Genes Dev. 20, 515–524.
- van Rij, R.P., Saleh, M.C., Berry, B., Foo, C., Houk, A., Antoniewski, C., Andino, R., 2006. The RNA silencing endonuclease Argonaute 2 mediates specific antiviral immunity in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Genes Dev. 20, 2985–2995.
- van Roessel, P., Brand, A.H., 2004. Spreading silence with SID. Genome Biol. 5, 208. Vodovar, N., Bronkhorst, A.W., van Cleef, K.W., Miesen, P., Blanc, H., van Rij, R.P., Saleh, M.C., 2012. Arbovirus-derived piRNAs exhibit a ping-pong signature in mosquito cells. PloS ONE 7, e30861.
- Wang, X.H., Aliyari, R., Li, W.X., Li, H.W., Kim, K., Carthew, R., Atkinson, P., Ding, S.W., 2006. RNA interference directs innate immunity against viruses in adult Drosophila. Science 312, 452–454.
- Wianny, F., Zernicka-Goetz, M., 2000. Specific interference with gene function by double-stranded RNA in early mouse development. Nat. Cell Biol. 2, 70–75.
- Winston, W.M., Molodowitch, C., Hunter, C.P., 2002. Systemic RNAi in C. elegans requires the putative transmembrane protein SID-1. Science 295, 2456– 2459.
- Zambon, R.A., Nandakumar, M., Vakharia, V.N., Wu, L.P., 2005. The Toll pathway is important for an antiviral response in *Drosophila*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 102, 7257–7262.
- Zambon, R.A., Vakharia, V.N., Wu, L.P., 2006. RNAi is an antiviral immune response against a dsRNA virus in Drosophila melanogaster. Cell Microbiol. 8, 880–889.
- Zhang, F., Sun, S., Feng, D., Zhao, W.L., Sui, S.F., 2009. A novel strategy for the invasive toxin: hijacking exosome-mediated intercellular trafficking. Traffic 10, 411–424.
- Zhou, R., Czech, B., Brennecke, J., Sachidanandam, R., Wohlschlegel, J.A., Perrimon, N., Hannon, G.J., 2009. Processing of *Drosophila* endo-siRNAs depends on a specific Loquacious isoform. RNA 15, 1886–1895.